Climate change and migratory species: a review of impacts, conservation actions, indicators and ecosystem services

Part 1 – Impacts of climate change on migratory species







The Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals (CMS, also known as the Bonn Convention, after the city in which it was signed in 1979) is the global international agreement of the United Nations which addresses the conservation and sustainable use of migratory animals and their habitats. Over the past 40 years, CMS Parties have identified over six hundred species that merit protection under the Convention as they migrate across Range State boundaries and so require co-operative actions between Range States.

The key issue of climate change was first discussed at the fifth meeting of the CMS Conference of the Parties (CoP5) in 1997 and has been addressed at multiple subsequent CoPs.

In support of this work, the Government of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (through a contract to the British Trust for Ornithology (BTO) funded by the Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs via the Joint Nature Conservation Committee (JNCC)) commissioned a review of the latest evidence on the impacts of climate change on migratory species, with regard also to conservation actions, indicators and ecosystem services.

The results of this review are presented in three parts:

Part 1 – Impacts of climate change on migratory species

Part 2 - Conserving migratory species in the face of climate change

Part 3 – Migratory species and their role in ecosystems.

A Summary for Policy Makers is also available.

Access the full review at jncc.gov.uk/climate-migratory-species-report/

#### **Open Government Licence**

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned, should you wish to use this material. Please be advised that images are excluded under the Open Government Licence.

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to communications@jncc.gov.uk

#### **Evidence Quality Assurance**

This report is compliant with JNCC's Evidence Quality Assurance Policy https://jncc.gov.uk/about-jncc/corporate-information/evidence-quality-assurance/

#### This report should be cited as:

Martay, B., Macphie, K.H., Bowgen, K.M., Pearce-Higgins, J.W., Robinson, R.A., Scott, S.E. & Williams, J.M. 2023. Climate change and migratory species: a review of impacts, conservation actions, indicators and ecosystem services. Part 1 – Impacts of climate change on migratory species. JNCC, Peterborough, ISBN 978-0-86139-001-4.

## Climate change and migratory species: a review of impacts, conservation actions, indicators and ecosystem services

# Part 1 – Impacts of climate change on migratory species

#### Authors:

B. Martay\* (BTO Scotland, Beta Centre (Unit 15), Stirling, FK9 4NF)

K. H. Macphie\* (BTO Scotland, Beta Centre (Unit 15), Stirling, FK9 4NF)

K. M. Bowgen (BTO, The Nunnery, Thetford, Norfolk, IP24 2PU and BTO Cymru, Thoday Building, Bangor, LL57 2UW)

- J. W. Pearce-Higgins (BTO, The Nunnery, Thetford, Norfolk, IP24 2PU)
- R. A. Robinson (BTO, The Nunnery, Thetford, Norfolk, IP24 2PU)
- S. E. Scott (JNCC, Quay House, 2 East Station Road, Fletton Quays, Peterborough, PE2 8YY)
- J. M. Williams (JNCC, Quay House, 2 East Station Road, Fletton Quays, Peterborough, PE2 8YY)

\* Contributed equally to the report as joint first authors

## Summary

#### Background

Over the last several decades, anthropogenic emissions (primarily of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>)) have rapidly increased global temperatures and altered climate patterns. Widespread and rapid changes in the atmosphere, ocean, cryosphere and biosphere have occurred, affecting both average conditions and annual variability, in particular the frequency of extreme events. Climate change has already caused substantial damage and increasingly irreversible losses to most species groups in terrestrial, freshwater and marine ecosystems.

Migratory species are vulnerable to a wide range of threats, both climate-related and non-climaterelated, as they move between countries and ecosystems on a seasonal basis. This potentially exposes them to the impacts of climate change at multiple locations along their migration route, with possible interactions and divergence in the timing of cues at these locations.

The aim of Part 1 of this review was to critically evaluate the current evidence on the impacts of climate change on migratory species, with regard to the size of those impacts at a population level and the strength of evidence for each. We also use the evidence base to assess migratory species responses and potential adaptations to a changing climate, in order to help identify where international conservation actions are most needed.

To achieve this, we carried out a review of the literature on the impacts of climate change on each class of species within the Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals (CMS) Appendix I and Appendix II from 2005 to present, to identify new research that has been undertaken since the previous reviews of climate change impacts on migratory species (Robinson *et al.* 2005; McNamara *et al.* 2010).

The results of this review build on the findings of these previous reviews, highlighting a range of climate change impacts on migratory species, associated adaptations and responses to climate change, and key research gaps. This review finds that the impacts of climate change are becoming increasingly apparent across a range of scales, from species genetics to entire ecosystems. There is now particularly strong evidence of the impacts of climate change on migratory species in aquatic environments, and migratory marine predators across a range of taxa are particularly vulnerable to the negative impacts of warming. Current evidence suggests the effects of warming will be greatest at mid- and high latitudes, whilst changes in precipitation will have the greatest impact at low latitudes. Increases in the severity of extreme events, particularly storms, are having large, but localised, negative consequences on some migratory species groups.

Overall, there is widespread evidence of changes in the distribution and phenology of migratory species. In particular, poleward range shifts and earlier migration and breeding are already occurring in temperature-driven medium and high latitudes, and more mixed directional shifts are apparent in the tropics, depending on changes in rainfall.

The results of this review suggest that evidence on the impacts of climate change is lacking for several species groups, particularly bats, fish, South American grassland birds, and sharks and rays, as well as regionally for species residing in the tropics and Global South.

#### **Seabirds**

Seabirds are a taxonomically diverse group of species that are linked by their use, to a greater or lesser extent, of marine habitats. Most are long-lived, breed colonially and spend long periods away from land. Increases in sea surface temperature generally induce reductions in food availability which are having widespread negative effects on survival, breeding success and population abundance. Linked to this, reductions in sea ice extent are reducing the area of suitable habitat for polar-dwelling species, and these may be replaced by more temperate species. The breeding habitat of those utilising low-lying coastal areas is threatened by both sea level rise and a predicted increase in the frequency and severity of storms. There are already observed changes in species distribution, the timing of breeding (creating the potential for temporal mismatches between peak food requirement and prey availability) and, possibly, migration routes. Furthermore, extreme events (such as intense storms) are having large impacts on individual colonies, which may be particularly problematic for those with restricted distributions.

#### **Waterbirds**

Waterbirds fall into three main groups: waterfowl (ducks, geese and swans), wading birds (herons and allies) and shorebirds, all of which rely on freshwater and/or coastal wetlands at some point in their life-cycle. The effects of increased temperatures, at least for temperate species, have been broadly positive, although summer drought and the drying of wetland habitats, especially at lower latitudes, will reduce the area of suitable habitat available and prey availability, with consequent negative population effects. Coastal habitats, on which many of these species rely, are particularly vulnerable to sea level rise, both through a reduction in area (especially where 'hard' sea defences, such as sea walls, are employed) and a predicted increase in the frequency and severity of storms. We are already seeing large-scale distributional shifts (in both breeding and non-breeding distributions) in many temperate species which are projected to continue into the future, although the mechanisms by which this happens appear to vary between groups, affecting the speed at which species can adapt.

#### **Raptors**

Historically, raptors have been persecuted in many parts of the world, and many populations have suffered from the effects of toxic chemicals (pesticides, antibiotics) that have entered the environment, although some populations are now recovering. Major habitat change has also reduced many populations, for example in steppe habitats of Central Asia. These long-term threats may mask species' responses to climate change. Evidence (based largely on changes in productivity and survival in response to annual variation in conditions) suggests that raptors are affected to a greater extent by changes in precipitation than temperature. Such impacts can be either negative, by limiting foraging potential, or positive, by enhancing prey abundance through a cascade in the food chain.

#### **Afro-Palearctic passerines**

Numerically, passerine birds that migrate between Eurasia and Africa in their billions each year are one of the biggest groups to be affected by changing climates. Such impacts are well documented, in terms of both changes in range and migration routes/timing, particularly in response to widespread increases in temperature. The population consequences of these impacts, though, are less well characterised, being confounded by simultaneous widespread changes in habitat area and suitability. The potential impacts of mismatches between the timing of breeding and peak prey abundance are perhaps less severe than first thought, but depend on the capacity of species to adapt their migration schedules, which varies. Populations of many species fluctuate with respect to rainfall on the non-breeding grounds which affects overwinter survival and hence annual population change. Changes to the timing and quantity of rainfall along these species' migratory routes could have large population-level impacts but research into this is limited.

#### South American grassland birds

The effects of climate change on South American migratory grassland birds have not yet received much focus in the literature, though it is recognised as an important subject to address moving forwards. It is likely that changes in precipitation patterns will impact food availability and habitat structure, and that species will become vulnerable to heat stress, particularly during extreme events. As grasslands are often used as agricultural and grazing habitats, which independently puts pressure on the habitat available for the bird population, the responses of farming to climate change will further influence how birds and agriculture interact in these regions.

#### **Terrestrial mammals**

Terrestrial mammals covers a diverse group of species, including primates, bears, elephants, carnivores and ungulates. Migration is generally seasonally-driven by food availability, often linked to rainfall patterns. Declines in rainfall across some areas, for example over much of the Sahel region and northern Africa, will lower primary productivity. This reduces food availability for herbivores, thus also reducing the food available for carnivores, indicating the interlinked nature of climate-induced changes. Population trends vary between species and regions, but declines are most common, and for many species habitat loss due to human activities is the biggest threat, which may be compounded by human responses to climate warming.

There is evidence that migratory terrestrial mammals have some capacity to adapt to current and future climate change through behavioural changes, changes in migratory patterns and polewards range changes. However, such adaptation may be short term and adaptability will be limited where movement is prevented by human infrastructure, such as fences and roads, and suitable habitat in more favourable climates is not available. Interventions to create and maintain protected habitats and corridors will be vital for the survival of many migratory terrestrial mammals.

#### **Bats**

Research on how bats are being affected by climate change is limited compared to other taxa and generally insufficient to comprehensively determine the impacts. Research that has examined the consequences of climate change for migratory bats has highlighted a range of impacts, resulting particularly from changes in temperature, precipitation and extreme weather events, all of which can alter population size. Extreme weather events, particularly heat waves in the tropics, negatively impact survival and breeding success, with multiple mass die-off events being reported, particularly in flying foxes.

In response to the changing climate, range expansions/shifts have been observed in some species and are projected through predictive modelling for many more, with some evidence of phenological shifts which respond more to wind and precipitation than temperature.

#### **Marine mammals**

The impact of climate change on marine mammals is particularly complex as there are likely to be long-term fundamental changes to ocean currents and circulation. There has been much work on marine ecosystems in recent years, but their capacity to adapt is poorly understood, making future population-level impacts very difficult to predict. The most important impact of climate change for most marine mammal species is likely to be on food availability, which in most cases will reduce. Temperature increases, loss of sea ice, increasing ocean acidification and increases in oceanic weather systems events such as the El Niño/La Niña climate system are generally predicted to reduce food availability, particularly krill abundance. Other climate change impacts include the increased risk of disease and toxic algal blooms, responsible for an increase in mass mortality events, an increase in the frequency of coastal storms, and sea level rise.

Changes in food availability will lead to changes in the range, phenology and abundance of marine mammals. Arctic species such as the Polar Bear, Narwhal and Beluga Whales may be particularly vulnerable as their habitat is lost and they face increasing competition from other species moving polewards. Most studies predict declines in baleen whales, although this is not consistently predicted. In particular, marine mammal declines are predicted in mid- and low latitudes, though there may be increases in some areas. Other particularly vulnerable species include freshwater and coastal species.

#### **Reptiles**

Marine turtles and Saltwater Crocodiles are particularly threatened by the loss of nesting habitat due to sea level rise and increasing storm frequency and intensity. Coastal development on alternative beaches, particularly at the poleward edges of their shifting ranges, is a key threat to their ability to adapt to sea level rises and temperature increases. The human response to storm surges and sea level rise will also determine whether beach profiles shift inland naturally, likely maintaining suitable nesting habitat, or are lost. Temperature increases have had a significant impact on turtle and crocodile sex ratios, although currently this is likely to be beneficial to population trends.

#### **Bony fish**

Most migratory fish species have undergone extreme population declines over the past 50 years. The main drivers of these declines are habitat loss, disruption of migration through damming, and overfishing, but climate change is increasingly becoming a major threat. The impacts of climate change on migratory fish are complex and under-researched but are likely to be detrimental to most species. Increasing temperatures, reduced river flow and, in some areas, reduced rainfall will lead to spawning habitat loss and may also impact survival rates and lead to extinctions. Poleward range shifts may be possible for some species, but many are strongly tied to natal spawning grounds, which will reduce their ability to shift ranges. Human interventions such as translocation, artificial stocking, habitat restoration and the removal of dams, or installation of bypasses may be necessary for many species to survive increasingly warm temperatures.

#### **Sharks and rays**

Since 1970, the global abundance of oceanic sharks and rays has declined by 71%, largely due to overfishing, bycatch and coastal habitat loss, mainly from fishing activities such as trawling. The impacts of climate change on sharks and rays are complex, due to various physiological, behavioural and ecological changes. For most species, research on the impacts of climate change due to low reproduction rates. Species that are dependent on coastal and inshore nursery habitats or coral reef habitats are likely to be at the highest risk from climate change. Increases in sea surface temperatures are changing food availability, and also metabolic rates. Increased ocean acidification reduces the growth of zooplankton, on which some species feed, and reduces olfactory function in sharks and rays, reducing their ability to hunt. Poleward range shifts are already moderately well documented and changes in migration phenology are predicted, although there is little research to examine this. Increases in temperature and sea level are likely to reduce the amount of suitable habitat available, while an increased frequency and severity of storms particularly affects species with inshore nurseries.

#### Insects

There are many migratory species of insects, but only one species is listed on the CMS Appendices, the Monarch Butterfly. It occurs in North and Central America and has been a major focus of research, with increases in temperature and the frequency of extreme events having an impact on local population sizes. However, with a multi-generational migratory cycle, long-term impacts of climate change are hard to discern.

## Contents

Summary			4
1	Introduction		
	1.1	Impacts of climate change on biodiversity	14
	1.2	Conservation of migratory species and climate change	15
2	Methods		17
	2.1	Search methodology	17
	2.2	Confidence levels	18
3	Aves: Seabirds		19
	3.1	Overview of migration patterns and distributions	19
	3.2	Climate change impacts	19
	3.3	Adaptations and responses	22
4	Aves: Waterbirds		24
	4.1	Overview of migration patterns and distributions	24
	4.2	Climate change impacts	24
	4.3	Adaptations and responses	27
5	Aves: Raptors		29
	5.1	Overview of migration patterns and distributions	29
	5.2	Climate change impacts	29
	5.3	Adaptations and responses	30

6	Aves	: Afro-Palearctic migratory passerines	32
	6.1	Overview of migration patterns and distributions	32
	6.2	Climate change impacts	32
	6.3	Adaptations and responses	34
7	Aves: South American grassland birds		35
	7.1	Overview of migration patterns and distributions	35
	7.2	Climate change impacts	35
	7.3	Adaptations and responses	36
8	Mammalia: Terrestrial mammals		37
	8.1	Overview of migration patterns and distributions	37
	8.2	Climate change impacts	37
	8.3	Adaptations and responses	40
9	Mammalia: Bats		41
	9.1	Overview of migration patterns and distributions	41
	9.2	Climate change impacts	41
	9.3	Adaptations and responses	43
10	Mammalia: Marine mammals		45
	10.1	Overview of migration patterns and distributions	45
	10.2	Climate change impacts	46
	10.3		49

11	Reptiles		51
	11.1	Overview of migration patterns and distributions	51
	11.2	Climate change impacts	51
	11.3	Adaptations and responses	52
12	Actinopterygii (Bony fish)		53
	12.1	Overview of migration patterns and distributions	53
	12.2	Climate change impacts	54
	12.3	Adaptations and responses	56
13	Chondrichthyes (Sharks and rays)		58
	13.1	Overview of migration patterns and distributions	58
	13.2	Climate change impacts	59
	13.3	Adaptations and responses	61
14	Insects		62
	14.1	Overview of migration patterns and distributions	62
	14.2	Climate change impacts	62
	14.3	Adaptations and responses	63

15	Conclusions and recommendations	64
	15.1 Key messages from the evidence base	64
	15.2 Increased temperatures	66
	15.3 Changes in water availability	67
	15.4 Extreme weather events	68
	15.5 Sea level rise	69
	15.6 Reductions in sea ice extent	69
	15.7 Changes in oceanic currents	70
	15.8 Changes in water chemistry	70
	15.9 Distribution and range shifts	70
	15.10 Phenology	72
16	Case study: Red Knot	73
17	Case study: African savanna	74
18	Case study: Polar Bear	76
19	Case study: Loggerhead Turtle	77
20	Case study: Mediterranean wetlands	78
21	Case study: Storms and cyclones	80
22	References	82
	22.1 Main document	82
	22.2 Case studies	107
23	Supplementary material: Species list	113

## 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Impacts of climate change on biodiversity

Biodiversity is declining globally at unprecedented rates, and climate change is one of the major drivers of this due to a wide range of changes in the physical environment (IPBES 2019). There are well-documented increases in global temperatures, but also increases in the frequency of extreme weather events, global sea levels and ocean acidification, and decreases in snow/ice cover. While there is global action to limit greenhouse gas emissions that drive these changes, they are projected to increase for at least the remainder of the century, even if emissions are reduced (IPCC 2022). There is already compelling evidence that animals and plants have been affected by climate change over the last few decades, with impacts on their genetic evolution, physiology, morphology, behaviour, phenology, abundance and distribution, cascading to alter communities and ecosystems (Scheffers *et al.* 2016). Many of the impacts on species interactions (Ockendon *et al.* 2014). The impacts of climate change vary globally, with impacts mediated through changes in precipitation more important in the tropics than at higher latitudes, where temperature is the main driver of change (Pearce-Higgins *et al.* 2015b).

Animal migration is broadly defined as the persistent, directional movement of an individual or group of individuals from one destination to another; it is important to note that this is rarely 'point-to-point', but is often followed by substantial post-migratory movement, which may itself be climate-driven through variations in resource availability (Teitelbaum *et al.* 2023). The CMS regards a species (or population) as migratory where a significant proportion of its members cyclically and predictably cross one or more national jurisdictional boundary(ies), which includes species where individuals make shorter, but regular, movements within their overall range.

Each year, billions of individual animals undertake seasonal movements that, in aggregate, span the globe (Bauer & Hoye 2014). Migratory species are subject to a wide range of environmental influences due to the large distances they travel, and they rely on a wide range of natural resources along their migration routes, making them particularly likely to be affected by climate change at some point in their life-cycles (Learmonth *et al.* 2006; Robinson *et al.* 2009; Winkler *et al.* 2014). Migrants require not only suitable habitats at each end of their migration route but also suitable conditions and habitats en route. Wind speed and direction, or ocean currents, may be important for the successful completion of a migratory journey, and the presence of high-quality stopover sites for resting or foraging is also of key importance. Throughout their migrations, animals must gather information, integrate environmental and internal state data, and make decisions about the timing and orientation of migratory movements, which can be increasingly difficult in rapidly changing environments. This raises the possibility of major mismatches between behaviour and environmental conditions, especially when cues in one area may be increasingly

decoupled from changes in other areas. The complexities of uncertain migratory connectivity, and the difficulty in undertaking assessments of population processes throughout the full life-cycle of migratory species, make understanding the impacts of climate change and assessing climate change vulnerability in migratory species particularly challenging (Small-Lorenz *et al.* 2013).

Previously identified threats from climate change include loss of habitat, from both increased temperatures melting sea ice and permafrost, and lower rainfall reducing wetland areas; increased frequency of extreme weather events, both localised (storms) and regional (e.g. through the El Niño Southern Oscillation); sea level rise; increased acidification of oceans; and changes in ocean circulation patterns. More pervasive, and harder to predict, are wide-scale changes in ecosystem functioning, particularly changes in the spatial and temporal distribution of prey, but also the composition of biological communities. Direct effects include changing hatchling sex ratios in those species with temperature-based sex determination (e.g. turtles) and phenological shifts in the timing of life-cycle events (including migration itself). Existing anthropogenic threats, such as human take (deliberate or bycatch), the existence of physical barriers (sea walls, river dams or fences) and habitat loss, will exacerbate the challenges faced by migratory species under changing climate regimes. Some of these will exacerbate climate change impacts, for example increased water abstraction in areas with reduced rainfall, or expanding renewable energy developments in important habitats. These will further reduce species' resilience to cope with, and ability to adapt to, climate change (Robinson *et al.* 2005; McNamara *et al.* 2010).

The impacts of climate change on migratory species may usefully be classified into two general categories. Firstly, climate change may affect the species' biology directly, through changes to the abiotic environment. This may affect either the species' physiology (e.g. increased heat stress or changes in wind patterns affecting migratory journeys), or its habitat (e.g. drying out of aquatic habitats or rising sea levels encroaching on coastal habitats). Secondly, overlain on these, are less direct biotic impacts resulting from altered species interactions, such as changes in the spatial or temporal distribution of prey or competitors. The impact of many of these indirect effects is difficult to predict. There is a further dimension to the indirect effects, which derives from how society responds to climate change. Such adaptations are likely to be multifaceted, encompassing a wide range of objectives, from mitigating emissions to maintaining food security, which, in turn, may have major impacts on biodiversity (Morecroft *et al.* 2019). Such complexities mean converting scientific knowledge into policy and conservation action has thus far been slow, even where such knowledge is relatively good (Trathan *et al.* 2020).

#### **1.2 Conservation of migratory species and climate change**

In a global context, the conservation of migratory species is led by the Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals (1979) (CMS, also known as the Bonn Convention), which provides a global platform for the conservation and sustainable use of migratory animals and their habitats. Over the past 40 years, CMS Parties have identified several hundred species that merit protection under the Convention as they migrate across Range State boundaries, including many birds, land mammals and bats, as well as a range of marine vertebrates, and one invertebrate. The Convention has two appendices: Appendix I lists migratory species that have been assessed as being in danger of extinction throughout all or a significant portion of their range, whilst Appendix II lists migratory species that have an

unfavourable conservation status and that require international agreements for their conservation and management. Species that have a conservation status which would significantly benefit from an international agreement can also be included in Appendix II. The Convention works alongside a number of daughter instruments targeted at particular groups (e.g. the Agreement on the Conservation of African-Eurasian Migratory Waterbirds or the Memorandum of Understanding concerning Conservation Measures for Marine Turtles of the Atlantic Coast of Africa) and species (e.g. the Memorandum of Understanding concerning Conservation, Restoration and Sustainable Use of the Saiga Antelope). Depending on the way they were negotiated and are formulated, Agreements and Memoranda of Understanding may be legally or non-legally binding.

The topic of climate change was introduced to the CMS in 1997 (Conference of the Parties (CoP) Recommendation 5.5) and has been the topic of subsequent CoPs, most recently as Resolution 12.21. This calls on Range States to address the effects of climate change, despite the remaining uncertainty surrounding the full scale of its impacts on migratory species, and to assess what steps are necessary to help migratory species cope with climate change. There is a need, then, to critically review the evidence of the impact of climate change on migratory species, with regard to the size of those impacts at a population level, as well as to the strength of evidence, in order that (1) international conservation actions may be prioritised and (2) knowledge gaps identified.

In Part 1 of this review, we aim to review the evidence of the impact of climate change on migratory species, focusing primarily on those species listed in Appendices I and II of the CMS, but drawing on studies of non-listed and non-migratory species where relevant. We also assess the evidence for adaptations and responses to changing climatic conditions, and use the strength and degree of agreement in the evidence base to assign confidence levels to our findings.

## 2 Methods

#### 2.1 Search methodology

To identify relevant references on the impacts of climate change on migratory species, we undertook a rapid review of the primary literature as set out below, as well as using existing reviews. We carried out a review of the literature on the impacts of climate change on each class of species (birds, mammals, reptiles, bony fish, sharks and rays, and insects) within Appendices I and II of the CMS from 2005 to present, to identify new research since the review of climate change impacts on migratory species by Robinson *et al.* (2005). We divided large classes (e.g. Aves) into smaller subgroups, generally based on their taxonomy at ordinal level, but aggregating smaller groups where they had similar ecological characteristics and so were likely to respond similarly to climate changes. For each group, we carried out a search in Web of Science and, in view of timescales, reviewed at least the first 50 papers for each search listed below, unless there were fewer than 50 available. We then carried out the same search in Google Scholar for larger groups, identifying any relevant papers that did not appear in the Web of Science search (based on the title alone) to identify any additional key papers examining climate change impacts on the group.

The standard search we carried out was:

(Population\* OR Demograph\* OR Reproduct\* OR Decline\* OR Abundance OR Breeding OR Survival OR Mortality OR Fecundity OR Density) AND (Climate\* OR Global warming OR Sea level rise OR Global environmental change) AND (migrat\*) AND [group name(s)]

The group names we included were as follows:

**Aves:** (duck OR goose OR swan), (albatross OR petrel OR shearwater OR procellariiformes), (accipiter OR eagle OR aviceda OR buzzard OR falco OR kite OR circus OR osprey), (owl), ("microcarbo pygmaeus" OR "phalacrocorax nigrogularis" OR "fregata andrewsi"), (diver OR loon), (flamingo) AND (lesser OR greater), ("podiceps auritus" OR "podiceps grisegena"), (gull OR tern), (egret OR heron OR bittern OR ibis OR pelican), (sporophila OR seedeater OR tyrant OR bobolink), (warbler), ("Afro-palearctic migrant"), (muscicapidae OR sylviidae OR turdidae OR motacillidae), (bustard), ("spheniscus demersus" OR "spheniscus humboldti"), (corncrake OR crake OR crane OR flufftail), (stork), (vulture OR condor), (wader OR shorebird), (wader OR shorebird OR Charadriidae OR Scolopacidae OR Laridae OR Haematopodidae OR Burhinidae OR Ibidorhynchidae OR Recurvirostridae OR Pluvianellidae OR Dromadidae OR Glareolidae OR Laridae OR Alcidae).

**Mammalia:** Terrestrial mammals: (ungulate OR gazelle OR antelope), (gorilla OR chimpanzee), ("Ursus arctos isabellinus"), (Elephant) NOT (Seal), ("Lycaon pictus" OR "Acinonyx jubatus" OR "Panthera onca" OR "Panthera pardus" OR "Panthera leo" OR "Uncia uncia"); Bats: (bats); Marine mammals: (marine) AND (mammal OR cetacea\* OR carnivor\* OR seal OR lion OR manatee OR dugong), (Lontra), ("Ursus maritimus").

**Reptilia:** (marine) AND (turtle); "Crocodylus porosus"; "Gavialis gangeticus"; "Podocnemis expansa".

Actinopterygii: (sturgeon OR actinopterygii OR shovelnose).

Chondrichthyes: (shark OR ray OR chondrichthyes OR sawfish).

Insecta: ("Danaus plexippus").

We also drew on more recent reviews including Robinson *et al.* (2009, and associated papers), Pearce-Higgins and Green (2014), Ockendon *et al.* (2014) and Pearce-Higgins *et al.* (2015b) to identify additional references, and more general patterns and responses of migratory species to climate change.

Accounts for each group follow a standard format. First, we provide a brief overview of the migratory patterns and conservation status, before going on to discuss reported climate change impacts and then documented adaptations and responses to changing climatic conditions. Each subsection deals with a specific aspect and begins with a summary statement (*in italics*) of the key patterns and an indication of our level of confidence in this (**in bold**). We then provide details from the primary literature and reviews identified that support these statements. In general, we chose to present the topics for which there is better evidence first within each group.

#### 2.2 Confidence levels

We used a combination of the amount of published evidence and the degree of agreement in that evidence, along with our experience in these areas, to provide a three-level assessment of confidence associated with individual statements. This was notwithstanding the recognition that reviews of the scientific literature can only assess topics that have been published, and therefore any rapid search (such as we were able to undertake) will necessarily be incomplete, missing studies that have yet to make it into the mainstream literature.

Statements supported by many peer-reviewed papers (c. five or more) with a high degree of consistency were regarded as being associated with **high confidence**. Statements supported by a small number of papers, or with more than one or two contradictory studies, were given a **medium confidence**. Statements supported by only one or two studies, with high uncertainty expressed in the studies, or with a very mixed evidence base, were regarded with a **low confidence**.

## 3 Aves: Seabirds

#### 3.1 Overview of migration patterns and distributions

Seabirds are defined by their extensive use of marine habitats and cover a range of taxonomic groups, including the Procellariiformes (albatrosses, petrels and shearwaters), Sphenisciformes (penguins) and some members of the Charadriiformes (gulls and auks). Most seabird species are long-lived, maturing late and exhibiting low fecundity (the largest lay a single egg and may not breed every year). As a result, their breeding populations are most sensitive to changes in survival (Sæther & Bakke 2000). All are migratory to some extent. They typically breed colonially in (often remote) coastal locations or islands before migrating out to sea for the non-breeding months. Despite advances in tracking technology, which has provided some insight into their movements in the last couple of decades, there is still much we do not know about their movements and migration, especially before they reach breeding age (Strøm *et al.* 2021).

Albatrosses (all species) and petrels (14 species) form the core of the seabird species listed by the CMS and are the subject of a specific multilateral Agreement (Agreement on the Conservation of Albatrosses and Petrels, or ACAP) (Cooper *et al.* 2006). Three key threats that seabirds are facing are the presence of invasive species, especially those that predate nests, in breeding colonies; bycatch from fisheries; and climate change (Lascelles *et al.* 2014; Dias *et al.* 2019). As a result of long-term studies, there are good demographic models of some Antarctic seabird populations, enabling some confidence in projected climate change impacts (e.g. Barbraud *et al.* 2011; Trathan *et al.* 2020).

#### 3.2 Climate change impacts

#### 3.2.1 Sea surface temperature

Many seabird species show generally negative associations with sea surface temperature with well-demonstrated effects on survival, breeding success and population abundance (high confidence).

Temperate shallow, coastal seas are characterised by a spring flush of diatoms that drives a cascade of increasing zooplankton and small fish biomass. In such systems, seabird productivity is often negatively associated with sea surface temperature, due to the negative impacts of warming on food availability. Climate change is acting to 'speed up' such ecological processes and change their timing (Johnston *et al.* 2022). For example, warmer temperatures can lead to changes in the timing and abundance of plankton blooms, reducing food availability for small fish (Scott *et al.* 2006; Burthe *et al.* 2012). Cold-water copepods are replaced with warm-water species that emerge later in the year, reducing the flush of plankton for fish (Beaugrand *et al.* 2002, 2003).

The net result is a reduction in the size and abundance of juvenile fish, such as sandeels, around seabird colonies, and the abundance and size of 1-class fish (those of a size that indicates they hatched in the previous year) that are also important for many seabird species. This has been well demonstrated around the North Sea (e.g. Wanless *et al.* 2004; Frederiksen *et al.* 2004, 2006), Baltic Sea (Österblom *et al.* 2006) and the east Pacific (Gjerdrum *et al.* 2003; Hedd *et al.* 2006).

Away from shallow coastal seas, different processes may operate. Although seabird populations in more open waters may be less sensitive to temperature-mediated trophic cascades (Johnston *et al.* 2022), variations in temperature and the strength of different oceanic currents may still have strong impacts on the abundance of fish prey close to breeding colonies, and therefore on their breeding success (Davoren & Montevecchi 2003; Diamond & Devlin 2003; Durant *et al.* 2003, 2005).

In response to these pressures, adults can show considerable flexibility in their foraging behaviour to try and minimise impacts on their populations. For example, Southern Rockhopper Penguins (Pütz *et al.* 2018) and Little Auks (Jakubas *et al.* 2020) increased the distance and time of their foraging trips in years when increased temperature drove declines in food resources.

In Little Penguins, the land-based climate during the moult period has the greatest effect on adult survival (Ganendran *et al.* 2016), while higher sea surface temperatures decrease breeding success (Johnson & Colombelli-Négrel 2021). Additionally, reductions in prey abundance and foraging range during periods of prolonged drought in El Niño years have caused reduced breeding success (Preston *et al.* 2010; Kowalczyk *et al.* 2015).

Extreme temperatures can reduce breeding success by causing nest desertion, as seen in Adélie and African Penguins (Chapman *et al.* 2011; Traisnel & Pichegru 2018).

Increasing sea surface temperature negatively affects survival in Bulwer's Petrel, which is predicted to decrease under all projected climate change scenarios (Cruz-Flores *et al.* 2022). This study also found stronger impacts on populations in tropical regions compared to those in subtropical or temperate regions.

#### 3.2.2 Sea ice extent

## Reductions in sea ice extent reduce the area of high-quality foraging habitats for seabirds (high confidence).

Species that rely on prey whose distribution is tied to sea ice show reduced breeding success in warmer years. For example, the productivity of southern populations of Brünnich's Guillemots is reduced through the impact of warming on Arctic Cod abundance (Gaston *et al.* 2005). Cold years also favour planktivorous Crested and Parakeet Auklets (Kitaysky & Golubova 2000).

In the Southern Ocean, the extent of sea ice is positively related to the productivity and survival of many seabird species as krill are closely tied to sea ice extent, including in Adélie and Emperor Penguins (Jenouvrier *et al.* 2005, 2006; Ducklow *et al.* 2007), Southern Fulmars (Jenouvrier *et al.* 2003) and Snow Petrels (Barbraud & Weimerskirch 2001), with large-scale breeding failures recorded (Fretwell *et al.* 2023). The productivity of the Light-mantled Sooty Albatross (Inchausti *et al.* 2003) and Snow Petrels (Barbraud & Weimerskirch 2001) which feed in the Antarctic is negatively correlated with warming. Lower sea ice concentrations during summer in Antarctica increased the foraging efficiency of Adélie Penguins, though extreme events can disrupt the response (Lescroël *et al.* 2014).

Increases in mortality in Emperor Penguins were observed in relation to reductions in sea ice extent; this effect was more pronounced in males than females reflecting differences between the sexes in foraging areas. Increases in breeding success associated with shorter distances between the breeding colony and open water in warmer years did not offset the negative impact of warming on survival, so overall the population has declined (Barbraud & Weimerskirch 2001) and is likely to continue to do so (Trathan *et al.* 2020).

#### 3.2.3 Timing of spring peaks in prey abundance

Seabirds may be vulnerable to mismatch with the timing of spring peaks in prey abundance, as a result of the timing of those peaks being strongly temperature-dependent. Temperature-related reductions in prey abundance can also limit the ability of seabirds to shift their timing of breeding (medium confidence).

On average, the timing of breeding of seabird species around the world has not shifted in response to warming or through time, potentially making them vulnerable to changes in the timing of oceanographic processes (Keogan *et al.* 2018). Where the cues which influence the timing of breeding and the timing of peak resource availability differ, then mismatch can occur. This can happen when the flow of coastal currents influences the timing and availability of small fish, but the timing of bird breeding is related to temperature, or when temperature-related reductions in prey populations delay the timing of seabird breeding despite advances in the timing of peak prey availability (Pearce-Higgins & Green 2014). These impacts can be compounded by negative impacts of climate change on prey abundance, but there is a general lack of studies investigating the impacts that climate-mediated trophic asynchrony may pose to populations worldwide (Samplonius *et al.* 2021).

#### 3.2.4 Changes in oceanic currents

Large-scale changes in oceanic currents can greatly alter food availability, especially for centralplace foragers like seabirds that have to return to a specific location, the breeding colony **(high confidence)**.

There are marked effects on seabird populations concerning variation in the strength and direction of the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO). El Niño years (negative values of the Southern Oscillation Index) are associated with warmer temperatures and reduced productivity in tropical seabird species, due to reductions in the extent of cold water upwellings, reducing nutrient circulation, plankton production and fish productivity. This has been shown to impact Galápagos Penguin (Boersma 1998) and Blue-footed Booby (Oro *et al.* 2010; Ancona *et al.* 2012) in the Pacific, and Roseate Tern productivity in the Indian Ocean (Ramos *et al.* 2006; Monticelli *et al.* 2007).

Elsewhere, high sea surface temperature (associated with reduced food availability) during breeding and positive episodes of the Southern Oscillation (La Niña) during the non-breeding season have a negative impact on survival in Cory's Shearwater. These population-level effects of climate were greater than that of longline fisheries (Ramos *et al.* 2012).

The intensity of winds in the Southern Ocean are increasing and thus altering the depth of layers within the ocean; this can impact prey availability and foraging behaviour/efficiency as seen in Little Penguins (Ropert-Coudert *et al.* 2009; Saraux *et al.* 2016).

#### 3.2.5 Frequency of stormy weather

Increased frequency of stormy weather can impact the survival and breeding success of some species, depending on the timing, with potential consequences for population size (high confidence).

Phalacrocoracidae species, such as Shag, have poor weather-proofing and hence can suffer high mortality following stormy or wet conditions (Harris *et al.* 1994; Frederiksen *et al.* 2008).

Arctic-breeding species are vulnerable to extreme weather events, and it is speculated that climate change may increase the frequency of these, as well as expand the range of stressors that might induce mass mortality in breeding seabirds (Mallory *et al.* 2009).

When storms occur during the breeding season, they can result in the loss of low-lying coastal nests in species such as gulls and terns (e.g. Weston & Fraser 2020), or of low-lying exposed cliff nests in others (Newell *et al.* 2015). Similarly, outside of the breeding season, severe storms can cause mass mortality events, known as 'wrecks' (Camphuysen *et al.* 1999).

Increased intensity of the ENSO has enhanced local storm activity, increasing mortality in Manx Shearwaters. Mortality in Atlantic Yellow-nosed Albatrosses and Magellanic Penguins also increased with storm activity, regardless of the ENSO (Tavares *et al.* 2020). Climate change may also increase the turbidity of the water, which can reduce foraging efficiency in seabirds e.g. Manx Shearwater (Darby *et al.* 2022).

#### 3.2.6 Rising sea levels

## Many seabirds are cliff-nesters, but for those nesting in low-lying areas, such as albatrosses, penguins and terns, rising sea levels threaten to inundate nest sites **(low confidence)**.

Many seabirds are cliff-nesters, but there are a range of species such as albatrosses and penguins that nest in low-lying areas. Rising sea levels threaten to inundate nest sites of these species, especially where there are natural or anthropogenic barriers to movement inland (Trathan *et al.* 2015). For example, two migratory albatrosses (Laysan and Black-footed Albatross) nesting in the Hawaiian Islands are predicted to lose 60% of their nesting habitat with a 2 m sea level rise (Reynolds *et al.* 2015).

#### 3.3 Adaptations and responses

#### 3.3.1 Timing of migration and breeding

## The timing of migration or breeding can be sensitive to temperature and large-scale atmospheric systems, though responses vary within and between species (medium confidence).

Advances in arrival dates and breeding are documented in a range of species, for example Ringbilled Gull, Pacific Loon and Glaucous Gull, and correlate with temperature increases (Giroux *et al.* 2016; Solovyeva *et al.* 2022); however, this is not true for all species (Solovyeva *et al.* 2022).

In Common Terns, the changes in arrival timing relative to North Atlantic and Southern Oscillation indices differ between age-classes and have shown no long-term trends in recent decades (Szostek *et al.* 2015). The timing of arrival at a European stopover site differs for Great and Sooty Shearwaters, but for both species coincides with favourable flying conditions (Louzao *et al.* 2015).

Local conditions appear to be the main driver of breeding phenology for many seabird species (Keogan *et al.* 2022), particularly temperature, although negative impacts of warming on resource availability can also delay breeding (reviewed by Pearce-Higgins & Green 2014). Resident seabird species appear better able to adjust the timing of breeding in response to climatic variation than migratory, as seen among species breeding on the Houtman Abrolhos Islands in the eastern Indian Ocean (Surman *et al.* 2012).

#### 3.3.2 Distribution

## The response of seabird distribution ranges to climate change varies among species; shifts or expansions that have been observed are most often polewards (high confidence).

Modelling suggests that increases in sea surface temperature have driven the poleward range expansions in Balearic Shearwater likely associated with similar shifts in prey (Wynn *et al.* 2007), while there have been southward range expansions in Gentoo and Adélie Penguins, tracking the retraction of sea ice (Lynch *et al.* 2012; La Rue *et al.* 2013).

Not all species appear to be responding to changing climate conditions through a change in their distribution; for example, the migration habits of Herring Gulls that breed in Newfoundland seem to be well established and no northward shift has been observed (Robertson 2016).

In some species, distribution shifts have been attributed to changes in productivity; for example, warmer temperatures are increasing productivity in Brünnich's Guillemots at the poleward rangemargins due to reductions in sea ice, but causing reductions in the southern range-margins (Gaston *et al.* 2005). In other species, similar patterns are seen in survival, for example, survival in eastern Atlantic populations of Atlantic Puffin is positively related to temperature in the north of its range, but negatively in the south (Grosbois *et al.* 2009).

Seabirds are amongst the species that are most vulnerable to climate change in the UK, where many are towards their southern range margin. Temperature-related reductions in abundance are widely anticipated, and are symptomatic of anticipated poleward shifts of these species (Johnston *et al.* 2013; Pearce-Higgins 2021).

#### 3.3.3 Migration routes

## Some species may have adaptive responses to variations in climate that allow them to alter migratory routes or destinations (low confidence).

In Cory's Shearwater, whilst some individuals show high site fidelity, others are capable of shifting their winter locations between years which is expected to be advantageous under changing and fluctuating environmental conditions (Dias *et al.* 2011).

## 4 Aves: Waterbirds

#### 4.1 Overview of migration patterns and distributions

Waterbirds are one of the most studied groups when it comes to understanding the impacts of climate change. They are globally distributed and fall into three main taxonomic orders - Anseriformes (also known as waterfowl – ducks, geese and swans), Pelecaniformes (herons, ibises and pelicans, often referred to as 'wading birds') and Charadriiformes (gulls, terns and shorebirds/waders, hereafter termed shorebirds to avoid confusion with other wading birds) - along with a small number of representatives from other groups. Almost all species inhabit freshwater and/or coastal wetlands at some point in their life-cycle, either breeding or non-breeding, and utilise a wide range of migratory strategies. Indeed, many of the shorebird species are among the world's longest distance migrating species and as such have been considered 'sentinels' of global change (Piersma & Lindström 2004).

Most waterbirds, at least of those breeding in the northern hemisphere, migrate along one of eight 'flyways', defined by the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands as "composed of many overlapping migration systems of individual waterbird populations and species, each of which has different habitat preferences and migration strategies". Three of these flyways are in the Americas (along the Pacific coast, inland along the Mississippi catchment to Central and South America, and along the Atlantic coast), three connecting Eurasia with Africa (along the East Atlantic, western Asia to northern Africa, and Central Asia to southern Africa), and, further east, the Central Asian and East Asian-Australasian flyways (Davidson & Stroud 2016).

Temperate wetland and boreal, upland habitats are among those most altered by climate change and, as a result, waterbirds are among the species most threatened by climate change and for which climate change impacts (both negative and positive) have been well documented.

#### 4.2 Climate change impacts

#### 4.2.1 Increased temperatures

The effect of increased temperatures on breeding success and survival varies between species, but generally has a short-term neutral or positive effect, at least for species breeding at higher latitudes (high confidence), although extreme temperatures (both hot and cold) are detrimental (medium confidence).

Temperature and the timing of snowmelt did not affect breeding success for 12 out of 17 studied species of Arctic-breeding shorebirds (Weiser *et al.* 2018a); however, for those affected, earlier snowmelt/warmer temperatures generally increased clutch size. Taken together this suggests

that, in the short term, climate change will neutrally/positively affect breeding in Arctic-breeding shorebirds. Adult survival of six shorebirds was not explained by the timing of snowmelt or temperature at the breeding grounds, suggesting these species seem robust to conditions at the Arctic sites and conditions at stopover and wintering sites are more likely driving changes in survival (Weiser *et al.* 2018b).

Duck species' breeding success was found to be higher in warmer and drier springs in the American prairies (Drever *et al.* 2004; Drever & Clark 2007).

Svalbard Barnacle Geese have shown increased egg production and hatching success with advancing snowmelt and increasing summer temperatures, although these conditions have also correlated with an increase in the abundance of Arctic Foxes and a consequent overall decrease in fledging success (Layton-Matthews *et al.* 2020). Increased temperatures in their UK wintering grounds are also associated with an increase in annual survival rates.

During the breeding season, temperature positively affected breeding success in Slavonian Grebes from estimates made across Scotland (Ewing *et al.* 2013), although this was not the case within a single population that was the focus of another study (Brooks *et al.* 2012), and climate change does not seem to be directly driving the declining population trends (Ewing *et al.* 2013). On the other hand, the condition, and hence first-year survival, of Lesser Snow Goose goslings is lower in warmer than average years (Aubry *et al.* 2013).

Red Knot offspring are smaller with shorter bills at warmer breeding grounds, which negatively impacts foraging success at wintering grounds (van Gils *et al.* 2016) (see also the case study on page 73 for a review of the impact of temperature increases and other threats on the Red Knot).

Temperature has been shown to have a positive effect on growth rate in some populations of Arctic and sub-Arctic breeding shorebirds; this was strongest in the populations that generally breed in the coolest locations and there is evidence that timing of breeding relative to the peak in arthropod abundance influences growth rate (Lameris *et al.* 2022).

Fluctuations in abundance and variation in adult survival rates of a range of wetland bird species are positively correlated with winter temperature, including shorebirds (Yalden & Pearce-Higgins 1997; Cook *et al.* 2021), herons (Pearce-Higgins 2017), and waterfowl (Gunnarsson *et al.* 2012), leading to overall positive relationships between abundance and winter temperature (Johnston *et al.* 2013).

Extreme cold weather is, unsurprisingly, detrimental to wading bird populations, with increased mortality having been demonstrated in Greater Flamingos (Deville *et al.* 2014), Bitterns (Cormont *et al.* 2014) and coastal winter species like the Redshank in the UK (Clark 2009). It is worth noting that such extreme events can precipitate a decline from which the population cannot recover; for example, UK breeding populations of Northern Lapwing decreased as the result of a series of cold winters, and have not recovered due to insufficient reproductive capacity, despite the proximate cause of the decline no longer being present (Robinson *et al.* 2014).

Finally, the effects of increased temperature can be indirect. For example, warmer temperatures in Arctic Canada have meant an increase in the amount of woody vegetation (as a result of faster temperature-mediated growth), reducing the area of suitable breeding habitat for Whimbrels (Ballantyne & Nol 2015). However, in Iceland, warmer temperatures are increasing the area of suitable habitat for several species, such as the Black-tailed Godwit (Gunnarsson *et al.* 2006).

#### 4.2.2 Altered patterns of precipitation

Increased precipitation can have a positive effect on breeding success, and drought a negative impact, at least on temperate breeding waterbirds. Where precipitation is projected to fall, especially in the summer months, overall effects are likely to be negative **(high confidence)**.

Breeding success was halved in dry years compared to wet for Purple Herons in Portugal due to higher rates of predation (Carneiro *et al.* 2016).

In the longer term, hotter, drier summers can have negative impacts on shorebirds (e.g. Pearce-Higgins *et al.* 2010) and species associated with wetland habitats, either through impacting habitat availability, or indirectly through impacts on prey abundance, particularly invertebrates (Carroll *et al.* 2015b; Pearce-Higgins & Morris 2022).

Breeding success was highly influenced by rainfall for White Storks in Spain, with much higher success in wetter years (Cuadrado *et al.* 2016). Survival (Nevoux *et al.* 2008) and population size (Sæther *et al.* 2006) are positively affected by the level of rainfall in the Sahel. However, as there has been more precipitation in recent decades, the strength of this environmental effect has faded.

Egg production was positively influenced by precipitation at a Norwegian stopover site during spring migration for Barnacle Geese in Svalbard (Layton-Matthews *et al.* 2020). Similarly, warmer and wetter conditions during spring and autumn migration increase survival in Greenland Barnacle Geese (Doyle *et al.* 2020).

The survival and changes in abundance of migratory waterbirds that winter in the Sahel are positively correlated with the extent of wet season rainfall (May – October), which recharges wetland habitats during the subsequent winter, likely impacting food resource availability (Zwarts *et al.* 2012). Similarly, migratory herons benefit from wetter conditions on the African wintering grounds (e.g Marion *et al.* 2006; Sæther *et al.* 2006; Nevoux *et al.* 2008; Fasola *et al.* 2010).

For Dalmatian and Great White Pelicans in the Black Sea/Mediterranean flyway, water level fluctuations in inland wetlands are a widespread problem (Catsadorakis *et al.* 2015), and in later breeding species (e.g. White-headed Duck), the earlier drying of wetlands can have negative effects (Özgencil & Uslu 2021).

An increase in precipitation during autumn migration, and on the breeding grounds whilst breeding, reduced recruitment in Whooping Cranes. Similarly, fewer days below freezing during the winter months on the breeding grounds also reduced recruitment, thought to be the result of a positive relationship between winter days below freezing and pond depth during the following summer (Butler *et al.* 2017).

#### 4.2.3 Sea level rise

## Sea level rise is predicted to cause habitat loss, particularly at stopover sites along the migratory routes and wintering grounds (high confidence).

The extent of habitat loss varies between species but has been predicted for a wide range of wading birds (Mustin *et al.* 2007; Aiello-Lammens *et al.* 2011; Convertino *et al.* 2011; Iwamura *et al.* 2013; Galbraith *et al.* 2014; Iwamura *et al.* 2014; Ma *et al.* 2014) and migratory waterfowl (Clausen & Clausen 2014; Wikramanayake *et al.* 2020; Livolsi *et al.* 2021; Moon *et al.* 2021). As an example, earlier arriving Semipalmated Sandpipers at a migration stopover site in Nova Scotia experienced

higher tides which resulted in higher energy expenditure and a longer stopover duration. The authors suggest that sea level rise is therefore likely to increase the energetic costs of stopovers as extreme tidal amplitudes increase in frequency (Mann *et al.* 2017). Loss of habitat in individual estuaries can have disproportional population impacts through reductions in network connectivity, since such sites tend to form key stopover areas for long-distance migratory shorebirds. For example, in the East Asian-Australian Flyway, a 23-40% loss of habitat as a result of inundation can reduce bird population flows by over 70% (Iwamura *et al.* 2013).

Anthropogenic barriers to landward expansions of coastal habitats, such as sea walls, exacerbate the effects of sea level rise on available habitat (Ma *et al.* 2014; Moon *et al.* 2021).

#### 4.3 Adaptations and responses

#### 4.3.1 Distribution and range shifts

## Poleward and elevational range shifts have been observed and are predicted to intensify throughout a wide range of wetland and coastal bird species (high confidence).

As water is crucial for providing food and protection from predation for dabbling and diving ducks, temperature is a key driver of their winter distribution (Schummer *et al.* 2010). Wintering European waterbird abundances and distributions are already shifting in response to warming (Johnston *et al.* 2013), with particular shifts northwards and eastwards towards the breeding grounds (Maclean *et al.* 2008; Lehikoinen *et al.* 2013; Pavón-Jordán *et al.* 2020).

Similarly, long-term shifts in European wintering duck populations have mostly been in northward and eastward directions or into regions previously considered too cold (Musil *et al.* 2011; Ekroos *et al.* 2012; Guillemain *et al.* 2013). Waterfowl with distributions that already occupy the northern edge of the continent are expected to experience range contractions (Guillemain *et al.* 2013).

Climate change appears to be affecting several endangered wading bird species, which will need to be accounted for when formulating conservation management plans targeted at currently small populations. Black-necked Cranes on the Qinghai-Tibetan plateau are expected to experience an expanding range, of varying degrees depending on the climate scenario, with movements particularly to the northwest and higher elevation (Li *et al.* 2022). Similarly, the distribution of the Red-crowned Crane is predicted to shift poleward, moving away from almost all of its current breeding range in the next century; this shift will mean the country containing the greatest proportion of the population will change from China to Russia (Liu *et al.* 2020). The wintering range of the Black-faced Spoonbill is predicted to increase in area in addition to shifting polewards (Hu *et al.* 2010).

Climate change is projected to reduce the suitability of 58% of critical sites for waterbirds within Africa-Eurasia, with those in Africa and the Middle East, where protection is least effective, most threatened (Breiner *et al.* 2021). The most vulnerable species are dispersive species within the Afro-tropical realm and Arctic breeding shorebirds (Nagy *et al.* 2021). Projected improvements in passage and wintering conditions are likely to support the northwards and eastwards expansion of non-breeding ranges across Eurasia, particularly into Eastern Europe, Scandinavia, Russia and Kazakhstan (Breiner *et al.* 2021; Nagy *et al.* 2021).

#### 4.3.2 Changes in migratory route

Waterbird species vary in their capacity to alter migratory routes. Shorebirds seem highly site faithful, with changes only coming about as young birds learn new routes, whilst adult birds of other waterbird species appear able to occupy new wintering areas (low confidence).

The establishment of new wintering sites with more favourable conditions and closer to the breeding grounds has occurred in Whooping Cranes, a behavioural change enabled by older birds, highlighting the importance of age structure within populations for allowing adaptive responses to change (Teitelbaum *et al.* 2016). In Pink-footed Geese, colonisation of new breeding grounds in response to warming temperatures was enabled by cultural transmission within and between species (Madsen *et al.* 2023). Lesser Snow Geese also change their breeding grounds in response to declining resources in their traditional breeding grounds, and body condition and juvenile survival are higher in newly colonised areas (Aubry *et al.* 2013). In contrast, for Icelandic Black-tailed Godwits, adults remain highly site faithful and new areas (which have tended to be closer to the breeding grounds) have been settled by young birds (Gunnarsson *et al.* 2005).

#### 4.3.3 Timing of migration and breeding

## The timing of migration and breeding is most often advancing in response to warmer temperatures, with generally positive impacts on breeding success (high confidence).

Changes in the timing of arrival tend to be much better documented than the timing of departure, although it should be noted that such work often concentrates on the arrival of the earliest individuals rather than the median across the population, which may show different patterns, for example being confounded by population trend (Miller-Rushing *et al.* 2008). Later departure (Stirnemann *et al.* 2012; Orellana-Macías *et al.* 2020) and earlier arrival (Vähätalo *et al.* 2004) at the breeding grounds have been documented for European waterfowl in response to the decreasing harshness of winter. Similarly, White Storks arrive earlier in western Poland when March is warmer (Tobolka *et al.* 2015).

In a study of Danish breeding shorebird species, there were phenological responses to the North Atlantic Oscillation (NAO), temperature and precipitation, and the authors conclude that spring arrival can respond to climate in short-, medium- and long-distance migrants, but not all long-distance species are advancing the start of their respective breeding seasons (Meltofte *et al.* 2018).

The initiation of breeding in six Nearctic wading bird species was correlated with the timing of snowmelt, and the time of snowmelt affected the extent of phenological mismatch between the breeding birds and their invertebrate prey, suggesting wading birds may be vulnerable to negative consequences of mismatch under climate change (Kwon *et al.* 2019).

The timing of spring migration is not related to the climatic conditions at the breeding grounds for American White Pelican (King *et al.* 2017). Great White Pelicans have not advanced their average timing of breeding, but have advanced the endpoint, thereby reducing the duration of their breeding season (Doxa *et al.* 2012).

## 5 Aves: Raptors

#### 5.1 Overview of migration patterns and distributions

Taxonomically, raptors fall into three orders: Cathartiformes (New World vultures); Accipitriformes (hawks, eagles and Old World vultures); and Falconiformes (falcons). All species in these orders are listed on the Appendices of the CMS (with the exception of the anomalous Secretary Bird). Many are considered as part of the Memorandum of Understanding on the Conservation of Migratory Birds of Prey in Africa and Eurasia, which also includes 12 species of migratory owl. Raptors range from relatively sedentary to highly migratory. The larger species (vultures, eagles, some hawks) in particular use thermal updrafts to assist their migration, and migration routes can become quite narrow as a result, especially where sea crossings are involved (for example, most raptors cross the Mediterranean at either its eastern (Bosporus) or western (Gibraltar) extremity, resulting in large concentrations of birds).

Raptors face a wide range of threats, including agricultural practices (e.g. Sánchez Zapata *et al.* 2003), hunting and the prevalence of toxic chemicals, but climate change has largely not been seen as a widespread conservation issue to date (McClure *et al.* 2018), with the most widely documented effects being on distribution and timing of migration (Martínez-Ruiz *et al.* 2023). Although some have undergone large-scale population recoveries in recent years, a substantial number are threatened with extinction.

#### 5.2 Climate change impacts

#### 5.2.1 Altered patterns of precipitation

Changes in precipitation can affect breeding success, although the direction of the effect varies depending on the general climate and habitat the birds breed in. Rainfall tends to have a positive effect on tropical breeding raptor populations through impacts on prey abundance (medium confidence), whilst at higher latitudes, more negative responses to precipitation are likely due to chilling and reduced foraging opportunities (medium confidence).

A wide range of species show negative impacts from heavy rain when the semi-precocial chicks are young, although these effects are particularly apparent at northern latitudes (Pearce-Higgins & Green 2014). There is a combined impact of chilling of chicks and reduced foraging opportunities in wet weather that, alongside heavy rainfall, has a negative impact on raptor breeding success in the tropics – for example, monsoon conditions (Senapathi *et al.* 2011).

In contrast, breeding in Wedge-tailed Eagles in Australia is positively affected by rainfall in arid habitats, whilst rainfall has no effect in mesic regions. The productivity of nests is also

substantially lower in the arid zone which may put the population at risk with the increasing frequency of extreme weather events (Cherriman *et al.* 2022).

Rainfall tends to have positive effects on tropical breeding raptor populations, although these are primarily associated with lagged impacts during the following year rather than direct impacts (Pearce-Higgins & Green 2014). Rainfall has a positive impact on vegetation growth and the abundance of prey species, as shown for larger raptors in the Kalahari (Krüger *et al.* 2002), the Aplomado Falcon in Mexico (Macias-Duarte *et al.* 2004) and kestrels in the Mediterranean (e.g. Fargallo *et al.* 2009). In such dryland systems, El Niño heavy rainfall events can stimulate rapid vegetation growth and rodent population increases, leading to a flush of food for owls and raptors, which then contributes to a decline in rodent populations alongside a return to dry conditions (Lima *et al.* 2001).

Higher rainfall in the Sahel (the wintering grounds), particularly when paired with high breeding success, had a positive effect on adult survival in Montagu's Harrier, which is expected to imply higher prey availability over winter (Millon *et al.* 2019). Similarly, there was a positive correlation between adult survival and rainfall in the Sahel for Eurasian Scops Owls that breed in France (Barbraud *et al.* 2022).

#### 5.2.2 Increased temperatures

## The effects of temperature change appear relatively weak, with no strong impact of temperature upon breeding success (low confidence).

Increased spring temperatures are associated with an increase in breeding success in Switzerland's Red Kite population (Nägeli *et al.* 2021).

Higher temperatures were associated with decreased hunting frequency but were not found to affect hunting success in Snowy Owls. The authors suggest this may imply they are better able to meet their metabolic demands with warmer temperatures; snow depth did not affect hunting frequency or success (Winter & Shields 2021).

Lower adult survival was associated with cooler and drier years for Little Owls in the Netherlands (Le Gouar *et al.* 2011).

Survival for Peregrine Falcons breeding in Alaska was higher in years with earlier snowmelt, milder winters and warmer breeding seasons (Bruggeman *et al.* 2015).

#### 5.3 Adaptations and responses

#### 5.3.1 Timing of migration and breeding

The timing of migration and onset of breeding responds to temperature and precipitation, though responses vary among species (medium confidence).

Arctic Peregrine Falcons arrive back in Alaska faster in years with earlier snowmelt/milder winters (Bruggeman *et al.* 2015).

Golden Eagles in north-eastern North America have been found to delay spring migration and advance autumn migration in response to warmer temperatures, reducing the duration of time spent on the breeding grounds and contrasting with the most common results regarding shifts in the timing of migration (Maynard *et al.* 2022).

The timing of autumn migration is being delayed as temperatures increase, leading to the potential for longer breeding seasons, in both Europe (Jaffré *et al.* 2013) and North America (Buskirk 2012).

#### 5.3.2 Distribution and range shifts

## Changes in temperature and precipitation are expected to influence species distribution ranges, with some current evidence of range losses (medium confidence).

Increasing summer temperatures and precipitation are thought to drive the absence of Red Kites in regions of Spain (Seoane *et al.* 2003), though climatic parameters only weakly affect their distribution in Germany at the core of their range. The effects of shifting climatic conditions across Europe on reproduction may influence population declines at the south of their range (Mattsson *et al.* 2022).

It is predicted that there will be substantial range contractions on both the breeding and wintering grounds for the Oriental Honey Buzzard, which will increase the distance required for migration under all climate change scenarios (Condro *et al.* 2022).

For vulture species in the Gangetic-Thar-Deccan region of India, environmental factors such as land use and direct anthropogenic impacts are estimated to have the greatest influence on current distribution, but climatic variables such as temperature and precipitation are predicted to be the greatest determinant as climate change progresses (Jha & Jha 2021).

# 6 Aves: Afro-Palearctic migratory passerines

#### 6.1 Overview of migration patterns and distributions

Every year, in the order of 2 billion birds migrate between Europe and Africa in a huge transfer of ecosystem resources (Hahn *et al.* 2009). About three-quarters of these individuals are from 16 species and 95% are passerines, particularly from the Muscicapidae/Sylviidae group of families, with eight individual families listed in their entirety on the Appendices of the CMS (Cisticolidae, Acrocephalidae, Locustellidae, Phylloscopidae, Sylviidae, Turdidae, Muscicapidae and Motacillidae). These species exhibit a range of migratory schedules, both between and within species, with some individuals being relatively sedentary, while others migrate long distances. Leapfrog migration is common, with northern breeding populations migrating to more southerly locations for the boreal winter than southern breeding populations.

Threats to these species come mainly from habitat loss and alteration and, despite widespread population responses to climate change (Pearce-Higgins & Crick 2019), just 15 out of 103 studies have found demographic parameters to be directly affected by climatic variables, suggesting limited evidence for the impact of climate change compared to that of anthropogenic habitat/land use changes (Vickery *et al.* 2014, 2023). Climate change appears a more important driver of change on the breeding grounds of short-distance migrants, but land cover change more so on the wintering grounds for long-distance migrants (Howard *et al.* 2020).

#### 6.2 Climate change impacts

#### 6.2.1 Alteration in patterns of precipitation

Annual variation in the survival and abundance of long-distance migratory passerines, especially those that spend the boreal winter in African drylands (such as the Sahel), tends to be most strongly linked (positively) to variation in rainfall there **(high confidence)**.

Long-term changes in the abundance of migrants that winter in the Sahel match long-term rainfall trends, whilst annual fluctuations also correlate with rainfall levels (Newson *et al.* 2009; Pearce-Higgins & Green 2014). This is driven by rainfall during the wet season (May – October) influencing the carrying capacity of the region during the subsequent winter (Baillie & Peach 1992), either by determining the extent and duration of wetland habitats for wetland associated species such as Sedge Warblers and Sand Martins (Zwarts *et al.* 2012), or by stimulating vegetation growth, increasing the abundance of fruit and invertebrate prey (Schaub *et al.* 2005). There is some

evidence that these conditions can carry over to impact the timing of breeding (and in some species, clutch size), although the magnitude of these effects is relatively small (Ockendon *et al.* 2014).

The overwinter survival rates of Nearctic migrants fluctuate in response to rainfall in the Caribbean (Sillett *et al.* 2000; Mazerolle *et al.* 2005), although the evidence for such effects is from fewer species than for Afro-Palearctic migrants. There is also evidence for carry-over effects of overwintering conditions in the tropics impacting on the timing of arrival back to the breeding grounds (Studds & Mara 2005), and subsequent return rates of female American Redstarts (Studds & Mara 2007).

Heavy rainfall during critical periods may negatively impact migrant survival rates, as shown for Barn Swallows (Møller 1989) and Alpine Swifts (Robinson *et al.* 2020). Such effects may be most likely to occur close to or during migration periods (Stokke *et al.* 2005). Weather conditions on migration may also carry over to impact the timing of breeding (Finch *et al.* 2014).

#### 6.2.2 Increases in temperature

## Increased temperatures generally promote an abundance of insect prey, which are the primary source of food in the breeding season (less so in the boreal, winter months), and often results in higher breeding success if temperatures are not too extreme (medium confidence).

Food availability on the breeding grounds is a key driver of breeding success, and is often linked to temperature through its effect on insect development. This means that the abundance of invertebrate prey can strongly impact the breeding success of migratory passerines. Given the strong links between the weather and invertebrate populations, climate change has the potential to impact migratory bird productivity through impacts on their invertebrate prey (Pearce-Higgins & Morris 2022). For example, the abundance of aerial insects is positively correlated with the survival of Barn Swallow chicks (Martay *et al.* 2023), and the productivity of Black-throated Blue Warblers is linked to the effects of weather on caterpillar abundance (Sillett *et al.* 2000). Long-term declines in the abundance of key invertebrate groups, such as moths, partly driven by climate change (Fox 2013; Martay *et al.* 2017), may therefore have contributed to declining long-distance migrant populations across Europe.

High temperatures have also been directly linked to negative impacts on birds. High temperatures reduce Barn Swallow chick growth (Facey *et al.* 2020), while the risk of overheating reduced chick provisioning rates at high temperatures for an American migratory passerine, the Tree Swallow (Tapper *et al.* 2020). High temperatures are linked to increased mortality in Great Reed Warblers, though their reproduction has been benefiting from improved rearing conditions (Schaefer *et al.* 2006).

#### 6.2.3 Timing of spring peaks in prey abundance

## Increased temperatures in the spring can lead to earlier insect emergence, and hence asynchrony with the timing of breeding (low confidence).

The spring caterpillar peak in temperate deciduous woodlands provides a pronounced pulse of food availability in spring, utilised by a range of passerines, both migratory and resident, whilst rearing offspring. Some evidence suggests that asynchronous timing of spring arrival or breeding in birds relative to this caterpillar peak is detrimental to breeding success (Both *et al.* 2006) and asynchrony increases with temperature (Burgess *et al.* 2018; Franks *et al.* 2018). However, while

there is a substantial amount of evidence for temporal asynchrony in the timing of breeding with respect to the prey base, evidence for population impacts is generally lacking and even in the two best studied species, one of which is the migratory Pied Flycatcher, only some populations seem affected (Franks *et al.* 2018; Samplonius *et al.* 2021; Nater *et al.* 2023). The ability to adapt to such changes may also depend on the cues that trigger migration – if these are uncorrelated with conditions in the breeding range, departure times may not change, reducing the flexibility of populations to respond (Davies *et al.* 2023).

#### 6.3 Adaptations and responses

#### 6.3.1 Timing of migration and breeding

## Temperature, in particular, positively influences the timing of breeding and spring arrival, although these effects can be modified by more local weather conditions en route (high confidence).

Earlier arrival, and breeding, of migratory passerines in Europe is one of the most well documented impacts of climate change (Pearce-Higgins & Green 2014; Haest *et al.* 2020), although not all species are doing so (Davies *et al.* 2023).

As migratory birds often breed later than their resident competitors, they are thought to be at higher risk of the detrimental effects of being mistimed. However, robust evidence of widespread demographic effects is lacking, despite vast amounts of research among a small number of resident (Great Tit) and migratory (Pied Flycatcher) species (Samplonius *et al.* 2021).

#### 6.3.2 Distribution and range shifts

## Migratory passerines are shifting, or expected to shift, poleward in both their breeding and wintering grounds, though the Sahara presents a barrier for those north of the Equator in their African wintering grounds (medium confidence).

In northern Europe, the range edges of resident bird species have shifted further north than the range edges of long-distance migrants (Hällfors *et al.* 2023). Species with narrow climatic niches have shifted their ranges more than those with wide climatic niches (Hällfors *et al.* 2023). For some migratory habitat specialists, northward range shifts are facilitated by northwards habitat expansions. For example, Reed Warblers, which breed primarily in reedbeds, and whose productivity is related to the rate of growth of reeds (which is often constrained by lower than optimum temperatures), are expanding their range northwards as temperatures increase (Eglington *et al.* 2015). More generally, climate suitability alone is a relatively poor predictor of observed range shifts; land use and the availability of source populations also need to be accounted for (Howard *et al.* 2020, 2023).

It has been predicted that 37 of the 64 long-distance Afro-Palearctic migratory passerines studied will experience a winter range reduction by 2100; those wintering in the southern hemisphere will shift poleward, while those wintering north of the Equator will shift east due to being limited to the north by the Sahara (Barbet-Massin *et al.* 2009).

Documented changes in migratory routes are scarce, though are likely, initially at least, to involve only part of the population (as has been seen in shorebirds and waterfowl), which may be difficult to detect. However, new range areas can be established as (boreal winter) temperatures have increased (Dufour *et al.* 2021).



# 7 Aves: South American grassland birds

#### 7.1 Overview of migration patterns and distributions

There are 288 grassland bird species in South America as a whole, 16% of which are migratory, including those that migrate to North America (Chesser 1994; Vickery *et al.* 1999). However, the proportion of migratory species (30%) within the temperate grasslands of south-eastern South America is higher (Azpiroz *et al.* 2012; Jahn *et al.* 2017). Of these species which migrate within South America, six are classified as 'Globally Threatened' and a further six as 'Near Threatened'. A range of migration strategies are observed, with species migrating either between temperate and tropical ecosystems or solely within tropical ecosystems, and some movements are more nomadic, tracking the availability of grass seeds (e.g. Pearce-Higgins 1996). Research on these species directly is limited, so we refer to species in other ecosystems to make inferences.

#### 7.2 Climate change impacts

#### 7.2.1 Alteration in patterns of precipitation

Tropical systems tend to be rainfall-limited rather than temperature-limited, and therefore the strongest climate change impacts on tropical migratory passerines are likely to be through changes in precipitation patterns, which are mixed, depending on location **(low confidence)**.

In semi-arid systems, rainfall has a positive impact on the breeding success of a range of North American sparrows (Rotenberry & Wiens 1991; Chase *et al.* 2005), likely mediated through the effects on vegetation growth and invertebrate abundance. In wet years, a greater number of nests are produced, increasing the length of the breeding season (Chase *et al.* 2005; Dean *et al.* 2009). There is a similar relationship for the Little Bustard in Spain (Delgado *et al.* 2009).

In similar ecosystems in Africa, studies of the granivorous Red-billed Quelea support the importance of precipitation in driving grassland bird populations. Rainfall stimulates new grass growth and rapid increases in invertebrate (caterpillar and Orthoptera nymphs) abundance, leading the birds to breed. As soon as the young fledge, the adults move along an advancing rain front to breed again. Six weeks after the rainfall ceases across the species' range and the birds have stopped breeding, they nomadically track grass seed availability and move ahead of the next rain front which causes the remaining seeds to germinate and the whole cycle starts again (Ward 1971; Cheke *et al.* 2007).

#### 7.2.2 Increased temperatures

There is growing evidence that extreme heat can have negative impacts on tropical species through sudden and catastrophic mortality. This does not appear to result from drought, but from physiological responses to heat stress **(low confidence)**.

Recent heatwaves have led to significant mortality in desert species such as Budgerigars, Zebra Finches and Carnaby's Black Cockatoos (Low 2011; Saunders *et al.* 2011; McKechnie *et al.* 2012; Albright *et al.* 2017).

Studies from similar habitats in Africa indicate that high temperatures mean individuals spend more time keeping cool, reducing foraging opportunities and impacting breeding success in a range of bird species (Bladon *et al.* 2019; Bourne *et al.* 2020; van de Ven *et al.* 2020). It is possible that this could also be an issue for South American passerines depending on the magnitude of future warming, but we are not aware of any research on this.

Even where the risks of mass mortality are low, chronic, sublethal impacts of rising temperatures are projected to cause population declines (e.g. Kalahari Desert: Conradie *et al.* 2019).

#### 7.3 Adaptations and responses

#### 7.3.1 Timing of migration and breeding

Changes in phenology are likely, but limited evidence suggests that many grassland birds are not shifting their breeding phenology enough to keep pace with other environmental changes (low confidence).

Changes in the timing of migration and breeding in response to climate change is commonly noted across migratory bird species. In North America, grassland migrant bird species have not advanced their nesting timing at the same pace as phenological advances in agricultural practices such as hay harvesting, which decreases annual productivity (McGowan *et al.* 2021)

#### 7.3.2 Distribution and range shifts

Suitable climatic conditions for South American grassland birds are shifting poleward. However, the extent to which these species will shift their ranges in response to a changing climate will be affected by suitable habitat and dispersal abilities, and is largely unknown **(low confidence)**.

Climate-driven range shifts are predicted for South American grassland bird species (Marini *et al.* 2009). However, the extent to which species will be able to shift their range to suitable climates will depend on the availability of suitable habitat and their dispersal ability (Marini *et al.* 2009). Further research is required here.


# 8 Mammalia: Terrestrial mammals

### 8.1 Overview of migration patterns and distributions

The CMS Appendices list three ape species (Eastern and Western Gorillas, and Chimpanzees), which are 'technical' migrants, crossing Range State boundaries but only moving relatively short distances; one bear species (Gobi Bear); three elephant species; six carnivores; and 32 ungulates (14 African, 16 Asian and two South American species). Importantly, there are a number of widespread migratory terrestrial mammals that occupy temperate and boreal habitats which are not listed in the CMS Appendices, such as Caribou, Elk and Bison. Literature for the impacts of climate change on these species has not been reviewed unless the impacts were more general to other similar species that are on the CMS Appendices. For most terrestrial mammals, migration is driven by availability of food or water, often linked to rainfall which affects primary productivity (e.g. ungulates: Kauffman *et al.* 2021; African Elephants: Owen-Smith 2014).

Habitat loss due to increasing human activities is the biggest threat to most migratory terrestrial mammals, with a second major threat being the increasing barriers that prevent ungulates from migrating to follow seasonal food resources, such as increases in human infrastructure, fences and loss of habitat corridors. Illegal hunting is also an important threat for some species.

### 8.2 Climate change impacts

### 8.2.1 Alteration in patterns of precipitation

Changes in rainfall patterns are likely to have a significant impact on many terrestrial mammal populations, particularly in the tropics given the strong links between rainfall, primary productivity and food resources (high confidence).

Across Africa, rainfall declines are predicted over much of the Sahel region, northern Africa and western equatorial Africa, but increases over parts of eastern and southern Africa (Martínez-Freiría *et al.* 2016; Bush *et al.* 2020), and similarly over the Middle East (Lelieveld *et al.* 2012). The distribution and abundance of herbivores, and thus carnivores, in the African savanna is generally closely linked to primary productivity, determined by patterns in rainfall (Owen-Smith 2014; Mukhopadhyay *et al.* 2019) (see also the case study on the African savanna on page 74). Declines in rainfall are likely to cause declines in many terrestrial mammal populations due to the link between rainfall and primary productivity and thus food availability for herbivores (e.g. ungulates: Bastille-Rousseau *et al.* 2016; Mukhopadhyay *et al.* 2019; Giraffe: Owen-Smith *et al.* 2005; Ogutu *et al.* 2008; Duncan *et al.* 2012; Martínez-Freiría *et al.* 2016; Grevy's Zebra: Kigen *et al.* 2013;

Goitered Gazelle: Kaky *et al.* 2023; elephants: Boult *et al.* 2019; Dejene *et al.* 2021). These impacts will be strongest at low latitudes (Pearce-Higgins *et al.* 2015b).

In turn, this has the potential for impacts on carnivore populations that prey on such species, with a positive correlation between carnivore population size and rainfall (Lion: Celesia *et al.* 2010; Leopard: Rodriguez-Recio *et al.* 2022; Zeng *et al.* 2022; Jaguar: Sanderson *et al.* 2022).

Some great ape populations are also positively affected by rainfall: areas of high annual rainfall and high seasonal variation in rainfall generally support high ape populations (Carvalho *et al.* 2021). However, the impacts of variation in rainfall are minor compared to the impact of human disturbance and temperature (Ginath Yuh *et al.* 2020; Carvalho *et al.* 2021).

Conversely, for some species, increases in rainfall are associated with negative impacts. Wild Dog pup survival declines in wet periods (Buettner *et al.* 2007) and gorillas are more stressed in months with high rainfall (Eckardt *et al.* 2019).

### 8.2.2 Increased temperatures

Rising temperatures can cause heat stress, impacting productivity, and are generally linked to population declines **(high confidence)**, but may benefit some populations in cold environments by reducing the risk of higher mortality linked to severe cold **(low confidence)**.

Terrestrial mammal species are generally adapted to a species-specific temperature range (Zhou *et al.* 2022; e.g. Goitered Gazelle: Kaky *et al.* 2023; Grevy's Zebra: Kigen *et al.* 2013; Asian Elephant: Kanagaraj *et al.* 2019; African Elephant: Mpakairi *et al.* 2020; Dejene *et al.* 2021; Chimpanzee: Wessling *et al.* 2020). Temperature increases are predicted globally, which can increase terrestrial mammal stress (gorilla: Eckardt *et al.* 2019), reduce reproductive success (Wild Dog: Woodroffe *et al.* 2017; McNutt *et al.* 2019; Abrahms *et al.* 2022) and decrease population size (e.g. Giraffe: Martínez-Freiría *et al.* 2016; Huemul: Riquelme *et al.* 2020; great apes: Carvalho *et al.* 2021; ungulates: Luo *et al.* 2015).

This can be due to difficulties thermo-regulating (African Elephant: Dunkin *et al.* 2013; Pontzer *et al.* 2020; ungulates: Semenzato *et al.* 2021; Wild Dog: Woodroffe *et al.* 2017; Rabaiotti *et al.* 2019) and because of the impacts on the availability of food plant species (e.g. Gobi Bear: Qin *et al.* 2020). Behavioural adaptations can mitigate some temperature increase, such as foraging earlier and later in the day, and altitudinal shifts (e.g. ungulates: Semenzato *et al.* 2021).

Higher temperatures can improve hunting success for some carnivores as prey species struggle to thermoregulate when being hunted (Wild Dog: Creel *et al.* 2016).

There are some instances where warming climates could benefit terrestrial mammals. For example, in colder regions across Asia, very severe winters can reduce fecundity and cause mass mortality events for species such as the Saiga Antelope (Coulson *et al.* 2000) and Przewalski's Horse (Kaczensky *et al.* 2011). Any lessening in the frequency of extreme winters may be beneficial for such species. However, while average temperatures will increase, an increase in extreme weather events is also predicted, so it is uncertain whether winter mortality will increase or decrease.

### 8.2.3 Extreme weather events

Where droughts are projected to increase in severity and frequency, they are likely to negatively impact populations of migratory mammals. Heavy rain and flooding can cause localised impacts, but generally appear to have weak population impacts (medium confidence).

Floods may increase in frequency and severity in some areas and can increase carnivore mortality as habitat is lost to the flood (Lion cub mortality: Kotze *et al.* 2021), while other carnivore populations are relatively resilient to floods (Jaguar: Burrage *et al.* 2020).

Rainfall declines around the Sahara and the Middle East are likely to lead to increased mortality and local carnivore extinctions (Leopards: Khorozyan *et al.* 2015; Lions: Cooper *et al.* 2021), although some carnivore populations are fairly resilient to droughts (Jaguar: Burrage *et al.* 2020; Lions: Ferreira *et al.* 2021).

Increased levels of drought have been implicated in a rise in the prevalence of mass mortality events. For example, over 300 African Elephants have recently died in Botswana as a result of biotoxins produced by cyanobacteria in drinking water, triggered by extremes of hot, dry weather (Wang *et al.* 2021).

Droughts have also been linked to increases in parasite loads in African Elephants and Lions, as more individuals rely on limited water resources (Munson *et al.* 2008; Obanda *et al.* 2011; Titcomb *et al.* 2021) and an increased prevalence of infectious diseases in Asian Elephants (Mumby *et al.* 2013).

Droughts are also linked to increasing human-wildlife conflicts, for example for African and Asian Elephants, which can lead to increased mortality (Mariki *et al.* 2015; Mukeka *et al.* 2019; Ramesh *et al.* 2022).

### 8.2.4 Habitat loss

The combined changes in rainfall and temperatures are predicted to cause habitat loss in many species, generally due to reductions in food availability. For some species, particularly those with ranges that are heavily restricted by human activities and land use, direct climate change impacts on distribution may be hard to discern (medium confidence).

Climate change is predicted to cause severe habitat loss for ungulates on the Tibetan Plateau (Luo *et al.* 2015), Iranian Leopards (Sanei *et al.* 2011; Ebrahimi *et al.* 2017; Ashrafzadeh *et al.* 2019) and many great ape populations (Lehmann *et al.* 2010; Junker *et al.* 2012; Sesink Clee *et al.* 2015). Brown bears, the species that Gobi Bears are a subspecies of, are also predicted to lose habitat due to climate change (Su *et al.* 2018; Penteriani *et al.* 2019; Dar *et al.* 2021; Ara *et al.* 2022).

Lion ranges are predicted to be relatively stable, but losses are predicted for southern Africa and West Africa (Peterson *et al.* 2014).

In some countries, suitable Asian Elephant habitat is predicted to decline by the end of the century or earlier due to climate change (Alamgir *et al.* 2015; Li *et al.* 2019). However, other studies have predicted climate change to have a minimal impact on Asian Elephants (Kanagaraj *et al.* 2019; Yang *et al.* 2022b).

The effect of climate change on habitat suitability for African Elephants is also unclear. One study predicted only small effects, with a slight improvement in climatic suitability in southern and eastern Africa, and a reduction in western Africa and northern portions of central Africa (Zacarias & Loyola 2018). However, another study predicted a 40% temperature-driven habitat loss in an area in southeast Africa (Mpakairi *et al.* 2020).

More generally, where habitat is lost due to climate change, interactions between migratory terrestrial mammals, humans and livestock are likely to increase, which will increase the likelihood of disease spillover between them (e.g. great apes: Patz *et al.* 2000; Wild Dog: Rabaiotti *et al.* 2021).

### 8.3 Adaptations and responses

### 8.3.1 Distribution and range shifts

Polewards range shifts have been observed and predicted. However, the ability of terrestrial mammals to shift their ranges in response to climate change is often unknown and may be restricted by a lack of suitable habitat in areas with a suitable climate, or by barriers that prevent range shifts (medium confidence).

Some species have already shifted their ranges polewards or to increasing altitudes (Bai *et al.* 2022), while polewards range shifts are predicted for others (e.g. Chimpanzees: Wessling *et al.* 2020; Asian Elephants: Kitratporn & Takeuchi 2022). However, the ability of species to shift their ranges in response to climate change is often unknown; for example, the Gobi Bear's plant food species are predicted to shift range, but the ability of Gobi Bears to follow that shift is unknown (Qin *et al.* 2020). Any range shifts are likely to increase human-wildlife conflicts (Asian Elephants: Kitratporn & Takeuchi 2022) and may be prevented by a lack of corridors or suitable habitat. For many migratory terrestrial mammals, maintaining and creating protected areas and corridors is vital for conserving these species under a changing climate (e.g. Bears: Su *et al.* 2018; Mukherjee *et al.* 2021; Ashrafzadeh *et al.* 2022; Dar *et al.* 2022; Asian Elephant: Li *et al.* 2019; Leopard: Liang *et al.* 2022).

### 8.3.2 Timing of migration and breeding

# Some changes in birthing and migration phenology have been seen in migratory mammals, but cues for when to breed may be maladaptive **(low confidence)**.

For example, Wild Dogs have delayed parturition by 7 days per decade, but this has led to increased temperatures during denning periods, which reduces pup survival (McNutt *et al.* 2019; Abrahms *et al.* 2022)

# 9 Mammalia: Bats

### 9.1 Overview of migration patterns and distributions

Bats are the second largest group of mammals, with over 1,400 species described, but the biology of most is poorly known. There are at least 87 species of migratory bats (Krauel & McMracken 2013), of which 58 species are listed on the CMS Appendices. Bat migration is generally shorter than bird migration, with maximum distances of under 2,000 km (Fleming & Eby 2003). Migratory bat species can generally be divided into those with short-distance migration (less than 800 km) to hibernacula (Hutterer *et al.* 2005), and long-distance migrants (less than 1,500 km) migrating to winter in milder climates where food is available (Fleming & Eby 2003). Short-distance migration (100 to 500 km) also occurs within temperate regions as bats move to and from hibernacula sites where they overwinter (Rodrigues & Palmeirim 2008). In tropical and subtropical regions, migration movements are generally in response to the availability of ephemeral food resources (Fleming & Eby 2003).

The main threats to bats include habitat loss, bushmeat hunting and climate change (which includes adaptation to climate change through wind turbines). The families Molossidae, Rhinolophidae and Vespertilionidae (representatives of all of which are listed on CMS Appendix II) have been identified as being among the most vulnerable bats to windfarm collisions (Zimmerling & Francis 2016; Thaxter *et al.* 2017). However, we know significantly less about bat population trends and threats than for other mammals and birds (Frick *et al.* 2020). Recent advances in passive acoustic monitoring of bats are enabling broad-scale bat monitoring schemes, so it is likely that our knowledge of bat population statuses and threats will improve (Frick *et al.* 2020).

### 9.2 Climate change impacts

### 9.2.1 Increased temperatures

Changes in temperature are likely to affect foraging efficiency and flight behaviour with uncertain consequences for populations **(low confidence)**. Warming may also affect the abundance of key invertebrate prey in different and contrasting ways, with variable impacts on bat populations, depending on diet, taxa and climate change context **(low confidence)**.

The impacts of temperature increases on bats is currently best described for changes in hibernation behaviour, but impacts on overall population status are not well understood. In the UK, increasing temperatures and decreasing precipitation in spring have had a positive effect on the population size of the Greater Horseshoe Bat (Froidevaux *et al.* 2017). It is also suggested that populations of both Greater and Lesser Horseshoe Bats in the UK have recovered over the

past 20 years due to milder winters (Battersby 2005; Schofield 2008). Analyses of the impacts of climate changes on UK bat populations more generally suggested the potential for some negative impacts on some species, but noted these were inconclusive and inconsistent (Martay *et al.* 2017).

An overall increase in body size in female Bechstein's Bats with increased temperatures has advanced the onset of reproduction and increased mortality risk, causing a change in the generation time (Mundinger *et al.* 2022).

More frequent winter bat activity with increased temperatures may result in the potential disappearance of a hibernation period over the next 60-80 years on the Mediterranean coast (Mas *et al.* 2022). This study highlights the importance of conserving wetlands as one of the few available winter foraging habitats.

Temperature changes may alter foraging efficiency and flight behaviour in different ways among species. Temperature impacts the distance at which insects can be detected using echolocation, with differing effects depending on the frequency of the call; this suggests that global warming may alter foraging efficiency in different ways for species with different echolocation frequencies (Luo *et al.* 2014).

Heat dissipation and evaporative water loss in migratory and high-altitude flying bats are likely to increase with increasing temperatures and decreasing humidity. Drinking frequency increases with temperature and decreases with humidity (Adams & Hayes 2008); as such, changes in temperature and humidity are predicted to increase the frequency at which high-altitude flying bats return to the ground to drink or alter the aerial layers in which they can forage (Voigt *et al.* 2018).

Warmer temperatures and summer drought conditions may reduce the abundance of aerial insects, which are the primary food source for bats. The impacts of climate change on insect migrations are likely to indirectly affect migratory insectivorous bats, though the consequences are currently unknown (Voigt *et al.* 2018). More generally, large-scale declines in the biomass of aerial insects have been reported in Europe (e.g. Hallman *et al.* 2017), although the causes and even the extent of the decline are debated. Declines in moth populations in the UK may partly be attributed to warming (Martay *et al.* 2017), although trends in other aerial insects appear mixed (Martay *et al.* 2023). There is good evidence that summer drought will reduce the abundance of aerial insects with aquatic life-stages, such as many Diptera (Pearce-Higgins 2010; Pearce-Higgins & Morris 2022). However, the impacts of any changes in insect populations on bats are highly uncertain based on current knowledge.

### 9.2.2 Reduced water availability

# Reduced water availability and drought can reduce breeding success, migration and competitive dynamics amongst species (low confidence).

Breeding success decreases when water availability is low during lactation (Adams & Hayes 2008; Adams 2010). The effect of reduced surface water availability on breeding success as climate change progresses is predicted to negatively impact the population size of a North American species, Fringed Myotis (Hayes & Adams 2017). Changes in water availability, paired with changes in heat dissipation and evaporative loss, are likely to have negative consequences for migratory bats as they require water along the migratory route (Popa-Lisseanu & Voigt 2009).

Reduction in the size of water sources is likely to negatively impact less manoeuvrable bat species as they are less able to drink efficiently (Hall *et al.* 2016); this is expected to provide a competitive advantage to more agile species.

### 9.2.3 Extreme weather events

# The response of bat populations to extreme events is usually negative, either in terms of range contraction or population reduction (medium confidence).

Extreme heat weather events can reduce survival and breeding success, particularly in flying foxes (*Pteropus* spp.), though responses differ among species. Heatwaves and drought in India cause mass die-offs in the Indian Flying Fox (Dey *et al.* 2015). Extreme heat (42°C) has also caused mortality of wild flying foxes in Australia; in 2002, over 3,500 individuals were killed in one day, and over 30,000 individual bats have been reported dead across 19 events from 1994 to 2007 (Welbergen *et al.* 2008). More recent mortalities have been even larger (Mo *et al.* 2021). Variation in the vulnerability of different *Pteropus* spp. may be linked to the thickness and depth of their fur (Ratnayake *et al.* 2021).

High temperatures may also impact other bat species. The breeding success of the Soprano Pipistrelle in the Mediterranean is reduced when available maternity roosts overheat due to extreme temperatures (Lourenço & Palmeirim 2004).

Cold-related mortality can also impact bats, and would be expected to reduce in a warming climate. During an extreme winter in Germany, two bat species, Daubenton's and Bechstein's Bats, experienced a substantial population crash (Fleischer *et al.* 2017; Reusch *et al.* 2019), whilst another, Natterer's Bat, only showed a small decline (Reusch *et al.* 2019).

### 9.3 Adaptations and responses

### 9.3.1 Distribution and range shifts

# Range expansions and shifts towards higher latitudes have been observed in a few species and are predicted for many more (medium confidence).

The distribution range of bat species is often heavily influenced by temperature, though precipitation can also have some impact (Lundy *et al.* 2010; Ancillotto *et al.* 2016). Range expansions and shifts towards higher latitudes have been observed in a few species, for example Kuhl's Pipistrelle (Sachanowicz *et al.* 2006; Ancillotto *et al.* 2016), Savi's Pipistrelle (Ancillotto *et al.* 2018), Nathusius' Pipistrelle (Lundy *et al.* 2010) and Brazilian Free-tailed Bat (McCracken *et al.* 2018), and are predicted for many more (Rebelo *et al.* 2010), although accurate knowledge of distributions is missing for many species. The disappearance of a species from regions within their historic distribution receives more support to date through predictive modelling rather than observed records (Arumoogum *et al.* 2019; Razgour *et al.* 2021; Festa *et al.* 2023).

The latitudinal shift of hibernacula in Noctule Bats is suggested to be the result of generational shifts to new locations, driven mostly by first-year males (Kravchenko *et al.* 2020).

Range shifts may have important consequences for trophic interactions, with both bottom-up and top-down impacts; for example, Greater Long-nosed Bats are an important pollinator of agave plants which are in turn a food source for the bats, however, the distribution overlap between them is predicted to reduce by 75% in the next 50 years (Gómez-Ruiz & Lacher 2019).

Increasing spring temperatures can variably affect the migratory behaviour and distribution of different species. For example, the thermal response of Myotis bats' downhill migration in the Rocky Mountains (following hibernation) varies among species; in some cold-adapted species, increased temperature correlates with reduced downhill migration (Adams 2018), indicating a temperature-driven shift in distribution.

### 9.3.2 Timing of migration

# The timing of migration in bats is more affected by weather conditions, such as precipitation and wind, than temperature (low confidence).

Some bat species are able to change the timing of migration in response to wind conditions and precipitation, though not all species show a response to environmental conditions. For example, the timing of spring migration has advanced by 16 days over 22 years in Brazilian Free-tailed Bats; this shift is predominantly driven by the wind conditions at stopover areas during the migration period and not by temperature. The autumn migration was also unaffected by temperature and driven more by precipitation levels (Stepanian & Wainwright 2018; Haest *et al.* 2021).

Photoperiod was the best predictor of migration timing for Natal Long-fingered Bats in South Africa, compared to a range of environmental variables, which may make them vulnerable to phenological mismatch as climate change progresses (Pretorius *et al.* 2020).

# 10 Mammalia: Marine mammals

### 10.1 Overview of migration patterns and distributions

There are 130 marine mammals, of which 90 are listed on the CMS Appendices. Marine mammals can be split into several broad groups:

- Pinnipeds the seals, sea lions and walruses (six CMS species). Pinnipeds generally disperse from breeding grounds on land or ice to feeding waters, with less distinct summer and wintering grounds than other migratory marine mammals.
- Baleen whales such as Bowhead, Blue, Grey, Fin, North Atlantic Right, Southern Right and Humpback Whales, of which 13 are CMS species. Most baleen whales undertake long seasonal migrations between tropical calving grounds in winter and high latitude (north or south) feeding grounds in summer (Learmonth *et al.* 2006).
- Toothed whales including dolphins (32 CMS species), porpoises (seven CMS species) and other whales (25 CMS species). Dolphins and porpoises generally undertake shorter migrations between their summer and winter ranges, while Arctic species, such as Narwhal and Beluga, migrate seasonally to follow food resources and access breeding areas.
- Sirenians encompassing the three manatee species and the Dugong. These are all CMS-listed species, and are mostly coastal species that undertake shorter distance migrations.
- Polar Bears while mostly land- or ice-based, they are largely reliant on marine species as prey, hence their inclusion as marine mammals. Their migration is seasonal, following the sea ice.
- Otters of which the two CMS species are coastal species that seasonally follow food resources. There is very little research on climate change impacts for migratory otters.

Whilst pinnipeds retain a link to land, most marine mammals are highly pelagic (i.e. live largely in open ocean), meaning they occur extensively in areas beyond national jurisdiction (Lascelles *et al.* 2014). They are distributed throughout the world's oceans and most are highly migratory, leading to large transfers of biomass between latitudes (see Part 3, section 4.7, of this review). They are highly dependent on patterns of marine productivity and their abundance is highest where marine primary productivity is high, for example around deepwater and coastal upwelling zones. Most are carnivorous, with species taking a range of prey, from amphipods to large fish and other marine mammals; sirenians are herbivorous.

Fifteen percent of marine mammals are currently classified as threatened (i.e. classified by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) as Endangered or Vulnerable). They face a wide range of threats, including fishing, pollution and disturbance from human activities (which includes adaptation to climate change through marine renewables developments). Thirteen percent (65 of 480) of 'Level 1' threats (as defined by IUCN) to marine mammals are assigned to climate change or severe weather events (Lascelles *et al.* 2014).

### 10.2 Climate change impacts

### 10.2.1 Increased temperatures

# Temperature increases are likely to have a major impact on marine mammal populations indirectly via changes in food availability **(high confidence)**.

Marine mammal distribution, abundance and breeding success are often closely linked to prey availability (e.g. prey declines are linked to population declines in South American Sea Lions: Baylis *et al.* 2015; and distribution of Minke and Killer Whales: Albrecht *et al.* 2021; Vogel *et al.* 2021). Temperature increases, causing reduced food availability, are linked to reductions in Humpback Whale abundance and breeding success (Frankel *et al.* 2022) and are predicted to reduce populations of Blue, Fin, Southern Right and Humpback Whales (Tulloch *et al.* 2019). In particular, population declines are predicted for these species at mid- and lower latitudes (Learmonth *et al.* 2006; Kaschner *et al.* 2011; Tulloch *et al.* 2019; Frankel *et al.* 2022).

Krill and other copepods are important for many baleen whales and marine mammals (e.g. timing of migration for Blue Whales: Szesciorka *et al.* 2020; distribution in Humpback, Bowhead and North Atlantic Right Whales: Keiper *et al.* 2005; Silber *et al.* 2017; breeding success in Southern Right Whales and Antarctic Fur Seals: Simmonds & Isaac 2007; Bestley *et al.* 2020). Increasing temperatures are generally linked to declining krill abundance (Simmonds & Isaac 2007; Tulloch *et al.* 2019), particularly in latitudes 50–60°S (Tulloch *et al.* 2019) as observed in the east Pacific (Szesciorka *et al.* 2020). Baleen whale populations are generally predicted to decline due to declines in krill abundance (Learmonth *et al.* 2006).

Temperature increases may have a direct impact on reproductive success and survival for some species, although this relationship may be mediated by unidentified factors such as prey availability. Examples include a strong relationship between Southern Right Whale calving success and temperature (Simmonds & Isaac 2007), and a link between warmer temperatures and low mortality in Bottlenose Dolphins observed in the northern Gulf of Mexico (Meager & Limpus 2014).

Marine mammals reliant on upwelling boundary currents (e.g. Rorqual Whales: López & Methion 2019) are likely to be particularly vulnerable to climate change (Nelms *et al.* 2021).

### 10.2.2 Reduced sea ice extent

Sea ice decline and increased variability in cover in response to climate change will generally negatively impact on population size for species associated with sea ice, and may accelerate the poleward range expansion in species associated with open water (high confidence).

Sea ice declines are particularly detrimental to population sizes (Stirling & Parkinson 2006; Bromaghin *et al.* 2021), survival (Molnár *et al.* 2010, 2020), body condition (Derocher *et al.* 2004; Stirling & Parkinson 2006) and reproductive success (Peacock *et al.* 2011) of Polar Bears (see case study on page 76). Their main prey, seals, rely on sea ice for breeding, and so declines in (mostly non-migratory) seal populations due to sea ice retreat leads to a reduction in the area of suitable hunting habitat (Bromaghin *et al.* 2015), causing bears to undertake increasingly long migrations compromising their survival (Pagano & Williams 2021). Polar Bears are extremely vulnerable to climate change due to sea ice decline reducing hunting habitat. Many subpopulations are likely to become extinct over the next few decades (Castro de la Guardia *et al.* 2013). Some models predict almost complete extinction by 2100 (Hunter *et al.* 2010; Molnár *et al.* 2020).

Sea ice declines have a mixed impact on krill. Declines may increase primary productivity in some areas, increasing both food density and the seasonal availability of food for species that feed on krill (Simmonds & Isaac 2007; Laidre *et al.* 2008; Tulloch *et al.* 2019). This has positive impacts on some species (e.g. Arctic Bowhead Whale population growth and better body condition may be linked to low summer sea ice: Laidre *et al.* 2008; George *et al.* 2015). In contrast, in other areas, sea ice declines were linked to declines in abundance of krill (Truchon *et al.* 2013) and other prey species; for example, the density and distribution of Arctic Cod are predicted to decline due to sea ice reduction (Steiner *et al.* 2019).

Seal and sea lion species that are reliant on sea ice for breeding may be particularly vulnerable to climate change (Tynan & DeMaster 1997; Bestley *et al.* 2020). The Caspian and Grey Seals are the only CMS species that regularly breed on ice.

Sea ice declines may increase predation risk (Minke Whale declines have been partly linked to sea ice declines due to lack of shelter from predators: Risch *et al.* 2019). Ice entrapments for Beluga Whales and Narwhals may increase due to increasing variability in sea ice (Laidre *et al.* 2008).

Sea ice declines open the Arctic and Antarctic to migratory species earlier, leading to phenology shifts and greater use of polar regions by species that are less ice-adapted, such as Humpback, Fin, Minke, Grey, Blue, Pilot and Killer Whales, and Harbour Porpoises (Laidre *et al.* 2008; Moore & Huntington 2008; Bestley *et al.* 2020). Humpback Whale migration from Central and South America to the Antarctic peninsula has advanced by nearly 30 days in 30 years, and populations appear to be increasing (Avila *et al.* 2020). Earlier migration may lead to increased competition and predation for Arctic species (Laidre *et al.* 2008).

Increases in human activity in the Arctic enabled by sea ice loss may increase levels of toxic chemicals, pollution, boat strikes, noise pollution (which has been shown to alter migration in Bowhead Whales and other cetaceans), and fisheries interactions (entanglement in fishing gear is common) (Burek *et al.* 2008). Concentrations of persistent organic pollutants in samples taken from Polar Bears are increasing due to prolonged fasting periods (due to sea ice decline) and may be causing adverse health effects (Jenssen *et al.* 2015). On the other hand, traditional hunting of marine mammals is likely to reduce because of dangerous sea ice conditions.

Narwhals (Most Vulnerable), Beluga and Bowhead Whales are predicted to be particularly vulnerable to climate change due to decreasing habitat availability and increased competition from sub-Arctic species expanding their range northwards (Learmonth *et al.* 2006; Simmonds & Isaac 2007; Laidre *et al.* 2008; Moore 2008; Chambault *et al.* 2020; van Weelden *et al.* 2021). However, population declines in Arctic marine mammals have not been documented to date (Huntington *et al.* 2017). Arctic Bowhead Whale populations were increasing from 1978 to 2001 (some of which could reflect recovery from past over-harvesting) and had better body condition in low sea ice years (Laidre *et al.* 2008; George *et al.* 2015). There was some evidence that changes in Beluga Whale habitat selection can mitigate some effects of sea ice loss (Hauser *et al.* 2018).

### 10.2.3 Sea level rise

# Sea level rise will reduce habitat availability for some coastal breeding seals (medium confidence).

Seals that breed on coastal habitats will be particularly vulnerable to climate change as many coastal habitats are likely to be lost due to sea level rises (Simmonds & Isaac 2007).

### 10.2.4 Frequency of extreme weather events

An increase in storms and freshwater flooding can impact vulnerable coastal habitats, detrimentally affecting marine mammal species that rely on them such as inshore dolphins and Dugongs **(low confidence)**.

Freshwater floods and coastal storms threaten and reduce seagrass productivity which has been linked to high mortality of inshore dolphins and Dugongs (Meager & Limpus 2014), and reduced reproductive success and survival in the North Atlantic Right Whale (Lanyon & Burgess 2019).

### 10.2.5 Changes in ocean circulation

### Changes in the frequency and intensity of El Niño and La Niña events will have significant impacts on marine mammal distribution and mortality, but impacts will vary between species and locations (high confidence).

Oceanic weather system events such as El Niño and La Niña are predicted to increase in frequency and intensity (McPhaden *et al.* 2020), with significant influences on marine mammal distribution (Keiper *et al.* 2005), generally due to changes in food availability. For example, there is low food availability for the Subantarctic Fur Seal in years with La Niña events (Prado *et al.* 2016), there was almost complete mortality of Northern Fur Seal pups in an extreme El Niño year (Keiper *et al.* 2005), and low calving rates in North Atlantic Right Whale were associated with NAO index shifts (Simmonds & Isaac 2007). However, some dolphins have expanded their ranges in El Niño years and retained the expansions in other years (Simmonds & Isaac 2007).

Strandings increase in response to prey declines (e.g. Subantarctic Fur Seal strandings are highest in La Niña years when food availability is low: Prado *et al.* 2016; high stranding events of Beluga and Minke Whales were seen in years with low krill abundance: Truchon *et al.* 2013). Strandings of marine mammals are associated with large-scale oceanic events more widely, although effects vary between species: strandings of Atlantic White-sided Dolphin and the Minke Whale were negatively and positively correlated with the previous year NAO index respectively, while stranding numbers of Beluga Whales were positively correlated with the previous winter NAO index (Truchon *et al.* 2013). Overall, the frequency of stranding events is predicted to rise due to climate change (van Weelden *et al.* 2021).

### 10.2.6 Toxins, parasites and disease

# Temperature increases have been associated with increased mortality as a result of toxic algal blooms, disease and elevated parasite levels **(low confidence)**.

Climate change may increase or change the frequency and distribution of toxic algal blooms, likely due to increased temperature, micronutrient availability and changes in salinity (Burek *et al.* 2008). High rates of strandings across many species are associated with toxic algal blooms, for example Harbour Porpoises and Minke Whales (Truchon *et al.* 2013).

Infectious diseases and parasites in marine mammals have also increased over the last 30 years, linked to temperature increases and sea ice declines (Burek *et al.* 2008; Sanderson & Alexander 2020; Pilfold *et al.* 2021). Mass mortality events caused by disease have increased, particularly in pinnipeds (seal and sea lions) (Burek *et al.* 2008; Sanderson & Alexander 2020) but another example includes Mediterranean Striped Dolphins in the 1990s (Simmonds & Isaac 2007).

### 10.3 Adaptations and responses

### 10.3.1 Distribution and range shifts

Range shifts have been observed in many species, with consequent declines in polar species and increases in subtropical and tropical species (high confidence).

Most marine mammals are relatively able to adapt their ranges in response to changes in temperature and food availability (e.g. poleward range shifts seen in sub-Arctic whales: van Weelden *et al.* 2021; Common Dolphin, White-beaked Dolphin, Harbour Porpoise, Sperm Whale: Simmonds & Isaac 2007; Dall's Porpoise: Keiper *et al.* 2005). There is also evidence of historic and prehistoric climate-associated range shifts in whales, walruses, Narwhals, Common Dolphins and Harbour Porpoises (Laidre *et al.* 2008; Fontaine *et al.* 2010; Amaral *et al.* 2012).

In general, decreases in pinniped and cetacean species richness have been predicted at lower latitudes (below 40°), along with increases at higher latitudes (Kaschner *et al.* 2011).

River dolphins, such as the Ganges River Dolphin, and coastal cetaceans and sirenians are likely to be particularly vulnerable to climate change due to physical constraints preventing range shifts and limited patches of habitat (Learmonth *et al.* 2006; Simmonds & Isaac 2007).

#### 10.3.2 Foraging behaviour

# Species may alter their diet and foraging behaviour in response to climatic impacts on prey availability, but this may not compensate for losses in key prey (low confidence).

Some species may also be able to adapt foraging behaviour to new prey species (e.g. Humpback Whales: Benson *et al.* 2002; Fleming *et al.* 2016). There is a lot of evidence of Polar Bear diet shifting to include more non-pinniped species such as ground-nesting birds (Prop *et al.* 2015), whales (Rode *et al.* 2022), fish and blueberries (Dyck & Kebreab 2009). However, these food sources are not likely to be sufficient to make up for the reduced availability of seal prey (Petherick *et al.* 2021; Rode *et al.* 2022).

### 10.3.3 Timing of migration

# Changes in the timing of migration have been observed, with many species now arriving on the breeding grounds earlier, but population effects are mostly unknown **(low confidence)**.

Many migratory marine mammals may be able to change their phenology to adapt to changes in food availability and timing of sea ice melt (van Weelden *et al.* 2021). In general, whales that feed in the Antarctic and breed in the tropics now arrive in the tropics earlier (e.g. Humpback and Blue Whales: Avila *et al.* 2020; Ingman *et al.* 2021). Similarly, sub-Arctic breeding whales are now arriving earlier in the Arctic and departing later, as sea ice is present for less of the year (van Weelden *et al.* 2021).

However, as sea ice freeze-up becomes later, Polar Bear migration from land to sea ice is delayed, and this risks starvation for cubs, so migration cannot be delayed further (Cherry *et al.* 2013; Miller *et al.* 2022).

# 11 Reptiles

## 11.1 Overview of migration patterns and distributions

There are seven species of marine turtles, all of which are listed on the CMS Appendices, and six of which are listed as Endangered and/or Threatened (and Flatback Turtle is listed as Data Deficient). In addition to the marine turtles, the other reptiles listed on the CMS Appendices are one freshwater turtle, the Arrau Turtle, and two crocodile species. The majority of research on climate change impacts on migratory reptiles focuses on marine turtles. Marine turtles are found in all oceans, except polar regions, but typically they nest on tropical and subtropical sandy beaches. They all migrate long distances between feeding and breeding grounds, although migration patterns vary between species and even between populations. Although populations of marine turtles have undergone historic declines as a result of harvesting (of both adults and eggs), bycatch and habitat loss, the majority of populations now appear to be on an upward trajectory as a result of sustained conservation efforts (Mazaris *et al.* 2017).

### **11.2 Climate change impacts**

### 11.2.1 Increased temperature

Increasing temperatures are resulting in a higher proportion of female turtle and crocodile hatchlings (high confidence).

Turtles and crocodiles have temperature-dependent sex determination (Valenzuela 2001; Hamann *et al.* 2007; Patrício *et al.* 2021) and increases in the female:male hatchling sex ratio, due to increasing temperatures, are being observed (see Poloczanska *et al.* 2009; Santidrián Tomillo & Spotila 2020 for reviews). Changes in operational sex ratios are less well understood (Rees *et al.* 2013) and are context-dependent (Roberts *et al.* 2023). They may also be affected by adjacent land use (Jensen *et al.* 2018). The population-level impact of this is likely to be positive in most populations, as there are still enough males in most populations to fertilise eggs (Perez *et al.* 2016; Santidrián Tomillo & Spotila 2020; Maurer *et al.* 2021). However, in the future, extremely limited male populations could lead to population declines through reduced fertilisation or limited genetic diversity (Mitchell & Janzen 2010) if range shifts are not possible.

### 11.2.2 Sea level rise and increased storms

# Rises in sea levels and an increase in the frequency and intensity of storms are causing loss of nesting habitat (high confidence).

Sea level rises, and an increasing frequency and intensity of storms, will cover or inundate some current marine turtle and Salt-water Crocodile nesting beaches, leading to loss of habitat and embryo mortality (Varela *et al.* 2019; see Fukuda *et al.* 2022, Poloczanska *et al.* 2009, Fuentes *et al.* 2020, Patrício *et al.* 2021 and Dimitriadis *et al.* 2022 for reviews).

In the Mediterranean, over half of nesting sites for Loggerhead and Green Turtles are predicted to be lost by 2100 (Katselidis *et al.* 2014; Varela *et al.* 2019; Dimitriadis *et al.* 2022), and similar levels of loss are predicted in the west Atlantic for Loggerhead Turtles (Reece *et al.* 2013). One study predicted a loss of 80% of marine turtle nesting habitat by 2050 in the west Atlantic (Fuentes *et al.* 2020).

Loss of nesting habitat to sea level rise is especially a problem where there are barriers to landward movement, such as cliffs and coastal development (Katselidis *et al.* 2014; Perez *et al.* 2016; Varela *et al.* 2019).

(See also the case study on page 77 for an overview of the full range of impacts on Loggerhead Turtles.)

### **11.3** Adaptations and responses

### 11.3.1 Distribution and range shifts

Poleward range shifts have been observed but are likely to be constrained by anthropogenic pressures in potential new areas, although conservation actions can be targeted in such areas (medium confidence).

Range shifts will be the key to marine turtle adaptation to climate change, as they shift their distribution poleward in response to warmer temperatures (Perez *et al.* 2016). The major threat that will prevent range shifts is human coastal development and the availability of suitable nesting beaches in new areas (Fuentes *et al.* 2020). Turtles typically return to the beaches where they were born to lay eggs; this may limit their ability to shift ranges, but the extent to which this occurs is not clear (Wright *et al.* 2012). There is evidence of Loggerhead Turtle range shifts in the Mediterranean Sea (Girard *et al.* 2021) but more research into the ability of sea turtles to shift their ranges is required (Hawkes *et al.* 2009).

Human interventions could include shading beaches e.g. by tree planting (Mitchell & Janzen 2010), preventing coastal development on emerging nest beaches (Girard *et al.* 2021) and translocation of eggs (Hawkes *et al.* 2007).

### 11.3.2 Timing of migration

Phenology shifts, particularly earlier nesting, may help to prevent extreme sex ratios if this means that the turtle eggs develop at lower temperatures after being laid earlier in the season (Laloë *et al.* 2016).

# 12 Actinopterygii (Bony fish)

### 12.1 Overview of migration patterns and distributions

Many fish migrate to some extent, either within their freshwater or marine environments, or by crossing the two, with anadromous fish, such as Salmon, migrating to freshwater areas to breed, and catadromous fish, such as eels, migrating to marine areas to breed. Some fish, particularly pelagic species such as tuna, can migrate large distances, and are classified as Highly Mobile Species by the UN Convention on the Law of the Sea. Twenty species are listed on the CMS Appendices, of which 18 species are in the family Acipenseridae (sturgeons), with the other two species being Giant Catfish and European Eel. One species listed on Appendix II, the Chinese Paddlefish, was declared extinct in 2022. Sturgeon live in subtropical, temperate and subarctic rivers and coastal regions of Eurasia and North America. Most migratory sturgeon species live in the ocean for most of their lives but migrate, generally in the spring or early summer, to freshwater rivers and streams to spawn. Some migratory sturgeon, such as the Lake Sturgeon, are freshwater species that migrate from larger lakes and rivers to smaller streams to spawn.

Fish that migrate from oceans to freshwater have experienced dramatic population declines, with many having reduced by over 90% since the 1970s (Limburg & Waldman 2009; He *et al.* 2019). For example, the European Sturgeon has been lost from all European rivers except one, a 99% range reduction (He *et al.* 2019). The main drivers of these declines are habitat loss (especially from damming) and degradation, overfishing and pollution (Limburg & Waldman 2009; Arthington *et al.* 2016; Ruban *et al.* 2019). Climate change has been identified as a 'key threat' to migratory fish in less than 10% (31 of 358) of cases (Lascelles *et al.* 2014).

The impact of climate change on fish (not just migratory ones) has recently been reviewed by Dahms & Killen (2023). Poleward shifts in distribution were fastest in tropical populations, and inversely correlated with depth shifts which, in turn, dominated at the trailing edges of population ranges, with niche a key factor influencing responses to temperature change. Temperature, river flow, salinity, oceanic conditions and changes in food webs can all have large impacts on these species, but there is also evidence of adaptability. This makes population-level impacts difficult to predict. However, the evidence suggests that climate change will have increasingly negative impacts on these species.

### 12.2 Climate change impacts

### 12.2.1 Increased temperature

# Temperature increases are generally associated with reductions in spawning and survival (medium confidence).

Temperature increases in freshwater rivers and streams reduces the dissolved oxygen (Ficke *et al.* 2007) and reduces flow rates as evaporation is increased. The combination of these effects generally reduces the frequency and success of spawning in anadromous fish (Goto *et al.* 2018; Delage *et al.* 2020; Crichigno & Cussac 2022). Spawning generally occurs within a specific temperature window, so for many sturgeon species the spawning season is shortening as temperatures rise (Elisio *et al.* 2015; Limburg *et al.* 2016; e.g. Chinese Sturgeon: Zhang *et al.* 2019; Zhang *et al.* 2021). However, in some species and populations, warming has increased the spawning window (Domagala *et al.* 2014).

Increasing temperatures can alter fish metabolism, lowering body condition when food availability is low (e.g. Green Sturgeon: Poletto *et al.* 2018) and increasing the toxicity of pollutants (Ficke *et al.* 2007; Grunow *et al.* 2021).

Sturgeon appear to have high physiological adaptability to changes in temperature (Zhang *et al.* 2017; Jay *et al.* 2020; e.g. Siberian Sturgeon: Yang *et al.* 2023). However, cellular stress increased with temperature (e.g. Lake Sturgeon: Wassink *et al.* 2019) which reduced body condition and increased mortality in the long term (Bard & Kieffer 2019; e.g. Russian Sturgeon: Castellano *et al.* 2017; Lake Sturgeon: Bugg *et al.* 2020).

Temperature increases reduce spawning habitat availability (e.g. Lake Sturgeon: Lyons & Stewart 2014). This has led to reduced populations for many, if not most, migratory fish (Goto *et al.* 2018) and is likely to lead to the disappearance of species at the warm edges of their ranges (Lassalle *et al.* 2010; Kynard *et al.* 2016).

The warming of coastal waters reduces recruitment numbers and survival of the European Eel in wetlands around the Mediterranean Sea, and causes earlier colonisation through increased migratory responses (Borges *et al.* 2019) (see the case study on Mediterranean wetlands on page 78).

Increasing temperatures may occasionally be favourable, although high fidelity to natal spawning grounds may limit opportunities for range expansion (Rothermel *et al.* 2020). Increasing temperatures in the Baltic Sea may be favourable for European Sturgeon and it has been suggested this might facilitate reintroduction efforts there, although intensive fishing activities would need to be reduced first (Popov 2017).

Other impacts of temperature increases include increased migration distances and increased competition between juveniles as habitat is lost (Niklitschek & Secor 2005; Goto *et al.* 2018). Sturgeon migration and spawning generally occurs earlier due to rising temperatures (Limburg *et al.* 2016; Delage *et al.* 2020; del Fresno *et al.* 2021), although this can vary between populations (e.g. Lake Sturgeon: Buchinger *et al.* 2022).

Warming generally has a negative impact on fish populations (Pearce-Higgins *et al.* 2015b), and the overall effects of temperature rises are predicted to be detrimental to fish health and populations globally (Huang *et al.* 2021; Levangie *et al.* 2022).

Climate change is likely to have complex impacts on food webs that will impact migratory fish (Ficke *et al.* 2007). Warming sea surface temperatures can cause changes in timing and abundance of plankton blooms, reducing food availability for small fish (Burthe *et al.* 2012).

Increasing temperatures and changes in flow rates are also likely to impact freshwater food availability, although there is little research on this. Prey availability for Green Sturgeon is predicted to decline as temperatures increase (Vaz *et al.* 2015; Zarri & Palkovacs 2019).

In Arctic regions, warming may increase the productivity of inshore marine habitats used by anadromous fishes, but this may be counterbalanced by decreased flows in spawning rivers (Limburg & Waldman 2009).

### 12.2.2 Reduced flow of rivers

# Alterations in river flow will impact populations, with climate-driven reductions in flow rates likely to negatively impact the abundance and breeding success of species (medium confidence).

Climate change will alter river flow patterns and increase the frequency and severity of droughts and floods, which will lessen the frequency of successful reproduction, leading to losses in suitable catchments (Limburg & Waldman 2009; Pfeiffer *et al.* 2021). For example, increased fluctuations in flow in the Volga River is thought to have contributed to declines in reproduction in Beluga and Russian Sturgeons (Ruban *et al.* 2019).

Migratory sturgeon abundance (Hammen *et al.* 2018) and reproductive success (Scarnecchia *et al.* 2019) are likely to be negatively impacted by declines in waterflow in spawning grounds, particularly in the late spring and summer (Limburg & Waldman 2009; Limburg *et al.* 2016). For example, projected declines in May river flow are predicted to increase the extinction risk for many Lake Sturgeon populations (van der Lee *et al.* 2022).

Higher flow rates can also be negative: increased winter flow rates can scour stream beds and damage spawning grounds (Limburg *et al.* 2016). Increased flow can also flush young fish out of rivers before they are physiologically ready for the transition (Limburg *et al.* 2016). High flow rates can also affect food availability: Green Sturgeon prey decreased at higher flow rates (Zarri & Palkovacs 2019).

There is a predicted increase in hurricanes which have been found to cause mass mortality events in sturgeon. However, recruitment after hurricanes has been found to increase, making long-term impacts difficult to predict (Dula *et al.* 2022).

### 12.2.3 Increased acidification of water

# Increased CO<sub>2</sub> acidifies salt and freshwater, but impacts on migratory sturgeon appear to be limited so far **(low confidence)**.

An increase in CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations causes salt and freshwater to become more acidic, which has complex effects on fish physiology and marine and aquatic communities (see Havas & Rosseland 1995; Heuer & Grosell 2014; Nagelkerken *et al.* 2016; and Esbaugh 2018 for reviews). In particular, ocean acidification can reduce the growth of zooplankton (Reynolds *et al.* 2022) which could reduce food availability for sturgeon.

Acidification of the ocean has also been shown to hinder migratory responses of European Eels by reducing their ability to follow riverine cues for migration (Borges *et al.* 2019) (see also the case study on Mediterranean wetlands on page 78).

However, migratory sturgeon, at least, appear to be able to adapt to increasingly acidic conditions (Hannan & Rummer 2018), so there is little evidence currently of negative effects and more research is needed.

### 12.2.4 Changes in salinity

Changes in salinity associated with changes in the flow of freshwater may impact migratory fish, although with uncertain population-level impacts (low confidence).

Climate change is likely to bring changes in the salinity of estuaries and rivers. Increases in winter river discharge will decrease estuary salinity (Sardella & Kultz 2014), while temperature rises and a reduction in summer rainfall can bring brackish water further upstream in the summer (Breece *et al.* 2013). Increased summer salinity has caused spawning habitat loss in some species (Breece *et al.* 2013).

Green Sturgeon were found to be able to acclimate to salinity changes, but it did cause cellular stress in individuals, making long-term population-level impacts difficult to predict (Sardella & Kultz 2014; Vaz *et al.* 2015).

#### 12.2.5 Changes in ocean currents

# Changes in ocean currents may impact oceanic migration, potentially affecting phenology, distribution and survival **(low confidence)**.

It is predicted that climate change will alter oceanic currents and weather patterns. For example, weather events such as El Niño and La Niña are predicted to increase in frequency and magnitude (McPhaden *et al.* 2020). The impacts of these changes are likely to be complex and vary between location and species, and there is no research on how predicted changes to ocean currents will affect migratory sturgeon.

Changes in the Gulf Stream could have negative impacts on the migration of American and European Eels which rely on it for food and transport (Limburg & Waldman 2009).

### 12.3 Adaptations and responses

### 12.3.1 Distribution and range shifts

# Poleward shifts in range have been observed, but are likely to be constrained by the distribution, and accessibility, of spawning grounds (low confidence).

There are many examples of poleward range shifts in migratory fish (Jeon *et al.* 2020). However, many migratory fish return to their natal spawning grounds, which will reduce their ability to shift ranges (Rothermel *et al.* 2020), so translocation may be necessary for some species if natural range shifts are not occurring. There is evidence of successful translocation of Lake Sturgeon (Boothroyd *et al.* 2018).

Conservation efforts to restore freshwater and tidal wetlands, increase floodplain connectivity and remove dams can stabilise or increase population sizes (Limburg *et al.* 2016). However, the long-term survival of many sturgeon species, such as the Adriatic and Chinese Sturgeons, currently depends on artificial stocking (He *et al.* 2019).

### **12.3.2** Timing of migration

# *Earlier migration and breeding timings have been observed, but evidence is lacking as to whether this is adaptive or maladaptive (low confidence).*

Sturgeon migration and spawning generally occurs earlier due to rising temperatures (Limburg & Waldman 2009; Limburg *et al.* 2016; Delage *et al.* 2020; del Fresno *et al.* 2021). In some cases, this may be adaptive behaviour, while for some species these life-cycle stages may be driven by physiological cues and could be maladaptive.

# 13 Chondrichthyes (Sharks and rays)

### 13.1 Overview of migration patterns and distributions

The Chondrichthyes (sharks, rays, skates and sawfish) are a large group of, mostly marine, fish, typified by their cartilaginous skeleton, possessing a series of paired gill arches and a rigid dorsal fin. They are widely distributed throughout the world's oceans, with some species spending most of their lives in the open ocean and others living or reproducing in shallow waters and coastal habitats. Migration patterns and distances vary between species, but many are migratory, and some cover large distances and are recognised as Highly Mobile Species on Annex I of the UN Convention on the Law of the Sea.

Thirty-nine species are listed on the Appendices of the CMS and most of these are classified as Endangered (or, indeed, Critically Endangered) on the IUCN Red List. Since 1970, the global abundance of oceanic sharks and rays has declined by 71%, largely due to an 18-fold increase in relative fishing pressure (Dulvy *et al.* 2014; Pacoureau *et al.* 2021). Another major threat is coastal habitat loss, mainly from fishing activities such as trawling (Lawson *et al.* 2020). Somewhat remarkably, climate change has not been formally identified as a key threat to any cartilaginous fish species (Lascelles *et al.* 2014), although more recent assessments suggest that around 10% of threatened shark and ray species are impacted by climate change (in addition to overfishing), due to poleward range shifts (e.g. Tanaka *et al.* 2021) and habitat loss and degradation (Jorgensen *et al.* 2022).

The impacts of climate change on sharks and rays are complex, due to various physiological, behavioural and ecological changes (Heath *et al.* 2012). For most species, research on the impacts of climate change has been limited. In general, sharks and rays may be more vulnerable to climate change than most other fish, invertebrate and mammal taxa in the marine environment because they have low reproduction rates and a potentially lower ability to adapt (Field *et al.* 2009; Hazen *et al.* 2013; Walker *et al.* 2021).

### 13.2 Climate change impacts

### 13.2.1 Increased temperatures

# Temperature increases are likely to have widespread impacts on shark and ray distributions and populations, with many species likely to decline in abundance (medium confidence).

Temperature is a key determinant of shark and ray distribution (e.g. Silky Shark: Kindong *et al.* 2022) and some species have been shown to be extremely sensitive to very small changes in temperature (e.g. Basking Sharks: Brown *et al.* 2003). There is evidence of past climate-driven changes in population size and distribution. In general, species more reliant on coastal habitats were more affected by climate change, positively or negatively depending on the species (O'Brien *et al.* 2013; Schlaff *et al.* 2014).

Abundance changes of many species are linked to temperature. Abundance changes are often mediated in the short term by food availability, (e.g. Whale Sharks: Grose *et al.* 2020) but in the long term by physiological thermal preferences based on metabolic rates and trade-offs (Sims 2008; Deepananda & Macusi 2012; Heath *et al.* 2012; Schlaff *et al.* 2014; Reynolds *et al.* 2022). For example, Basking Shark abundance in British waters is positively correlated with temperature, linked to increases in their copepod prey (Cotton *et al.* 2005; Robinson *et al.* 2009). Conversely, Scalloped Hammerhead Shark and *Mobula* rays declined substantially in the tropics when sea surface temperature rose by a few degrees (Osgood *et al.* 2021). Declines in deep-water Mediterranean sharks have also been linked to temperature increases (Cartes *et al.* 2013).

Temperature increases are predicted to lead to habitat loss for many shark species (Hazen *et al.* 2013; Jorgensen *et al.* 2022). A large decline in range extent is predicted for most open-water species in the north Pacific, with an exception for the White Shark where habitat increases are predicted (Hazen *et al.* 2013). A decline in Silky and Dusky Shark habitat has been predicted, particularly in south Asian waters (Diaz-Carballido *et al.* 2022).

Larger species tend to be less tolerant of high temperatures (Di Santo 2016; Vilmar & Di Santo 2022). In the North Sea, larger species have declined in recent years while smaller species have increased (Sguotti *et al.* 2016).

Smaller body size and lower body condition at warmer temperatures have been found in many species, potentially due to decreased nutrient uptake (Koenigstein *et al.* 2016; Vilmar & Di Santo 2022). However, muscle performance is improved by warmer temperatures (Vilmar & Di Santo 2022). Reproduction may be more successful and development time quicker at higher temperatures (Schlaff *et al.* 2014; Pistevos *et al.* 2015; Poulakis & Grubbs 2019; Santos *et al.* 2021).

Temperature increases could reduce the risk of lower temperature-related mortality events (i.e. 'cold kills'), often of juveniles or eggs, while increased temperature variability could increase this risk (Schlaff *et al.* 2014; Pistevos *et al.* 2015; Rosa *et al.* 2017; Poulakis & Grubbs 2019).

Other potential impacts of temperature rise, that require more research, include competition from invading non-native species and the increasing prevalence of disease (Field *et al.* 2009).

### 13.2.2 Increased ocean acidification

# The effect of acidification on sharks and rays is very uncertain but, in general, acidification is linked to declines in shark fitness (low confidence).

An increase in CO<sub>2</sub> causes seawater to become more acidic, which can reduce the growth of zooplankton and has been predicted to lead to population declines for Whale Sharks and other planktivorous sharks (Reynolds *et al.* 2022).

Acidification can reduce olfactory function in sharks and rays, reducing sharks' ability to hunt (Pistevos *et al.* 2015; Koenigstein *et al.* 2016; Jorgensen *et al.* 2022). Acidification may also affect swimming rates, skeletal density, locomotor performance, brain development and function (Pistevos *et al.* 2015; Di Santo 2016; Jorgensen *et al.* 2022; Vilmar & Di Santo 2022). However, the extent of these impacts, when interacting with temperature increases is unclear.

#### 13.2.3 Increased frequency and severity of storms

# Increased frequency and severity of storms may impact coastal habitats and salinity, with uncertain long-term impacts on species **(low confidence)**.

Increasing rainfall and storms will cause declines in salinity in many coastal regions (Grose *et al.* 2020). Many shark and ray species rely on coastal habitats, particularly in juvenile stages and most species occupy very narrow salinity ranges (Schlaff *et al.* 2014).

Movement out of areas after extreme rainfall events has been noted in many species (Schlaff *et al.* 2014; Gutowsky *et al.* 2021) and declines may arise if movement is not possible or salinity increases cause habitat loss (Morash *et al.* 2016). However, some species have shown high resilience to rapid changes in salinity, for example Smalltooth Sawfish (Brame *et al.* 2019) and Tope Shark (Morash *et al.* 2016).

Oceanic weather systems events such as El Niño and La Niña are predicted to increase in frequency and magnitude (McPhaden *et al.* 2020) and have a big influence on shark and ray abundance, often due to changes in food availability. However, responses to these events are species- and region-specific. Whale Sharks (southwest Pacific), Blue Sharks (southeast Pacific) and Scalloped Hammerhead Sharks (southeast Pacific) increased during La Niña conditions (Sleeman *et al.* 2010; Adams *et al.* 2016; Osgood *et al.* 2021); Scalloped Hammerhead Sharks declined during El Niño conditions (southeast Pacific: Osgood *et al.* 2021) while oceanic Manta Rays did not respond to El Niño events in the southeast Pacific but increased in the southwest Pacific (Beale *et al.* 2019; Osgood *et al.* 2021).

(See the case study on page 80 for other examples of the impacts of storms and cyclones.)

### 13.3 Adaptations and responses

### 13.3.1 Distribution and range shifts

# Poleward shifts of distribution are expected but some species may be constrained by their use of specific breeding habitats (medium confidence).

Temperature increases are likely to lead to poleward range shifts and altered migration routes (Field *et al.* 2009; Deepananda & Macusi 2012; Heath *et al.* 2012; Heupel *et al.* 2019; Osland *et al.* 2021). Examples of impacted species include the Scalloped Hammerhead Shark (Rodriguez-Burgos *et al.* 2022), Whale Shark (Sequeira *et al.* 2013), Basking Shark (Field *et al.* 2009) and White Shark (Bastien *et al.* 2020; Tanaka *et al.* 2021). Species reliant on particular habitats, such as reefs, may be less able to shift their range and therefore be more vulnerable to climate change (Heupel *et al.* 2019).

Actions to reduce the impacts of overfishing can make additional climate change impacts less significant. Marine Protected Areas have proved to be beneficial for many sharks (White *et al.* 2017; Walker *et al.* 2021); for example, a targeted fisheries ban for Undulate Rays in 2009 benefitted this and similar species (Elliott *et al.* 2020).

### 13.3.2 Timing of migration

### Changes in migration patterns may result from increased water temperatures (low confidence).

Changes in migration phenology have been linked to rising temperatures (Field *et al.* 2009; Schlaff *et al.* 2014). For example, the timing of sawfish movement from the shallows, where they tend to be as juveniles, to deep water is influenced by temperature (Poulakis & Grubbs 2019). However, there are few documented cases of phenology changes in sharks and rays.



# 14 Insects

# 14.1 Overview of migration patterns and distributions

Insects from many groups are migratory, with some migrating long distances and having significant ecological impacts, although these are often underappreciated (Satterfield *et al.* 2020). Most insect migration, though, involves multi-generational cycles, with a series of successive stationary and movement phases, thus the seasonal 'journey' is undertaken at the population rather than individual level. Hundreds of species of insects are known to migrate, particularly in the orders Lepidoptera (butterflies/moths), Orthoptera (grasshoppers), Anisoptera (dragonflies) and Hemiptera (aphids), although only one species, the migratory Monarch Butterfly, is included on the CMS Appendices.

Monarch Butterflies are most commonly found in North America but also occur in Central America, South America and the Caribbean islands. There has been some expansion into Oceania coinciding with the introduction of their host plants (milkweed *Asclepias* species), and more recently towards North Africa/Southern Europe (Malcolm 2018). Not all populations of Monarch migrate, although the majority of the North American populations show a multi-generational migration moving between Canada, USA and Mexico (Dingle *et al.* 2005). They have been intensively studied, and responses to climate and other factors vary between populations. A study comparing the contributions of climate change, deforestation and milkweed abundance suggests that the decline in Monarch population size over the past 21 years is driven more by a reduction in the abundance of milkweeds linked to an increased use of genetically modified crops (Flockhart *et al.* 2015).

# 14.2 Climate change impacts

### 14.2.1 Increased temperatures

Monarch Butterflies generally benefit from warmer and wetter conditions through spring and summer, and warmer winters, but are negatively affected by extreme heat or cold **(high confidence)**.

The abundance of Monarchs in the American Midwest in summer is higher when spring in Texas is wetter (Saunders *et al.* 2016; Saunders *et al.* 2018) and, similarly, warmer winters and warmer and wetter springs are associated with increased population sizes in Northern California; however, this did not explain the long-term negative population trends in the region (Espeset *et al.* 2016).

Population size is projected to decrease in Mexico and in areas where summer temperature will increase greatly, and to increase in areas that become wetter and show less extreme temperature rises (Zylstra *et al.* 2022). The increase in population size across North America in summer is suggested to currently compensate for the decrease in population over winter (Crewe *et al.* 2019; Crossley *et al.* 2022).

The effect of temperature on developmental success differs depending on the exposure of the larval microclimate: in exposed locations, high temperatures reduce success but in shaded areas, high temperatures increase success (Yang *et al.* 2022a). The authors suggest that habitat heterogeneity may therefore buffer the impacts of climate variability.

### 14.3 Adaptations and responses

Climate change is likely to result in a northward breeding range shift associated with likely changes in milkweed distribution. The effect of this on range extent is unclear, as are potential future changes in migration (medium confidence).

Climate change is predicted to result in a northward breeding range shift. Milkweed distribution is an important driver of Monarch Butterfly distribution, and both are predicted to expand northward. It has been suggested that these range shifts may reduce the amount of suitable habitat for Monarch Butterflies during their northward migration (Batalden *et al.* 2014; Lemoine 2015), but others predict the range size of suitable habitat to remain relatively consistent as the distribution shifts north (Svancara *et al.* 2019).

Temperature and precipitation can impact migration timing, but impacts seem to be variable with some study areas demonstrating effects (New Jersey: Culbertson *et al.* 2022), whilst others do not (Ohio: Zipkin *et al.* 2012).

# 15 Conclusions and recommendations

### 15.1 Key messages from the evidence base

This Part 1 review builds on a growing evidence base of the impacts of climate change on biological systems. These **impacts are increasingly apparent across a range of scales from genetic to ecosystems** (Scheffers *et al.* 2016). The increasing magnitude of climate change (and its increasing variability) means that these impacts on the distribution of, and interactions between, organisms, and hence ecosystems, are increasingly altered; and also that this, if not abated, will exceed the adaptive capacity of many ecosystems (Pörtner *et al.* 2021). As noted in a previous review of climate change impacts on migratory species by Robinson *et al.* (2005), the long-distance movements of these species make them particularly vulnerable, exposing them to multiple and differential impacts throughout their annual cycle, any one of which may be limiting. That review highlighted the importance of these impacts at high latitudes, where warming has been greatest and migratory species make up the greatest proportion of biological communities. Migrants were thought to be particularly vulnerable to emerging impacts of changes in the timing of biological events (e.g. Møller *et al.* 2008) and, more broadly, to impacts on highly productive seasonal habitats which their migratory movements enable them to exploit (Robinson *et al.* 2009).

Our review extends and updates that previous work. In the sections below, we list summary impact statements for each broad driver of impacts for each species group/subgroup, and offer a brief commentary on the strength of evidence for each. In each section, groups for which there is high confidence in the level of impacts are listed first, followed by those with medium and low confidence. But first, using those highlights, we identify what we regard as some of the key changes in the evidence available from the last decade or more of scientific research on the impacts of climate change on migratory species.

There is now particularly strong evidence of the impacts of climate change on migratory species in aquatic, especially marine, environments. This evidence is apparent across the range of taxa reviewed, including marine mammals, migratory fish, sharks and rays, and seabirds. These impacts tend to be more negative than found in the terrestrial environment, and appear to be particularly a consequence of cascading impacts through the food chain (e.g. Carroll *et al.* 2015a; Johnston *et al.* 2022). In marine systems, warming disrupts the timing and abundance of plankton food, particularly in highly seasonal shallow seas, which then affects the productivity and abundance of fish and other secondary consumers, which in turn can affect the productivity, survival, distribution and abundance of top marine predators. A key message from this report is therefore that migratory marine predators, across a range of taxa, are highly vulnerable to negative impacts of warming. Although well described in many medium- and high-latitude

shallow seas that are highly seasonal, these processes also affect tropical species where El Niño years can reduce the breeding success of central-place foraging seabirds (e.g. Ancona *et al.* 2012) or cause mortality in marine mammals.

The impacts of temperature affecting high-latitude systems are widely documented, and the evidence for these has strengthened, with mixed consequences for migratory species, either directly or indirectly as it is more likely to increase the abundance of non-migratory species (e.g. Pearce-Higgins et al. 2015a) with which they may compete. The effects of warming will be most important at mid- and high latitudes, whilst changes in precipitation will have the greatest impacts at low latitudes, where reduced water availability will negatively impact wetland species such as waterbirds (e.g. Breiner et al. 2021) and fish (e.g. Pfeiffer et al. 2021), through the loss of wetlands or changes in river flow affecting migratory movements. Terrestrial species such as migratory land mammals, trans-Saharan migrants and grassland passerines (e.g. Deiene et al. 2021) will also be widely affected by changes in rainfall patterns in the tropics. mediated through impacts on vegetation productivity. Thus, these terrestrial systems are similarly affected by a cascade of impacts through the food chain (Ockendon et al. 2014). In addition, recent research has highlighted the additional vulnerability of tropical birds and bats, particularly in arid and semi-arid environments, to extreme heat, which can cause large-scale sudden mortality (e.g. Dey et al. 2015). Increased frequency of heatwaves may therefore be a key driver of changes in the distribution and abundance of migratory species in these environments. Tropical species are therefore particularly impacted by a combination of changes in precipitation (drought) and heat stress.

**Increases in the severity of extreme events, particularly storms, can have large, but Iocalised, negative consequences**, for example leading to the abandonment of breeding attempts in seabirds and waterbirds (Weston & Fraser 2020), or causing large-scale mortality. These events are most likely to have significant consequences for species' extinction risk if that species has fragmented, small and localised populations. For coastal species, sea level rise will exacerbate population vulnerability to extreme events associated with storm surges.

Overall, **there is widespread evidence of changes in the distribution and phenology of migratory species**. In particular, poleward range shifts and earlier migration and breeding are occurring in temperature-driven medium and high latitudes, and more mixed directional shifts are apparent in the tropics, depending on changes in rainfall (VanDerWal *et al.* 2013). While changes in climate suitability may drive distributional change, these will be strongly constrained by land use, with range spread most likely where large areas of suitable habitat remain close to existing populations (Howard *et al.* 2020, 2023). Despite concerns about the potential for changes in phenology driving asynchrony in the timing of resource availability and the peaks in food requirements of migratory species, the evidence for this having significant and largescale population consequences remains weak (Franks *et al.* 2018; Samplonius *et al.* 2021). This suggests that direct impacts of climate change on prey abundance are more significant than changes in timing.

In this review, we examined the evidence for the impacts of climate change on migratory species. It was not within the scope of this review to examine literature on the impacts of human adaptations to climate change, such as increasing numbers of wind turbines and other renewable energy technologies, or predicted changes in agriculture. This may have large impacts on some

migratory animals. For example, a major cause of mortality in bats is the installation of wind turbines, and this can also impact migratory birds (Thaxter *et al.* 2017). **A further review of the impacts of human adaptations to climate change on migratory species would be useful**.

A further point to emphasise is that **the evidence base on the impacts of climate change on biodiversity is biased**, particularly towards northern and higher latitudes, especially from Europe and North America, with a relative lack of research from the tropics and the Global South (Ockendon *et al.* 2014; Dahms & Killen 2023). This means there is considerable uncertainty about the impacts of climate change on species in the tropics, where the majority of species are found. Further, the strong latitudinal gradients that exist in relation to the importance of temperature and precipitation on biological systems (Pearce-Higgins *et al.* 2015b), mean that the evidence that does exist from better studied systems cannot simply be extrapolated to those understudied regions, habitats and taxa. As the summary below highlights, whilst some key migratory groups are relatively well studied, particularly some of the bird groups, others are relatively poorly studied, such as bats, leading to an urgent need to better document the impacts of climate change on those taxa. Such evidence is critically important not just to inform vulnerability assessments to climate change (Foden *et al.* 2019), but also to inform climate change adaptation – with growing evidence that targeted conservation actions can actually help species adapt to climate change (Bowgen *et al.* 2022).

Finally, although we tried to approach the review in a systematic way, and have recorded our search terms so that it could be repeated, we recommend that a useful next step would be to convene appropriate experts across the range of taxa groups and geographical regions to review this evidence synthesis and identify priority areas for action.

Summary impact statements and an evidence commentary follow below.

### 15.2 Increased temperatures

Globally, temperatures have increased and will continue to do so. There is strong evidence that such increases in temperatures have already affected most migratory species groups. There is a wide range of mechanisms for climate-driven changes in distribution, abundance and migration, such as changes in food availability and thermal limits, which will vary between species and species groups, but impacts are mostly negative.

### 15.2.1 High confidence

**Seabirds:** Many seabird species show generally negative associations with sea surface temperature, with well-demonstrated effects on survival, breeding success and population abundance.

**Waterbirds:** The effect of increased temperatures on breeding success and survival varies between species, but generally seems to have a short-term neutral or positive effect, at least for species breeding at higher latitudes.

**Marine mammals:** Temperature increases are likely to have a major impact on marine mammal populations indirectly via changes in food availability.

**Reptiles:** Increasing temperatures are resulting in a higher proportion of female turtle and crocodile hatchlings.

**Monarch Butterflies:** Monarch Butterflies generally benefit from warmer and wetter conditions through spring and summer, as well as warmer winters, but are negatively affected by extreme heat or cold.

**Terrestrial mammals:** Rising temperatures can cause heat stress, impacting productivity, and are generally linked to population declines.

#### 15.2.2 Medium confidence

Waterbirds: Extreme temperatures (both hot and cold) are detrimental to waterbirds.

Afro-Palearctic passerines: Increased temperatures generally promote an abundance of insect prey, which are the primary source of food in the breeding season (less so in the boreal winter months), and often result in higher breeding success, if temperatures are not too extreme.

**Bony fish:** Temperature increases are generally associated with reductions in spawning and survival.

**Sharks and rays:** Temperature increases are likely to have widespread impacts on shark and ray distributions and populations, with many species likely to decline in abundance.

#### 15.2.3 Low confidence

**Raptors:** The effects of temperature change appear relatively weak, with no strong impact of temperature upon breeding success.

**Afro-Palearctic passerines:** Increased temperatures in the spring can lead to earlier insect emergence, and hence asynchrony with the timing of breeding.

**Grassland passerines:** There is growing evidence that extreme heat can have negative impacts on tropical species through sudden and catastrophic mortality. This does not appear to result from drought, but from physiological responses to heat stress.

**Terrestrial mammals:** Rising temperatures may benefit some populations in cold environments by reducing the risk of higher mortality linked to severe cold.

**Bats:** Changes in temperature are likely to affect foraging efficiency and flight behaviour with uncertain consequences for populations. Warming may also affect the abundance of key invertebrate prey in different and contrasting ways, with variable impacts on bat populations, depending on diet, taxa and climate change context.

**Marine mammals:** Temperature increases have been associated with increased mortality as a result of toxic algal blooms, disease and elevated parasite levels.

### 15.3 Changes in water availability

Alongside increased temperatures, in many regions there will be a reduction in water availability through reduced precipitation and increased frequency of droughts, and also increased human abstraction of water. However, in some areas, rates of precipitation will increase. Species occurring in drier temperate and subtropical areas, or relying on freshwater habitats, will be negatively affected whether they are migratory or not. The migration of fish and waterbirds is likely to be particularly impacted by loss of wetlands and reduced river flows, especially where these reduce the coherence of networks of stopover sites.

### 15.3.1 High confidence

**Afro-Palearctic passerines:** Annual variation in the survival and abundance of long-distance migratory passerines, especially those that spend the boreal winter in African drylands (such as the Sahel), tends to be most strongly linked (positively) to variation in rainfall there.

**Terrestrial mammals:** Changes in rainfall patterns are likely to have a significant impact on many terrestrial mammal populations, particularly in the tropics given the strong links between rainfall, primary productivity and food resources.

#### 15.3.2 Medium confidence

**Waterbirds:** Increased precipitation can have a positive effect on breeding success, and drought a negative impact, at least on temperate breeding waterbirds. Where precipitation is predicted to fall, especially in the summer months, overall effects are likely to be negative.

**Raptors:** Changes in precipitation can affect breeding success, although the direction of the effect varies depending on the general climate and habitat the birds breed in. Rainfall tends to have a positive effect on tropical breeding raptor populations through impacts on prey abundance, whilst at higher latitudes, more negative responses to precipitation are likely due to chilling and reduced foraging opportunities.

**Bony fish:** Alterations in river flow will impact populations, with climate-driven reductions in flow rates likely to negatively impact the abundance and breeding success of species.

### 15.3.3 Low confidence

**Grassland passerines:** Tropical systems tend to be rainfall-limited, rather than temperaturelimited, and therefore the strongest climate change impacts on tropical migratory passerines are likely to be through changes in precipitation patterns, which are mixed, depending on location.

**Bats:** Reduced water availability and drought can reduce breeding success, migration and competitive dynamics amongst species.

### **15.4 Extreme weather events**

The frequency of storms and other extreme weather events is expected to increase, although, by their very nature, the pattern of occurrence is hard to predict. Evidence of long-lasting impacts is scattered, but they are likely to be negative where they do occur.

#### 15.4.1 High confidence

**Seabirds:** Increased frequency of stormy weather can impact on the survival and breeding success of some species, depending on the timing, with potential consequences for population size.

**Reptiles:** An increase in the frequency and intensity of storms is causing loss of nesting habitat.

#### 15.4.2 Medium confidence

**Terrestrial mammals:** Where droughts are projected to increase in severity and frequency, they are likely to negatively impact populations of migratory mammals. Heavy rain and flooding can cause localised impacts, but generally appear to have weak population impacts.

**Bats:** The response of bat populations to extreme events is usually negative, either in terms of range contraction or population reduction.

#### 15.4.3 Low confidence

**Marine mammals:** An increase in storms and freshwater flooding can impact vulnerable coastal habitats, detrimentally affecting populations that rely on them, particularly for coastal species such as inshore dolphins and Dugongs.

**Sharks and rays:** Increased frequency and severity of storms may impact coastal habitats and salinity, with uncertain long-term impacts on species.

### 15.5 Sea level rise

Globally, sea levels are rising and there is strong evidence that species breeding in low-lying coastal areas will be negatively impacted through loss of habitat, especially in areas with high levels of human developments.

#### 15.5.1 High confidence

**Waterbirds:** Sea level rise is predicted to cause habitat loss, particularly at stopover sites along the migratory routes and wintering grounds.

Reptiles: Rises in sea levels are causing loss of nesting habitat.

#### 15.5.2 Medium confidence

Marine mammals: Sea level rise will reduce habitat availability for some coastal breeding seals.

#### 15.5.3 Low confidence

**Seabirds:** Many seabirds are cliff-nesters, but for those nesting in low-lying areas, such as albatrosses, penguins and terns, rising sea levels threaten to inundate nest sites.

### 15.6 Reductions in sea ice extent

As temperatures increase, the area of sea ice is reducing. Although affecting only a small number of distinctive marine species, there is strong evidence of negative impacts.

#### 15.6.1 High confidence

**Seabirds:** Reductions in sea ice extent reduce the area of high quality foraging habitats for seabirds.

**Marine mammals:** Sea ice decline and increased variability in cover in response to climate change will generally negatively impact population size for species associated with sea ice, and may accelerate the poleward range expansion of species associated with open water.

### 15.7 Changes in oceanic currents

Changes in oceanic currents are likely to have far-reaching consequences due to the scale of ecosystem alteration. There is strong evidence that migratory seabirds and marine mammals will be impacted, but evidence for other groups (such as migratory fish) is so far apparently lacking due, in part, to the difficulties of gathering evidence.

#### 15.7.1 High confidence

**Seabirds:** Large-scale changes in oceanic currents can greatly alter food availability, especially for central-place foragers like seabirds that have to return to a specific location, the breeding colony.

**Marine mammals:** Changes in the frequency and intensity of El Niño and La Niña events will have significant impacts on marine mammal distribution and mortality, but impacts will vary between species and locations.

#### 15.7.2 Low confidence

**Bony fish:** Changes in ocean currents may impact their oceanic migration, potentially affecting phenology, distribution and survival.

### 15.8 Changes in water chemistry

Changes in salinity, due to altered freshwater flows, and increases in oceanic acidity are predicted as CO<sub>2</sub> emissions increase. However, so far, there is limited published evidence of direct impacts on migratory species. It should be noted that such changes are having marked impacts on particular marine habitats, such as coral reefs, which will have impacts on any migratory species that use such habitats as nursery areas, for example.

#### 15.8.1 Low confidence

**Bony fish:** Changes in salinity associated with changes in the flow of freshwater may impact migratory fish, although with uncertain population-level impacts. Increased CO<sub>2</sub> acidifies salt and freshwater, but impacts on migratory sturgeon appear to be limited so far.

**Sharks and rays:** The effect of acidification on sharks and rays is very uncertain but, in general, acidification is linked to declines in shark fitness.

### 15.9 Distribution and range shifts

Poleward range shifts are one of the most frequently demonstrated impacts of climate change and will affect all groups of migratory animals; however, whether such impacts are positive or negative depends very much on the individual species' ecology.

### 15.9.1 High confidence

**Seabirds:** The response of seabird distribution ranges to climate change varies among species; shifts or expansions that have been observed are most often polewards.

**Waterbirds:** Poleward and elevational range shifts have been observed and are predicted to intensify throughout a wide range of wetland and coastal bird species.

**Marine mammals:** Range shifts have been observed in many species, with consequent declines in polar species and increases in subtropical and tropical species.

### 15.9.2 Medium confidence

**Raptors:** Changes in temperature and precipitation are expected to influence species distribution ranges, with some current evidence of range losses.

Afro-Palearctic passerines: Migratory passerines are shifting or expected to shift polewards in both their breeding and wintering grounds, though the Sahara presents a barrier for those north of the Equator in their African wintering grounds.

**Terrestrial mammals:** Polewards range shifts have been observed and predicted. However, the ability of terrestrial mammals to shift their ranges in response to climate change is often unknown and may be restricted by lack of suitable habitat in areas with a suitable climate or barriers that prevent range shifts. The combined changes in rainfall and temperatures are predicted to cause habitat loss in many species due to reductions in food availability. For some species, particularly those with ranges that are heavily restricted by human activities and land use, direct climate change impacts on distribution may be hard to discern.

**Bats:** Range expansions and shifts towards higher latitudes have been observed in a few species and are predicted for many more.

**Reptiles:** Poleward range shifts have been observed but are likely to be constrained by anthropogenic pressures in potential new areas, although conservation actions can be targeted in such areas.

**Sharks and rays:** Poleward shifts of distribution are expected but some species may be constrained by their use of specific breeding habitats.

**Monarch Butterfly:** Climate change is likely to result in a northwards breeding range shift associated with likely changes in milkweed distribution. The effect of this on range extent is unclear, as are potential future changes in migration.

### 15.9.3 Low confidence

**Waterbirds:** Waterbird species vary in their capacity to alter migratory routes. Shorebirds seem highly site faithful, with changes only coming about as young birds learn new routes, whilst adult birds of other waterbird species appear able to occupy new wintering areas.

**South American grassland birds:** Suitable climatic conditions for South American grassland birds are shifting polewards. However, the extent to which these species will shift their ranges in response to a changing climate will be affected by suitable habitat and dispersal abilities, and is largely unknown.

**Marine mammals:** Species may alter their diet and foraging behaviour in response to climatic impacts on prey availability, but this may not compensate for losses in key prey.

**Bony fish:** Poleward shifts in range have been observed but are likely to be constrained by the distribution, and accessibility, of spawning grounds.

### 15.10 Phenology

There is strong evidence for changes in the timing of migration, mostly reflecting increased temperatures. Responses vary between species and groups, and impacts on population status may be either positive or negative.

#### 15.10.1 High confidence

**Waterbirds:** The timing of migration and breeding is most often advancing in response to warmer temperatures, with generally positive impacts on breeding success.

**Afro-Palearctic passerines:** Temperature, in particular, positively influences the timing of breeding and spring arrival, although these effects can be modified by more local weather conditions en route.

**Seabirds:** Seabirds may be vulnerable to mismatch with the timing of spring peaks in prey abundance, as a result of the timing of those peaks being strongly temperature-dependent. Temperature-related reductions in prey abundance can also limit the ability of seabirds to shift their timing of breeding.

#### 15.10.2 Medium confidence

**Seabirds:** The timing of migration or breeding can be sensitive to temperature and large-scale atmospheric systems, though responses vary within and between species.

**Raptors:** The timing of migration and onset of breeding responds to temperature and precipitation, though responses vary among species.

#### 15.10.3 Low confidence

**Seabirds:** Some species may have adaptive responses to variations in climate that allow them to alter migratory routes or destinations.

**South American grassland birds:** Changes in phenology are likely, but limited evidence suggests that many grassland birds are not shifting their breeding phenology enough to keep pace with other environmental changes.

**Terrestrial mammals:** Some changes in birthing and migration phenology have been seen in migratory mammals, but cues for when to breed may be maladaptive.

**Bats:** The timing of migration in bats is more affected by weather conditions, such as precipitation and wind, than temperature.

**Marine mammals:** Changes in the timing of migration have been observed, with many species now arriving on the breeding grounds earlier, but population effects are mostly unknown.

**Bony fish:** Earlier migration and breeding timings have been observed, but evidence is lacking as to whether this is adaptive or maladaptive.

Sharks and rays: Changes in migration patterns may result from increased water temperatures.
# 16 Red Knot Calidris canutus

**Status:** Near Threatened; CMS Appendix II (*C. canutus rufa* Appendix I)

**Distribution:** Breeding range stretches from Alaska to northern Russia. Wintering range consists of Atlantic and Pacific coasts of the Americas, north-western Europe, west coast of Africa, southern Asia and Australasia (van Gills & Wiersma 1996).

**Migration:** There are six Red Knot subspecies, each with distinct migratory routes (see map below). The *rufa* subspecies has one of the longest migratory journeys among birds, of up to 15,000 km. Migration stopover sites are normally coastal (van Gils & Wiersma 1996).

**Threats:** Human infrastructure development and overfishing threaten habitat and food availability at stopover sites (McGowan *et al.* 2011; Mu *et al.* 2022).

**Trends:** Many subspecies have decreased greatly over both the short and long term (Andres *et al.* 2012; van Roomen 2014).



Migration of Red Knot subspecies (map by Shyamal published on Wikimedia Commons, based on information from Buehler D.M. *et al.* 2006. Reconstructing palaeoflyways of the late Pleistocene and early Holocene Red Knot Calidris canutus. *Ardea* 94 (3), 485–498) **Extreme rainfall:** Wader species decline in abundance at wintering sites under the impacts of increasing cumulative rainfall (Kelly 2001).

**Temperature increase:** Red Knot offspring are smaller with shorter bills at warmer breeding grounds, which negatively impacts foraging success at their wintering grounds (van Gils *et al.* 2016). Chick growth rate is related to the timing of peak invertebrate abundance; whilst no mismatch is evident yet between hatching dates and invertebrate peaks, their vulnerability to this is high in a changing climate (Tulp & Schekkerman 2007; Lameris *et al.* 2022).

**Climate change impacts:** Northward shifts in the occurrence of tundra, predators and competitors is reducing the area of suitable breeding habitat for Arctic waders like the Red Knot (Anderson *et al.* 2023).

**Extreme wind and storms:** Severe weather can lock up foraging areas under ice and drive invertebrate prey deeper into the sediments, making it harder to forage and increasing mortality in many waders (Clark 2007).

**Sea level rise:** Coastlines at stopover and non-breeding sites are predicted to change from sea level rise and encroaching human development (e.g. Galbraith *et al.* 2014), which will reduce available foraging time for waders.

**Conservation action:** The co-ordinated protection and conservation management of key wetland habitat along Red Knot migratory routes will help to mitigate climate change impacts and support potential range shifts, which are already occurring in some arctic waders (Anderson *et al.* 2023).

# 17 Impacts of climate change on the African savanna

Ecosystem – savanna: African savannas are open landscapes dominated by grasses and dotted with shrubs and trees. They are found in tropical regions south of the Saharan desert and are often rich in wildlife, many of which seasonally migrate following patterns in rainfall and primary productivity (Mukhopadhyay *et al.* 2019). African savanna species include the African Elephant (Endangered; CMS Appendix II), Grevy's Zebra (Endangered; CMS Appendix I), Red-fronted Gazelle (Vulnerable; CMS Appendix I), Giraffe (Vulnerable; CMS Appendix II), Cheetah (Vulnerable; CMS Appendix I) and Lion (Vulnerable; Appendix II), as well as a wide range of birds including raptors, such as the White-headed Vulture (Critically Endangered; CMS Appendix
I and II), shorebirds, such as the Curlew
Sandpiper (Near Threatened; CMS Appendix
II) and passerines, such as the Blue Swallow (Vulnerable; CMS Appendix I and II).

**Predicted climate change:** Temperature and carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) levels are predicted to rise across Africa with climate change (see graphic below, IPCC 2021; Conradi *et al.* 2020). Rainfall increases are predicted over the Sahel region, northern Africa and western equatorial Africa, whereas rainfall declines are expected over



With additional increases in global warming, changes in hot and cold temperature extremes, mean and maximum one-day precipitation get larger.

Projected changes in annual maximum temperature (TXx), annual minimum temperature (TNn), annual mean precipitation and annual maximum daily precipitation (RX1day) at 1.5°C, 2°C, and 4°C of global warming (in rows) compared to 1851–1900. Results are based on simulations from the CMIP6 multi-model ensemble mean.

74

Climate change projections for Africa (IPCC 2021) highlighting not only changes in temperature but also substantial changes in rainfall pattern. (From: Gutiérrez, J.M. *et al.* 2021. Regional Fact Sheet for Africa - Interactive Atlas. In: V. Masson-Delmotte *et al.* (eds.). *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* Available from http://interactive-atlas.ipcc.ch/) parts of eastern and southern Africa (IPCC 2021). This is likely to increase desertification along the boundaries between savanna and desert in some areas, and increase woody encroachment on savanna in other areas; the area of savanna habitat is therefore likely to reduce.

Rainfall declines and drought: There are likely to be declines in many terrestrial mammal populations in areas with decreased rainfall due to the link between rainfall and primary productivity, which will limit food availability for herbivores (Mukhopadhyay et al. 2019; Dejene et al. 2021), and thus prey for carnivores (Celesia et al. 2010; Sanderson et al. 2022). Increased levels of drought have also been attributed to a rise in the prevalence of mass mortalities (Wang et al. 2021), increased parasite loads as animals are forced to aggregate around limited resources (Munson et al. 2008; Titcomb et al. 2021), and negative humanwildlife interactions as wildlife stray into human settlements in search of alternative resources (Mukeka et al. 2019).

#### **Rainfall increases and CO<sub>2</sub> increases:**

Where rainfall increases, this may lead to shrub encroachment on savannas (Tews & Jeltsch 2004). Savannas are also predicted to become woodier due to increasing concentrations of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>, as woody plants will benefit more from this than grasses (Conradi et al. 2020). Any declines in large herbivores, particularly African Elephants, will further allow shrub encroachment (Stevens et al. 2016). Evidence suggests this shift is already occurring (Conradi et al. 2020) and it is predicted to threaten many species that rely on grassy habitats (Tews & Jeltsch 2004). Across southern Africa, bird species associated with open savanna are generally declining, whilst ones associated with closed, woody savanna are increasing (Sirami *et al.* 2009). For example, an increase in trees might benefit many vulture species, which require trees for nesting (Rushworth *et al.* 2018).

**Temperature increases:** Increasing temperatures may reduce reproductive success (Abrahms et al. 2022) and decrease population size (Martínez-Freiría et al. 2016) in some migratory savanna animals. This is largely due to difficulties thermoregulating (Rabaiotti et al. 2019; Pontzer et al. 2020; Semenzato et al. 2021), as species are generally adapted to a specific temperature range. Behavioural adaptations can mitigate some temperature increase, such as foraging earlier and later in the day (Semenzato et al. 2021), but this can reduce foraging opportunities and hence total energy intake (Bladon et al. 2019; Bourne et al. 2020). Conversely, higher temperatures can improve hunting success for some carnivores, as prey often struggle to thermoregulate more than predators during hunting events (Creel et al. 2016).

**Climate change adaptation:** While poleward range shifts and range expansions are generally predicted for many species (Beale *et al.* 2013; Phipps *et al.* 2017), the ability of some species to shift their ranges in response to climate change is often unknown. Anthropogenic barriers, such as transport/energy infrastructure and human settlements, may limit range shifts for some species, particularly large mammals. Maintaining and creating protected areas and wildlife corridors is vital to support migratory species' range shifts and adaptation to a changing climate (Li *et al.* 2019; Liang *et al.* 2022).

Key to abbreviations: CMS = Convention for the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals; Vulnerable/Near Threatened/Endangered refers to status under the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List Assessment for the global population.

# 18 Polar Bear Ursus maritimus

#### Status: Vulnerable; CMS Appendix II

**Distribution:** Arctic and near-Arctic Greenland and Canada (see graphic below, Derocher 2010).

**Migration:** Polar Bears migrate in the autumn to sea ice edges, following their main prey, seals. In the spring, they follow retreating sea ice, moving on land for the summer months, where they hunt other prey, such as birds.

**Threats:** The reduction in sea ice caused by climate change is the key threat to Polar Bears (Atwood *et al.* 2015).

**Trends:** Most populations are declining and many sub-populations are likely to go extinct over the next few decades (Castro de la Guardia *et al.* 2013; Bromaghin *et al.* 2021). Almost complete extinction is predicted by 2100 (Hunter *et al.* 2010; Molnár *et al.* 2020).



Distribution of the Polar Bear (from A.E. Derocher. 2010. The prospects for Polar Bears. *Nature*, **468**, 905-906. © 2010, Springer Nature Limited) **Temperature increase:** The Arctic is warming twice as fast as the global mean, and sea ice extent is rapidly decreasing (IPCC 2021). As sea ice contracts, hunting habitat for Polar Bears declines, which reduces population sizes (Stirling & Parkinson 2006; Bromaghin *et al.* 2021), survival (Molnár *et al.* 2010, 2020), body condition (Derocher *et al.* 2004; Stirling & Parkinson 2006) and reproductive success (Peacock *et al.* 2011). As seals rely on sea ice for breeding, Polar Bear populations will also be impacted by likely declines in seal populations (Tynan & DeMaster 1997).

**Pollution:** Prolonged fasting due to declines in food availability will increase the tissue concentrations of dangerous pollutants, which is likely to have population-level impacts on reproduction and survival (Jenssen *et al.* 2015; Nuijten et al. 2016).

Adaptations: The Polar Bear's diet is shifting to include other species, such as ground-nesting birds (Prop *et al.* 2015), whales (Rode *et al.* 2022), fish and blueberries (Dyck & Kebreab 2009). However, these food sources are not likely to sufficiently replace their seal prey (Petherick *et al.* 2021; Rode et al. 2022).

Polar Bears are now migrating further, or spending more time on land (Pilfold *et al.* 2017). Both strategies reduce survival, particularly for cubs (Cherry *et al.* 2013; Miller *et al.* 2022), and increase the risk of conflict with humans.

**Conservation action:** Efforts to limit global warming will reduce the rate of sea ice loss, key to Polar Bear survival.

# 19 Loggerhead Turtle Caretta caretta

Status: Vulnerable; CMS Appendix I and II.

**Threats:** The key threats to Loggerhead Turtles are bycatch in fishing gear and human development on their nesting beaches (Fuentes *et al.* 2013).

**Trends:** Trends vary between populations, but most have declined in the last few decades, some by up to 90% (NOAA Fisheries 2021).

**Migration and distribution:** Longdistance migration occurs between nesting beaches and feeding grounds. For example, many Loggerhead Turtles that hatch in the western Atlantic migrate to feeding grounds in the eastern Atlantic or the Mediterranean.

Sea level rise and storms: Many nesting beaches will disappear as sea levels rise or storms wash them away (Poloczanska *et al.* 



Upper image: Approximate representation of the Loggerhead Turtle's range (courtesy: NOAA Fisheries) Lower image: The life-cycle of the Loggerhead Turtle 2009; Patrício *et al.* 2021). It is predicted that around 60% of current Mediterranean nesting sites will disappear by 2100 (Dimitriadis *et al.* 2022), and over 80% of Atlantic USA sites by 2050 (Fuentes *et al.* 2020).

**Increasing temperatures:** As turtles have temperature-dependent sex determination, higher temperatures are increasing the female:male sex ratio (Patrício *et al.* 2021). This currently has a positive impact in most populations (Perez *et al.* 2016). However, in the future, the potential for extremely limited male populations could cause population declines (Hays *et al.* 2014).

Adaptations: Poleward range shifts in response to higher temperatures have been observed and will be key to Loggerhead Turtle adaptation to climate change (Perez *et al.* 2016; Girard *et al.* 2021). However, human coastal developments reduce the availability of suitable nesting beaches in new areas (Perez *et al.* 2016; Fuentes *et al.* 2020).

Phenology shifts in nesting have been observed (Mazaris *et al.* 2008); egg laying earlier in the season allows turtle eggs to develop at lower temperatures, preventing female skewed sex ratios (Laloë *et al.* 2016).

**Conservation actions:** Shading beaches through tree planting (Mitchell & Janzen 2010) or translocating eggs to cooler locations (Hawkes *et al.* 2007) may prevent severely skewed sex ratios. Preventing coastal developments on nesting beaches and protecting those with adjoining sand dunes will conserve vital habitat and facilitate potential range shifts (Katselidis *et al.* 2014; Girard *et al.* 2021). Various Memoranda of Understanding and action plans under the CMS provide a mechanism for international co-ordination on turtle conservation.

# 20 Impacts of climate change on Mediterranean wetlands

#### **Ecosystem - Mediterranean wetland:**

There are approximately 18.5 million ha of wetlands around the Mediterranean Sea, comprising 1.1 to 1.5% of wetlands worldwide. They incorporate a range of natural habitats such as salt, brackish or freshwater lakes and marshes, permanent and temporary rivers, and riverine forests. In the past century, around 50% of Mediterranean wetlands have disappeared, and many that remain have been degraded or are now artificial wetlands - rice fields, reservoirs, saltpans and oases (Beltrame et al. 2012; Geijzendorffer 2018). A variety of different species utilise Mediterranean wetlands, including waterbirds such as the White-headed Duck (Endangered; CMS Appendix I and II), seabirds such as Audouin's Gull (Vulnerable; CMS Appendix

I and II), raptors such as the Western Marsh Harrier (Least Concern; CMS Appendix II), Mediterranean Monk Seals (Endangered; CMS Appendix I and II), Green Turtles (Endangered; CMS Appendix I and II) and European Eels (Critically Endangered; CMS Appendix II).

A .....

**Predicted climate change:** Some climate change effects have already impacted the Mediterranean Sea and its wetlands – in particular sea level has risen by 22 cm over the course of the 20th century (Beltrame *et al.* 2012). In general, the expected risks for the Mediterranean Sea's wetlands are: greater warming than average; an overall decline in rainfall; greater variability in rainfall and temperature; heat waves during summer months; and an increased frequency of extreme events (e.g. droughts and floods)



Daily warming trend in the Mediterranean basin from 1982 to 2019. Each contour denotes a change of  $1.5 \times 10^{-5}$  °C/day. (From Pastor F. *et al.* 2020. A Warming Mediterranean: 38 Years of Increasing Sea Surface Temperature. *Remote Sensing*, **12** (17), 2687)

(IPCC 2021). Land areas within the region have warmed by almost 2°C in Iberia, southern France and North Africa, and rainfall has significantly decreased, with a 20% decline in southern European countries around the Mediterranean (Plan Bleu 2008).

Rainfall declines and drought: Flamingo colonies breed within wetlands but depend on a minimum level of rainfall. The lower precipitation levels predicted with increased climate change are likely to reduce the probability of successful breeding of Greater Flamingos (Least Concern; CMS Appendix II) in the Mediterranean, particularly in the south (Béchet et al. 2012). For species like the Aquatic Warbler (Vulnerable; CMS Appendix I and II) that use wetland areas in the Mediterranean for staging on their migrations, droughts will reduce the amount of habitat available, and hence the number of individuals that can be supported during the passage period (Birdlife International 2008).

**Temperature increases:** Nesting grounds for Green Turtles and Loggerhead Turtles (Vulnerable; CMS Appendix I and II) are predicted to increase in average temperature, giving rise to potential changes in sex ratios (greater numbers of females, Dissanayake *et al.* 2021). Warming of coastal waters reduces recruitment numbers and survival of the European Eel, and causes earlier colonisation through increased migratory responses (Borges *et al.* 2019).

**Extreme weather patterns:** El Niño events are predicted to become more frequent and intense, and to increase global temperatures (McPhaden *et al.* 2020). The impacts of El Niño events on Atlantic fish stocks will have a knock-on effect on fish stocks in the Mediterranean, threatening Mediterranean Monk Seals (CMS 2005).

#### Flooding and increasing water levels:

Cold-dwelling species are most likely to be disadvantaged from increasing water levels. Given that general assemblages of waterbirds are shifting their ranges northwards, more birds may shift their wintering range to the Mediterranean Basin from sub-Saharan Africa (Beltrame et al. 2012). Coastal erosion and flooding from sea level rise may reduce the extent of suitable areas for Monk Seals to breed (CMS 2005) and turtles to nest (Dissanayake et al. 2021). On the other hand, in periods of excess rainfall and sea level rise, the Greater Flamingo's preferred saline sites are predicted to improve in quality for breeding (Béchet & Johnson 2008).

**Sea acidification:** Acidification of the ocean, caused by increasing carbon dioxide emissions slowly changing seawater chemistry, has been shown to hinder migratory responses of European Eels by reducing their ability to follow riverine cues for migration (Borges *et al.* 2019).



# 21 The impacts of storms and cyclones on migratory species

#### Predicted climate change: Storms

and cyclones are predicted to increase in frequency and severity over the coming decades. An increase in the intensity of cyclones has already been observed, particularly in the North Atlantic since the 1980s (see graphic below, Murakami et al. 2020). The strong winds, heavy rainfall and resulting floods that come with storms can cause large population declines across taxa and habitats (Maxwell et al. 2019). Coastal ecosystems are particularly vulnerable to such storms, which can cause declines in body condition, survival, breeding success and population size across many coastal and marine migratory species, including seabirds, marine mammals, reptiles and fish.

**Seabirds:** Storms have been linked to several mass-mortality events in seabirds

(Camphuysen et al. 1999). Strong winds can blow birds away from feeding areas, severely limit foraging efficiency (Darby et al. 2022), or cause complete breeding failures (Yannic et al. 2014). Coastal storms can also result in the loss of low-lying coastal nests (Weston & Fraser 2020) or exposed cliff nests (Newell et al. 2015) in many seabird species. For example, a landslide caused by heavy rainfall in a storm destroyed over 5% of Whitechinned Petrel (Vulnerable; CMS Appendix II) burrows on an island in New Zealand, killing over 2% of the population (Elliot & Walker 2022). Avian mass-mortality events have also been attributed to severe hailstorms (Higgins & Johnson 1978; Narwade et al. 2014). For example, 95% of individuals in a Blackbilled Gull (Near Threatened) colony in New Zealand were killed in a severe hail storm (Weston & Fraser 2020).



Observed linear trends in tropical cyclone frequency for the period 1980 to 2018 (number per year) (From Murakami, H. *et al.* 2020. Detected climatic change in global distribution of tropical cyclones. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117, 10706–10714. Open access article distributed under Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives License 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND))

Other seabirds that have suffered increased mortality due to storm activity include Atlantic Yellow-nosed Albatrosses (Endangered; CMS Appendix II) and Magellanic Penguins (Tavares *et al.* 2020).

Marine mammals: Coastal storms can scour the seabed and cause freshwater floods, as well as reduce seagrass productivity, which has been linked to high mortality of inshore dolphin species and Dugongs (Vulnerable; CMS Appendix II) (Meager & Limpus 2014), and to reduced reproductive success and survival of North Atlantic Right Whales (Critically Endangered; CMS Appendix I) (Lanyon & Burgess 2019).

**Reptiles:** An increasing frequency and intensity of storms will cover or inundate some nesting beaches currently used by marine turtle species and Salt-water Crocodiles (Least Concern; CMS Appendix II), leading to loss of habitat and embryo mortality (Fukuda *et al.* 2022; Patrício *et al.* 2021).

#### Sharks and other Chondrichthyes:

Increasing storms and rainfall will cause declines in salinity in many coastal regions (Grose *et al.* 2020). Many shark and ray species rely on coastal habitats, particularly in juvenile stages, and occupy very narrow salinity ranges (Schlaff *et al.*  2014). Movement out of areas after extreme rainfall events has been noted in many shark species (Schlaff *et al.* 2014; Gutowsky *et al.* 2021) and therefore population declines may arise if movement is not possible or salinity declines cause habitat loss (Morash *et al.* 2016). However, some species have shown high resilience to rapid changes in salinity, such as Smalltooth Sawfish (Critically Endangered; CMS Appendix I and II) (Brame *et al.* 2019) and the Tope Shark (Critically Endangered; CMS Appendix II) (Morash *et al.* 2016). The population-level impacts of storms on many Chondrichthyes are largely unknown.

**Bony fish:** For some species, the impacts of storms may be severe but short-lived. For example, a population of Pink Salmon declined by 90% after an extreme rainfall event, but recovered to pre-disturbance levels within two generations (Milner et al. 2013; Maxwell et al. 2019). In some cases, cyclones may benefit marine species due to the disturbance increasing food availability downstream. For example, Striated Surgeonfish densities increase after cyclones pass through, having disturbed the water column (Maxwell et al. 2019). However, invasive estuarine fish species in particular have been observed to benefit from stormrelated floods (llarri et al. 2022).



Key to abbreviations: CMS = Convention for the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals; Vulnerable/Near Threatened/Critically Endangered refers to status under the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List Assessment for the global population.

# 22 References

## 22.1 Main document

Abrahms, B., Rafiq, K., Jordan, N.R. & McNutt, J.W. 2022. Long-term, climate-driven phenological shift in a tropical large carnivore. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **119**, e2121667119.

Adams, G.D., Flores, D., Flores, O.G., Aarestrup, K. & Svendsen, J.C. 2016. Spatial ecology of blue shark and shortfin mako in southern Peru: local abundance, habitat preferences and implications for conservation. *Endangered Species Research*, **31**, 19-32.

Adams, R.A. 2010. Bat reproduction declines when conditions mimic climate change projections for western North America. *Ecology*, **91**, 2437-2445.

Adams, R.A. 2018. Dark side of climate change: Species-specific responses and first indications of disruption in spring altitudinal migration in myotis bats. *Journal of Zoology*, **304**, 268-275.

Adams, R.A. & Hayes, M.A. 2008. Water availability and successful lactation by bats as related to climate change in arid regions of western North America. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **77**, 1115-1121.

Aiello-Lammens, M.E., Chu-Agor, M.L., Convertino, M., Fischer, R.A., Linkov, I. & Akçakaya, H.R. 2011. The impact of sea-level rise on Snowy Plovers in Florida: integrating geomorphological, habitat, and metapopulation models. *Global Change Biology*, **17**, 3644-3654

Alamgir, M., Mukul, S.A. & Turton, S.M. 2015. Modelling spatial distribution of critically endangered Asian elephant and Hoolock gibbon in Bangladesh forest ecosystems under a changing climate. *Applied Geography*, **60**, 10-19.

Albrecht, S., Jung, J.L., Lazar, L., Bathie, M., Lémery-Peissik, D. & Rasmussen, M.H. 2021. Local movements and sitetenacity of minke whale in Iceland in relation to feeding and a northward distribution shift. *Marine Biology Research*, **17**, 744-761.

Albright, T.P., Mutiibwa, D., Gerson, A.R., Smith, E.K., Talbot, W.A., O'Neill, J.J., ... & Wolf, B.O. 2017. Mapping evaporative water loss in desert passerines reveals an expanding threat of lethal dehydration. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **114**, 2283-2288.

Amaral, A.R., Beheregaray, L.B., Bilgmann, K., Freitas, L., Robertson, K.M., Sequeira, M., ... & Möller, L.M. 2012. Influences of past climatic changes on historical population structure and demography of a cosmopolitan marine predator, the common dolphin (genus Delphinus). *Molecular Ecology*, **21**, 4854-4871.

Ancillotto, L., Santini, L., Ranc, N., Maiorano, L. & Russo, D. 2016. Extraordinary range expansion in a common bat: the potential roles of climate change and urbanisation. *The Science of Nature*, **103**, 15

Ancillotto, L., Budinski, I., Nardone, V., DiSalvo, I., DellaCorte, M., Bosso, L., ... & Russo, D. 2018. What is driving range expansion in a common bat? Hints from thermoregulation and habitat selection. *Behavioural Processes*, **157**, 540-546.

Ancona, S., Calixto-Albarrán, I. & Drummond, H. 2012. Effect of El Niño on the diet of a specialist seabird, Sula nebouxii, in the warm eastern tropical Pacific. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **462**, 261-271.

Ara, S.R., Ashrafi, S., Zarrintab, R.G.M. & Esfandeh, N.A.S. 2022. Climate Change and Its Impact on Brown Bear Distribution in Iran. *Journal of Zoological Research*, **4**, 1-11.

Arthington, A.H., Dulvy, N.K., Gladstone, W. & Winfield, I.J. 2016. Fish conservation in freshwater and marine realms: status, threats and management. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, **26**, 838-857.

Arumoogum, N., Schoeman, M.C. & Ramdhani, S. 2019. The relative influence of abiotic and biotic factors on suitable habitat of Old World fruit bats under current and future climate scenarios. *Mammalian Biology*, **98**, 188–200.

Ashrafzadeh, M.R., Naghipour, A.A., Haidarian, M. & Khorozyan, I. 2019. Modeling the response of an endangered flagship predator to climate change in Iran. *Mammal Research*, **64**, 39-51.

Ashrafzadeh, M.R., Khosravi, R., Mohammadi, A., Naghipour, A.A., Khoshnamvand, H., Haidarian, M. & Penteriani, V. 2022. Modeling climate change impacts on the distribution of an endangered brown bear population in its critical habitat in Iran. *Science of the Total Environment*, **837**, 155753.

Aubry, L.M., Rockwell, R.F., Cooch, E.G., Brook, R.W., Mulder, C.P. & Koons, D.N. 2013. Climate change, phenology, and habitat degradation: drivers of gosling body condition and juvenile survival in lesser snow geese. *Global Change Biology*, **19**, 149-160.

Avila, I.C., Dormann, C.F., García, C., Payán, L.F. & Zorrilla, M.X. 2020. Humpback whales extend their stay in a breeding ground in the Tropical Eastern Pacific. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, **77**, 109-118.

Azpiroz, A.B., Isacch, J.P., Dias, R.A., Di Giacomo, A.S., Fontana, C.S. & Palarea, C.M. 2012. Ecology and conservation of grassland birds in southeastern South America: a review. *Journal of Field Ornithology*, **83**, 217-246.

Bai, D., Wan, X., Zhang, L., Campos-Arceiz, A., Wei, F. & Zhang, Z. 2022. The recent Asian elephant range expansion in Yunnan, China, is associated with climate change and enforced protection efforts in human-dominated landscapes. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, **10**, 879.

Baillie, S.R. & Peach, W.J. 1992. Population limitation in Palaearctic-African migrant passerines. Ibis, 134, 120-132.

Ballantyne, K. & Nol, E. 2015. Localized habitat change near Churchill, Manitoba and the decline of nesting Whimbrels (Numenius phaeopus). *Polar Biology*, **38**, 529–537.

Barbet-Massin, M., Walther, B.A., Thuiller, W., Rahbek, C. & Jiguet, F. 2009. Potential impacts of climate change on the winter distribution of Afro-Palaearctic migrant passerines. *Biology Letters*, **5**, 248-251.

Barbraud, C. & Weimerskirch, H. 2001. Emperor penguins and climate change. Nature, 411, 183-186.

Barbraud, C., Rivalan, P., Inchausti, P., Nevoux, M., Rolland, V., & Weimerskirch, H. 2011. Contrasted demographic responses facing future climate change in Southern Ocean seabirds. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **80**, 89-100.

Barbraud, C., Bavoux, C. & Burneleau, G. 2022. The demography of an increasing insular Eurasian Scops Owl (Otus scops) population in western France. *Ibis*, **164**, 202-216.

Bard, B. & Kieffer, J.D. 2019. The effects of repeat acute thermal stress on the critical thermal maximum (CTmax) and physiology of juvenile shortnose sturgeon (Acipenser brevirostrum). *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, **97**, 567-572.

Bastien, G., Barkley, A., Chappus, J., Heath, V., Popov, S., Smith, R., ... & Hussey, N.E. 2020. Inconspicuous, recovering, or northward shift: status and management of the white shark (Carcharodon carcharias) in Atlantic Canada. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, **77**, 1666-1677.

Bastille-Rousseau, G., Schaefer, J.A., Lewis, K.P., Mumma, M.A., Ellington, E.H., Rayl, N.D., ... & Murray, D.L. 2016. Phase-dependent climate-predator interactions explain three decades of variation in neonatal caribou survival. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **85**, 445-456.

Batalden, R.V., Oberhauser, K. & Peterson, A.T. 2014. Ecological niches in sequential generations of eastern North American monarch butterflies (Lepidoptera: Danaidae): the ecology of migration and likely climate change implications. *Environmental Entomology*, **36**, 1365-1373.

Battersby, J. (Ed.). 2005. UK mammals: species status and population trends. Joint Nature Conservation Committee.

Bauer, S. & Hoye, B.J. 2014. Migratory animals couple biodiversity and ecosystem functioning worldwide. *Science*, **344**, 1242552.

Baylis, A.M., Orben, R.A., Arnould, J.P., Christiansen, F., Hays, G.C. & Staniland, I.J. 2015. Disentangling the cause of a catastrophic population decline in a large marine mammal. *Ecology*, **96**, 2834-2847.

Beale, C.S., Stewart, J.D., Setyawan, E., Sianipar, A.B. & Erdmann, M.V. 2019. Population dynamics of oceanic manta rays (Mobula birostris) in the Raja Ampat Archipelago, West Papua, Indonesia, and the impacts of the El Niño–Southern Oscillation on their movement ecology. *Diversity and Distributions*, **25**, 1472-1487.

Beaugrand, G., Reid, P.C., Ibanez, F., Lindley, J.A. & Edwards, M. 2002. Reorganization of North Atlantic marine copepod biodiversity and climate. *Science*, **296**, 1692-1694.

Beaugrand, G., Brander, K.M., Alistair Lindley, J., Souissi, S. & Reid, P.C. 2003. Plankton effect on cod recruitment in the North Sea. *Nature*, **426**, 661-664.

Benson, S.R., Croll, D.A., Marinovic, B.B., Chavez, F.P. & Harvey, J.T. 2002. Changes in the cetacean assemblage of a coastal upwelling ecosystem during El Niño 1997–98 and La Niña 1999. *Progress in Oceanography*, **54**, 279-291.

Bestley, S., Ropert-Coudert, Y., Bengtson Nash, S., Brooks, C.M., Cotté, C., Dewar, M., ... & Wienecke, B. 2020. Marine ecosystem assessment for the Southern Ocean: birds and marine mammals in a changing climate. Frontiers in *Ecology and Evolution*, **8**, 566936. Bladon, A.J., Donald, P.F., Jones, S.E., Collar, N.J., Deng, J., Dadacha, G., ... & Green, R.E. 2019. Behavioural thermoregulation and climatic range restriction in the globally threatened Ethiopian Bush-crow *Zavattariornis stresemanni*. *Ibis*, **161**, 546-558.

Boersma, P.D. 1998. Population trends of the Galápagos penguin: impacts of El Niño and La Niña. *The Condor*, **100**, 245-253.

Boothroyd, M., Whillans, T. & Wilson, C.C. 2018. Translocation as a mitigation tool: Demographic and genetic analysis of a reintroduced lake sturgeon (Acipenser fulvescens Rafinesque, 1817) population. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, **34**, 348-363.

Both, C., Bouwhuis, S., Lessells, C.M. & Visser, M.E. 2006. Climate change and population declines in a long-distance migratory bird. *Nature*, **441**, 81-83.

Boult, V.L., Fishlock, V., Quaife, T., Hawkins, E., Moss, C., Lee, P.C. & Sibly, R.M. 2019. Human-driven habitat conversion is a more immediate threat to Amboseli elephants than climate change. *Conservation Science and Practice*, **1**, e87.

Bourne, A.R., Cunningham, S.J., Spottiswoode, C.N. & Ridley, A.R. 2020. High temperatures drive offspring mortality in a cooperatively breeding bird. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, **287**, 20201140.

Bowgen, K.M., Kettle, E.F., Butchart, S.H.M., Carr, J.A., Foden, W.B., Magin, G., ... & Pearce-Higgins, J.W. 2022. Conservation interventions can benefit species impacted by climate change. *Biological Conservation*, **269**, 109524.

Brame, A.B., Wiley, T.R., Carlson, J.K., Fordham, S.V., Grubbs, R.D., Osborne, J., ... & Poulakis, G.R. 2019. Biology, ecology, and status of the smalltooth sawfish Pristis pectinata in the USA. *Endangered Species Research*, **39**, 9-23.

Breece, M.W., Oliver, M.J., Cimino, M.A. & Fox, D.A. 2013. Shifting distributions of adult Atlantic sturgeon amidst postindustrialization and future impacts in the Delaware River: a maximum entropy approach. *PLoS One*, **8**, e81321.

Breiner, F.T., Anand, M., Butchart, S.H.M., Flörke, M., Fluet-Chouinard, E., Guisan, A., ... & Nagy, S. 2021. Setting priorities for climate change adaptation of critical sites in the Africa-Eurasian waterbird flyways. Global Change *Biology*, **28**, 739-752.

Bromaghin, J.F., McDonald, T.L., Stirling, I., Derocher, A.E., Richardson, E.S., Regehr, E.V., ... & Amstrup, S.C. 2015. Polar bear population dynamics in the southern Beaufort Sea during a period of sea ice decline. *Ecological Applications*, **25**, 634-651.

Bromaghin, J.F., Douglas, D.C., Durner, G.M., Simac, K.S. & Atwood, T.C. 2021. Survival and abundance of polar bears in Alaska's Beaufort Sea, 2001–2016. *Ecology and Evolution*, **11**, 14250-14267.

Brooks, S.J., Jones, V.J., Telford, R.J., Appleby, P.G., Watson, E., McGowan, S. & Benn, S. 2012. Population trends in the Slavonian grebe Podiceps auritus (L.) and Chironomidae at a Scottish loch. *Journal of Paleolimnology*, **47**, 631-644.

Brown, B.R. 2003. Sensing temperature without ion channels. *Nature*, **421**, 495-495.

Bruggeman, J.E., Swem, T., Andersen, D.E., Kennedy, P.L. & Nigro, D. 2015. Dynamics of a recovering Arctic bird population: the importance of climate, density dependence, and site quality. *Ecological Applications*, **25**, 1932-1943.

Buchinger, T.J., Hondorp, D.W. & Krueger, C.C. 2022. Local diversity in phenological responses of migratory lake sturgeon to warm winters. *Oikos*, **2022**, e08977.

Buettner, U.K., Davies-Mostert, H.T., Du Toit, J.T. & Mills, M.G.L. 2007. Factors affecting juvenile survival in African wild dogs (Lycaon pictus) in Kruger National Park, South Africa. *Journal of Zoology*, **272**, 10-19.

Bugg, W.S., Yoon, G.R., Schoen, A.N., Laluk, A., Brandt, C., Anderson, W.G. & Jeffries, K.M. 2020. Effects of acclimation temperature on the thermal physiology in two geographically distinct populations of lake sturgeon (Acipenser fulvescens). *Conservation Physiology*, **8**, coaa087.

Burek, K.A., Gulland, F.M. & O'Hara, T.M. 2008. Effects of climate change on Arctic marine mammal health. *Ecological Applications*, **18**, S126-S134.

Burgess, M.D., Smith, K.W., Evans, K.L., Leech, D., Pearce-Higgins, J.W., Branston, C.J., ... & Phillimore, A.B. 2018. Tritrophic phenological match-mismatch in space and time. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, **2**, 970-975.

Burrage, K., Burrage, P., Davis, J., Bednarz, T., Kim, J., Vercelloni, J., ... & Mengersen, K. 2020. A stochastic model of jaguar abundance in the Peruvian Amazon under climate variation scenarios. *Ecology and Evolution*, **10**, 10829-10850.

Burthe, S., Daunt, F., Butler, A., Elston, D.A., Frederiksen, M., Johns, D., ... & Wanless, S. 2012. Phenological trends and trophic mismatch across multiple levels of a North Sea pelagic food web. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **454**, 119-133.

Bush, E.R., Whytock, R.C., Bahaa-El-Din, L., Bourgeois, S., Bunnefeld, N., Cardoso, A.W., ... & Abernethy, K. 2020. Long-term collapse in fruit availability threatens Central African forest megafauna. *Science*, **370**, 1219-1222.

Buskirk, J.V. 2012. Changes in the annual cycle of North American raptors associated with recent shifts in migration timing. *The Auk*, **129**, 691-698.

Butler, M.J., Metzger, K.L. & Harris, G.M. 2017. Are whooping cranes destined for extinction? Climate change imperils recruitment and population growth. *Ecology and Evolution*, **7**, 2821-2834.

Camphuysen, C.J., Wright, P.J., Leopold, M., Hüppop, O. & Reid, J.B. 1999. A review of the causes, and consequences at the population level, of mass mortalities of seabirds. *ICES Coop Res Rep*, **232**, 51-66.

Carneiro, C., Correia, E., Gonçalves, D., Brito, R., Luís, A. & Alves, J.A. 2016. Weather mediated impacts on the breeding output of an Afro-Palearctic migratory waterbird. *Avian Biology Research*, **9**, 167-173.

Carroll, M.J., Butler, A., Owen, E., Ewing, S.R., Cole, T., Green, J.A., ... & Bolton, M. 2015a. Effects of sea temperature and stratification changes on seabird breeding success. *Climate Research*, **66**, 75-89.

Carroll, M.J., Heinemeyer, A., Pearce-Higgins, J.W., Dennis, P., West, C., Holden, J., ... & Thomas, C.D. 2015b. Ecosystem processes and the survival of species under climate change. *Nature Communications*, **6**, 7851.

Cartes, J.E., Fanelli, E., Lloris, D. & Matallanas, J. 2013. Effect of environmental variations on sharks and other top predators in the deep Mediterranean Sea over the last 60 years. *Climate Research*, **55**, 239-251.

Carvalho, J.S., Graham, B., Bocksberger, G., Maisels, F., Williamson, E.A., Wich, S., ... & Kühl, H.S. 2021. Predicting range shifts of African apes under global change scenarios. *Diversity and Distributions*, **27**, 1663-1679.

Castellano, M., Silva-Álvarez, V., Fernández-López, E., Mauris, V., Conijeski, D., Villarino, A. & Ferreira, A.M. 2017. Russian sturgeon cultured in a subtropical climate weaken innate defences and a chronic stress response. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, **68**, 443-451.

Castro de la Guardia, L., Derocher, A.E., Myers, P.G., Terwisschavan Scheltinga, A.D. & Lunn, N.J. 2013. Future sea ice conditions in Western Hudson Bay and consequences for polar bears in the 21st century. *Global Change Biology*, **19**, 2675-2687.

Catsadorakis, G., Onmus, O., Bugariu, S., Gül, O., Hatzilacou, D., Hatzofe, O., ... & Crivelli, A.J. 2015. Current status of the Dalmatian pelican and the great white pelican populations of the Black Sea/Mediterranean flyway. *Endangered Species Research*, **27**, 119-130.

Celesia, G.G. Townsend Peterson, A., Kerbis Peterhans, J.C. & Gnoske, T.P. 2010. Climate and landscape correlates of African lion (Panthera leo) demography. *African Journal of Ecology*, **48**, 58-71.

Chambault, P., Tervo, O.M., Garde, E., Hansen, R.G., Blackwell, S.B., Williams, T.M., ... & Heide-Jørgensen, M.P. 2020. The impact of rising sea temperatures on an Arctic top predator, the narwhal. *Scientific Reports*, **10**, 1-10.

Chapman, E.W., Hofmann, E.E., Patterson, D.L., Ribic, C.A. & Fraser, W.R. 2011. Marine and terrestrial factors affecting Adélie penguin Pygoscelis adeliae chick growth and recruitment off the western Antarctic Peninsula. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **436**, 273–289.

Chase, M.K., Nur, N. & Geupel, G.R. 2005. Effects of weather and population density on reproductive success and population dynamics in a Song Sparrow (Melospiza melodia) population: a long-term study. *The Auk*, **122**, 571-592.

Cheke, R.A., Venn, J.F. & Jones, P.J. 2007. Forecasting suitable breeding conditions for the red-billed quelea Quelea quelea in southern Africa. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **44**, 523-533.

Cherriman, S.C., Fleming, P.A., Shephard, J.M. & Olsen, P.D. 2022. Climate influences productivity but not breeding density of wedge-tailed eagles Aquila audax in arid and mesic Western Australia. *Austral Ecology*, **47**, 261-277.

Cherry, S.G., Derocher, A.E., Thiemann, G.W. & Lunn, N.J. 2013. Migration phenology and seasonal fidelity of an Arctic marine predator in relation to sea ice dynamics. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **82**, 912-921.

Chesser, R.T. 1994. Migration in South America: an overview of the austral system. *Bird Conservation International*, **4** (2-3), 91-107.

Clark, J.A. 2009. Selective mortality of waders during severe weather. Bird Study, 56, 96-102.

Clausen, K.K. & Clausen, P. 2014. Forecasting future drowning of coastal waterbird habitats reveals a major conservation concern. *Biological Conservation*, **171**, 177-185.

Condro, A.A., Higuchi, H., Mulyani, Y.A., Raffiudin, R., Rusniarsyah, L., Setiawan, Y. & Prasetyo, L.B. 2022. Climate change leads to range contraction for Japanese population of the Oriental Honey-Buzzards: Implications for future conservation strategies. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, **34**, e02044.

Conradie, S.R., Woodborne, S.M., Cunningham, S.J. & McKechnie, A.E. 2019. Chronic, sublethal effects of high temperatures will cause severe declines in southern African arid-zone birds during the 21st century. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **116**, 14065-14070.

Convertino, M., Kiker, G.A., Chu-Agor, M.L., Munoz-Carpena, R., Martinez, C.J., Aiello-Lammens, M., ... & Linkov, I. 2011. Integrated Modeling to Mitigate Climate Change Risk Due to Sea Level Rise. In: *Imperilled Shorebirds on Florida Coastal Military Installations* (pp. 433-464). Springer Netherlands.

Cook, A.S., Burton, N.H., Dodd, S.G., Foster, S., Pell, R.J., Ward, R.M., ... & Robinson, R.A. 2021. Temperature and density influence survival in a rapidly declining migratory shorebird. *Biological Conservation*, **260**, 109198.

Cooper, J., Baker, G. B., Double, M. C., Gales, R., Papworth, W., Tasker, M. L., & Waugh, S. M. 2006. The Agreement on the Conservation of Albatrosses and Petrels: rationale, history, progress and the way forward. *Marine Ornithology*, **34**, 1-5.

Cooper, D.M., Dugmore, A.J., Kitchener, A.C., Metzger, M.J. & Trabucco, A. 2021. A kingdom in decline: Holocene range contraction of the lion (Panthera leo) modelled with global environmental stratification. *PeerJ*, **9**, e10504.

Cormont, A., Vos, C.C., Verboom, J., van Turnhout, C.A., Foppen, R.P. & Goedhart, P.W. 2014. Population dynamics of Great Bittern (Botaurus stellaris) in the Netherlands: interaction effects of winter weather and habitat fragmentation. *Regional Environmental Change*, **14**, 943-952.

Cotton, P.A., Sims, D.W., Fanshawe, S.A.M. & Chadwick, M. 2005. The effects of climate variability on zooplankton and basking shark (Cetorhinus maximus) relative abundance off southwest Britain. *Fisheries Oceanography*, **14**, 151-155.

Coulson, T., Milner–Gulland, E.J. & Clutton–Brock, T. 2000. The relative roles of density and climatic variation on population dynamics and fecundity rates in three contrasting ungulate species. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B*, **267**, 1771-1779.

Creel, S., Creel, N.M., Creel, A.M. & Creel, B.M. 2016. Hunting on a hot day: effects of temperature on interactions between African wild dogs and their prey. *Ecology*, **97**, 2910-2916.

Crewe, T.L., Mitchell, G.W. & Larrivée, M. 2019. Size of the Canadian breeding population of monarch butterflies is driven by factors acting during spring migration and recolonization. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, **7**, 308.

Crichigno, S.A. & Cussac, V.E. 2022. The effects of CO<sub>2</sub> level and temperature on embryos and free embryos of the Patagonian pejerrey Odontesthes hatcheri (Actinopterygii, Atherinopsidae). *Hydrobiologia*, **849**, 4787-4801.

Crossley, M.S., Meehan, T.D., Moran, M.D., Glassberg, J., Snyder, W.E. & Davis, A.K. 2022. Opposing global change drivers counterbalance trends in breeding North American monarch butterflies. *Global Change Biology*, **28**, 4726-4735.

Cruz-Flores, M., Pradel, R., Bried, J., Militão, T., Neves, V.C., González-Solís, J. & Ramos, R. 2022. Will climate change affect the survival of tropical and subtropical species? Predictions based on Bulwer's petrel populations in the NE Atlantic Ocean. *Science of the Total Environment*, **847**, 157352.

Cuadrado, M., Sánchez, Í., Barcell, M. & Armario, M. 2016. Reproductive data and analysis of recoveries in a population of white stork Ciconia ciconia in southern Spain: a 24-year study. *Animal Biodiversity and Conservation*, **39**, 37-44.

Culbertson, K.A., Garland, M.S., Walton, R.K., Zemaitis, L. & Pocius, V.M. 2022. Long-term monitoring indicates shifting fall migration timing in monarch butterflies (Danaus plexippus). *Global Change Biology*, **28**, 727-738.

Dahms, C. & Killen, S. S. (2023). Temperature change effects on marine fish range shifts: a meta-analysis of ecological and methodological predictors. *Global Change Biology* gcb.16770

Dar, S.A., Singh, S.K., Wan, H.Y., Kumar, V., Cushman, S.A. & Sathyakumar, S. 2021. Projected climate change threatens Himalayan brown bear habitat more than human land use. *Animal Conservation*, **24**, 659-676.

Dar, S.A., Singh, S.K., Wan, H.Y., Cushman, S.A., Bashir, T. & Sathyakumar, S. 2022. Future land use and climate change escalate connectivity loss for Himalayan brown bears. *Animal Conservation*, **26**, 199-215.

Darby, J., Clairbaux, M., Bennison, A., Quinn, J.L. & Jessopp, M.J. 2022. Underwater visibility constrains the foraging behaviour of a diving pelagic seabird. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, **289**, 20220862.

Davies, J.G., Kirkland, M., Miller, M.G.R., Pearce-Higgins, J.W., Atkinson, P.W. & Hewson, C.M. 2023. Spring arrival of the common cuckoo at breeding grounds is strongly determined by environmental conditions in tropical Africa. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, **290**, 20230580.

Davoren, G.K. & Montevecchi, W.A. 2003. Signals from seabirds indicate changing biology of capelin stocks. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **258**, 253-261.

Davidson, N.C. & Stroud, D.A. 2016. Waterbird flyways and history of international cooperation for waterbird conservation. *The Wetland Book*. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, 1-8.

Dean, W.R.J., Barnard, P. & Anderson, M.D. 2009. When to stay, when to go: trade-offs for southern African arid-zone birds in times of drought. *South African Journal of Science*, **105**, 24-28.

Deepananda, K.A. & Macusi, E.D. 2012. The changing climate and its implications to capture fisheries: a review. *Journal of Nature Studies*, **11**, 71-87.

Dejene, S.W., Mpakairi, K.S., Kanagaraj, R., Wato, Y.A. & Mengistu, S. 2021. Modelling continental range shift of the African elephant (*Loxodonta africana*) under a changing climate and land cover: implications for future conservation of the species. *African Zoology*, **56**, 25-34.

del Fresno, P.S., Colautti, D.C., Berasain, G.E. & Miranda, L.A. 2021. Gonadal development in pejerrey (*Odontesthes bonariensis*) during spawning season in relation with sex steroids and temperature variation in Gómez lake (Pampas region, Argentina). Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências, 93, e20190795.

Delage, N., Couturier, B., Jatteau, P., Larcher, T., Ledevin, M., Goubin, H., ... & Rochard, E. 2020. Oxythermal window drastically constraints the survival and development of European sturgeon early life phases. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, **27**, 3651-3660.

Delgado, M.P., Morales, M.B., Traba, J. & Garcia De la Morena, E.L. 2009. Determining the effects of habitat management and climate on the population trends of a declining steppe bird. *Ibis*, **151**, 440-451.

Derocher, A.E., Lunn, N.J. & Stirling, I. 2004. Polar bears in a warming climate. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, **44**, 163-176.

Deville, A.S., Labaude, S., Robin, J.P., Béchet, A., Gauthier-Clerc, M., Porter, W., ... & Grémillet, D. 2014. Impacts of extreme climatic events on the energetics of long-lived vertebrates: the case of the greater flamingo facing cold spells in the Camargue. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, **217**, 3700-3707

Dey, S., Roy, U.S. & Chattopadhyay, S. 2015. Effect of heat wave on the Indian flying fox Pteropus giganteus (Mammalia: Chiroptera: Pteropodidae) population from Purulia district of West Bengal, India. *Journal of Threatened Taxa*, **7**, 7029-7033.

Di Santo, V. 2016. Intraspecific variation in physiological performance of a benthic elasmobranch challenged by ocean acidification and warming. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, **219**, 1725-1733.

Diamond, A.W. & Devlin, C.M. 2003. Seabirds as indicators of changes in marine ecosystems: ecological monitoring on Machias Seal Island. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, **88**, 153-181.

Dias, M.P., Granadeiro, J.P., Phillips, R.A., Alonso, H. & Catry, P. 2011. Breaking the routine: individual Cory's shearwaters shift winter destinations between hemispheres and across ocean basins. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, **278**, 1786-1793.

Dias, M.P., Martin, R., Pearmain, E.J., Burfield, I.J., Small, C., Phillips, R.A., ... & Croxall, J.P. 2019. Threats to seabirds: a global assessment. *Biological Conservation*, **237**, 525-537.

Diaz-Carballido, P.L., Mendoza-Gonzalez, G., Yanez-Arenas, C.A. & Chiappa-Carrara, X. 2022. Evaluation of shifts in the potential future distributions of Carcharhinid sharks under different climate change scenarios. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, **8**, 2039.

Dimitriadis, C., Karditsa, A., Almpanidou, V., Anastasatou, M., Petrakis, S., Poulos, S., ... & Mazaris, A.D. 2022. Sea level rise threatens critical nesting sites of charismatic marine turtles in the Mediterranean. *Regional Environmental Change*, **22**, 56.

Dingle, H., Zalucki, M.P., Rochester, W.A. & Armijo-Prewitt, T. 2005. Distribution of the monarch butterfly, Danaus plexippus (L.)(Lepidoptera: Nymphalidae), in western North America. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **85**, 491-500.

Domagala, J., Kirczuk, L., Dziewulska, K. & Pilecka-Rapacz, M. 2014. Annual development of gonads of pumpkinseed, Lepomis gibbosus (Actinopterygii: Perciformes: Centrarchidae) from a heated-water discharge canal of a power plant in the lower stretch of the Oder River, Poland. *Acta Ichthyologica et Piscatoria*, **44**, 131-143.

Doxa, A., Robert, A., Crivelli, A., Catsadorakis, G., Naziridis, T., Nikolaou, H., ... & Theodorou, K. 2012. Shifts in breeding phenology as a response to population size and climatic change: a comparison between short-and long-distance migrant species. *The Auk*, **129**, 753-762.

Doyle, S., Cabot, D., Walsh, A., Inger, R., Bearhop, S. & McMahon, B.J. 2020. Temperature and precipitation at migratory grounds influence demographic trends of an Arctic-breeding bird. *Global Change Biology*, **26**, 5447-5458.

Drever, M.C., Wins-Purdy, A., Nudds, T.D. & Clark, R.G. 2004. Decline of duck nest success revisited: relationships with predators and wetlands in dynamic prairie environments. *The Auk*, **121**, 497-508

Drever, M.C. & Clark, R.G. 2007. Spring temperature, clutch initiation date and duck nest success: a test of the mismatch hypothesis. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **76**, 139-148.

Ducklow, H.W., Baker, K., Martinson, D.G., Quetin, L.B., Ross, R.M., Smith, R.C., ... & Fraser, W. 2007. Marine pelagic ecosystems: the west Antarctic Peninsula. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society, B*, **362**, 67-94.

Dufour, P., de Franceschi, C., Doniol-Valcroze, P., Jiguet, F., Guéguen, M., Renaud, J., ... & Crochet, P. A. 2021. A new westward migration route in an Asian passerine bird. *Current Biology*, **31**, 5590-5596.

Dula, B.T., Kaeser, A.J., D'Ercole, M.J., Jennings, C.A. & Fox, A.G. 2022. Effects of Hurricane Michael on Gulf Sturgeon in the Apalachicola River system, Florida. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, **151**, 725-742.

Dulvy, N.K., Fowler, S.L., Musick, J.A., Cavanagh, R.D., Kyne, P.M., Harrison, L.R., ... & White, W.T. 2014. Extinction risk and conservation of the world's sharks and rays. *eLife*, **3**, 1–35.

Duncan, C., Chauvenet, A.L., McRae, L.M. & Pettorelli, N. 2012. Predicting the future impact of droughts on ungulate populations in arid and semi-arid environments. *PLoS One*, **7**, e51490.

Dunkin, R.C., Wilson, D., Way, N., Johnson, K. & Williams, T.M. 2013. Climate influences thermal balance and water use in African and Asian elephants: physiology can predict drivers of elephant distribution. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, **216**, 2939-2952.

Durant, J.M., Anker-Nilssen, T. & Stenseth, N.C. 2003. Trophic interactions under climate fluctuations: the Atlantic puffin as an example. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, B*, **270**, 1461-1466.

Durant, J.M., Hjermann, D.Ø., Anker-Nilssen, T., Beaugrand, G., Mysterud, A., Pettorelli, N. & Stenseth, N.C. 2005. Timing and abundance as key mechanisms affecting trophic interactions in variable environments. *Ecology Letters*, **8**, 952-958.

Dyck, M.G. & Kebreab, E. 2009. Estimating the energetic contribution of polar bear (*Ursus maritimus*) summer diets to the total energy budget. *Journal of Mammalogy*, **90**, 585-593.

Ebrahimi, A., Farashi, A. & Rashki, A. 2017. Habitat suitability of Persian leopard (*Panthera pardus*) in Iran in future. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, **76**, 1-10.

Eckardt, W., Stoinski, T.S., Rosenbaum, S. & Santymire, R. 2019. Social and ecological factors alter stress physiology of Virunga mountain gorillas (*Gorilla beringei beringei*). *Ecology and Evolution*, **9**, 5248-5259.

Eglington, S.M., Julliard, R., Gargallo, G., van der Jeugd, H.P., Pearce-Higgins, J.W., Baillie, S.R. & Robinson, R.A. 2015. Latitudinal gradients in the productivity of European migrant warblers have not shifted northwards during a period of climate change. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, **24**, 427-436.

Ekroos, J., Fox, A.D., Christensen, T.K., Petersen, I.K., Kilpi, M., Jónsson, J.E., ... & Öst, M. 2012. Declines amongst breeding Eider *Somateria mollissima* numbers in the Baltic/Wadden Sea flyway. *Ornis Fennica*, **89**, 81.

Elisio, M., Vitale, A. & Miranda, L.A. 2015. Influence of climate variations on Chascomús shallow lake thermal conditions and its consequences on the reproductive ecology of the Argentinian Silverside (*Odontesthes bonariensis*—Actinopterygii, Athe. *Hydrobiologia*, **752**, 155-166.

Elliott, S.A., Bearup, D., Carpentier, A., Larivain, A., Trancart, T. & Feunteun, E. 2020. Evaluating the effectiveness of management measures on skates in a changing world. *Biological Conservation*, **248**, 108684.

Esbaugh, A.J. 2018. Physiological implications of ocean acidification for marine fish: emerging patterns and new insights. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B*, **188**, 1-13.

Espeset, A.E., Harrison, J.G., Shapiro, A.M., Nice, C.C., Thorne, J.H., Waetjen, D.P., ... & Forister, M.L. 2016. Understanding a migratory species in a changing world: climatic effects and demographic declines in the western monarch revealed by four decades of intensive monitoring. *Oecologia*, **181**, 819-830.

Ewing, S.R., Benn, S., Cowie, N., Wilson, L. & Wilson, J.D. 2013. Effects of weather variation on a declining population of Slavonian Grebes *Podiceps auritus. Journal of Ornithology*, **154**, 995-1006.

Facey, R.J., Vafidis, J.O., Smith, J.A., Vaughan, I.P. & Thomas, R.J. 2020. Contrasting sensitivity of nestling and fledgling Barn Swallow *Hirundo rustica* body mass to local weather conditions. *Ibis*, **162**, 1163-1174.

Fargallo, J.A., Martinez-Padilla, J., Vinuela, J., Blanco, G., Torre, I., Vergara, P. & De Neve, L. 2009. Kestrel-prey dynamic in a Mediterranean region: the effect of generalist predation and climatic factors. *PLoS One*, **4**, e4311.

Fasola, M., Rubolini, D., Merli, E., Boncompagni, E. & Bressan, U. 2010. Long-term trends of heron and egret populations in Italy, and the effects of climate, human-induced mortality, and habitat on population dynamics. *Population Ecology*, **52**, 59-72.

Ferreira, S.M. & Viljoen, P. 2022. African large carnivore population changes in response to a drought. *African Journal of Wildlife Research*, **52**, 1-11.

Festa, F., Ancillotto, L., Santini, L., Pacifici, M., Rocha, R., Toshkova, N., ... & Razgour, O. 2023. Bat responses to climate change: a systematic review. *Biological Reviews*, **98**, 19-33.

Ficke, A.D., Myrick, C.A. & Hansen, L.J. 2007. Potential impacts of global climate change on freshwater fisheries. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, **17**, 581-613.

Field, I.C., Meekan, M.G., Buckworth, R.C. & Bradshaw, C.J. 2009. Susceptibility of sharks, rays and chimaeras to global extinction. *Advances in Marine Biology*, **56**, 275-363.

Finch, T., Pearce-Higgins, J.W., Leech, D.I., & Evans, K.L. 2014. Carry-over effects from passage regions are more important than breeding climate in determining the breeding phenology and performance of three avian migrants of conservation concern. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, **23**, 2427-2444.

Fleischer, T., Gampe, J., Scheuerlein, A. & Kerth, G. 2017. Rare catastrophic events drive population dynamics in a bat species with negligible senescence. *Scientific Reports*, **7**, 7370.

Fleming, A.H., Clark, C.T., Calambokidis, J. & Barlow, J. 2016. Humpback whale diets respond to variance in ocean climate and ecosystem conditions in the California Current. *Global Change Biology*, **22**, 1214-1224.

Fleming, T.H. & Eby, P. 2003. Ecology of bat migration. In: Kunz TH, Fenton MB: *Bat ecology*. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL, pp 156–208.

Flockhart, D.T., Pichancourt, J.B., Norris, D.R. & Martin, T.G. 2015. Unravelling the annual cycle in a migratory animal: breeding-season habitat loss drives population declines of monarch butterflies. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **84**, 155-165.

Foden, W.B., Young, B.E., Akçakaya, H.A., Garcia, R.A., Hoffmann, A.A., Stein, B.A., ... & Huntley, B. 2019. *Wiley interdisciplinary reviews: climate change*, **10**, e551

Fontaine, M.C., Tolley, K.A., Michaux, J.R., Birkun Jr, A., Ferreira, M., Jauniaux, T., ... & Baird, S.J. 2010. Genetic and historic evidence for climate-driven population fragmentation in a top cetacean predator: the harbour porpoises in European water. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **277**, 2829-2837.

Fox, R. 2013. The decline of moths in Great Britain: a review of possible causes. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, **6**, 5-19.

Frankel, A.S., Gabriele, C.M., Yin, S. & Rickards, S.H. 2022. Humpback whale abundance in Hawai 'i: Temporal trends and response to climatic drivers. *Marine Mammal Science*, **38**, 118-138.

Franks, S.E., Pearce-Higgins, J.W., Atkinson, S., Bell, J.R., Botham, M.S., Brereton, T.M., ... & Leech, D.I. 2018. The sensitivity of breeding songbirds to changes in seasonal timing is linked to population change but cannot be directly attributed to the effects of trophic asynchrony on productivity. *Global Change Biology*, **24**, 957-971.

Frederiksen, M., Wanless, S., Harris, M.P., Rothery, P. & Wilson, L. J. 2004. The role of industrial fisheries and oceanographic change in the decline of North Sea black-legged kittiwakes. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **41**, 1129-1139.

Frederiksen, M., Edwards, M., Richardson, A.J., Halliday, N.C. & Wanless, S. 2006. From plankton to top predators: bottom-up control of a marine food web across four trophic levels. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **75**, 1259-1268.

Frederiksen, M., Daunt, F., Harris, M.P. & Wanless, S. 2008. The demographic impact of extreme events: stochastic weather drives survival and population dynamics in a long-lived seabird. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **77**, 1020-1029.

Fretwell, P. T., Boutet, A., & Ratcliffe, N. 2023. Record low 2022 Antarctic sea ice led to catastrophic breeding failure of emperor penguins. *Communications Earth & Environment*, **4**, 273.

Frick, W.F., Kingston, T., & Flanders, J. 2020. A review of the major threats and challenges to global bat conservation. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, **1469**, 5-25.

Froidevaux, J.S., Boughey, K.L., Barlow, K.E. & Jones, G. 2017. Factors driving population recovery of the greater horseshoe bat (*Rhinolophus ferromequinum*) in the UK: implications for conservation. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, **26**, 1601-1621.

Fuentes, M.M., Allstadt, A.J., Ceriani, S.A., Godfrey, M.H., Gredzens, C., Helmers, D., ... & Bateman, B.L. 2020. Potential adaptability of marine turtles to climate change may be hindered by coastal development in the USA. *Regional Environmental Change*, **20**, 1-14.

Fukuda, Y., McDonald, P.J. & Crase, B. 2022. Lost to the sea: predicted climate change threats to saltwater crocodile nesting habitat. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, **10**, 171.

Galbraith, H., DesRochers, D.W., Brown, S.& Reed, J.M. 2014. Predicting vulnerabilities of North American shorebirds to climate change. *PLoS One*, **9**, e108899.

Ganendran, L.B., Sidhu, L.A., Catchpole, E.A., Chambers, L.E. & Dann, P. 2016. Effects of ambient air temperature, humidity and rainfall on annual survival of adult little penguins Eudyptula minor in southeastern Australia. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, **60**, 1237-1245.

Gaston, A.J., Gilchrist, H.G. & Hipfner, J.M. 2005. Climate change, ice conditions and reproduction in an Arctic nesting marine bird: Brünnich's guillemot (*Uria lomvia L.*). *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **74**, 832-841.

George, J.C., Druckenmiller, M.L., Laidre, K.L., Suydam, R. & Person, B. 2015. Bowhead whale body condition and links to summer sea ice and upwelling in the Beaufort Sea. *Progress in Oceanography*, **136**, 250-262.

Ginath Yuh, Y., N'Goran, P.K., Dongmo, Z.N., Tracz, W., Tangwa, E., Agunbiade, M., ... & Fotang, C. 2020. Mapping suitable great ape habitat in and around the Lobéké National Park, South-East Cameroon. *Ecology and Evolution*, **10**, 14282-14299.

Girard, F., Catteau, S., Gambaiani, D., Gérigny, O., Sénégas, J.B., Moisson, P. & Claro, F. 2021. Shift in demographic structure and increased reproductive activity of loggerhead turtles in the French Mediterranean Sea revealed by long-term monitoring. *Scientific Reports*, **11**, 23164.

Giroux, J.F., Patenaude-Monette, M., Lagarde, F., Mousseau, P. & Racine, F. 2016. Changes in spring arrival date and timing of breeding of Ring-billed Gulls in southern Québec over four decades. *Avian Conservation and Ecology*, **11**, 1.

Gjerdrum, C., Vallée, A.M., St.Clair, C.C., Bertram, D.F., Ryder, J.L. & Blackburn, G.S. 2003. Tufted puffin reproduction reveals ocean climate variability. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **100**, 9377-9382.

Gómez-Ruiz, E.P. & Lacher Jr, T.E. 2019. Climate change, range shifts, and the disruption of a pollinator-plant complex. *Scientific Reports*, **9**, 14048.

Goto, D., Hamel, M.J., Pegg, M.A., Hammen, J.J., Rugg, M.L. & Forbes, V.E. 2018. Spatially dynamic maternal control of migratory fish recruitment pulses triggered by shifting seasonal cues. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, **69**, 942-961.

Grosbois, V., Harris, M.P., Anker-Nilssen, T., McCleery, R.H., Shaw, D.N., Morgan, B.J. & Gimenez, O. 2009. Modeling survival at multi-population scales using mark–recapture data. *Ecology*, **90**, 2922-2932.

Grose, S.O., Pendleton, L., Leathers, A., Cornish, A. & Waitai, S. 2020. Climate change will re-draw the map for marine megafauna and the people who depend on them. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, **7**, 547.

Grunow, B., Franz, G.P. & Tönißen, K. 2021. In vitro fish models for the analysis of ecotoxins and temperature increase in the context of global warming. *Toxics*, **9**, 286.

Guillemain, M., Pöysä, H., Fox, A.D., Arzel, C., Dessborn, L., Ekroos, J., ... & Møller, A.P. 2013. Effects of climate change on European ducks: what do we know and what do we need to know? *Wildlife Biology*, **19**, 404-419.

Gunnarsson, T.G., Gill, J.A., Newton, J., Potts, P.M. & Sutherland, W.J. 2005. Seasonal matching of habitat quality and fitness in a migratory bird. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, B*, **272**, 2319-2323.

Gunnarsson, T.G., Gill, J.A., Atkinson, P.W., Gelinaud, G., Potts, P.M., Croger, R.E., ... & Sutherland, W.J. 2006. Population-scale drivers of individual arrival times in migratory birds. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **75**, 1119-1127.

Gunnarsson, G., Waldenström, J. & Fransson, T. 2012. Direct and indirect effects of winter harshness on the survival of Mallards *Anas platyrhynchos* in northwest Europe. *Ibis*, **154**, 307-317.

Gutiérrez, J.M., Jones, R.G. Narisma, G.T., Alves, L.M., Amjad, M., Gorodetskaya, I.V., ... & Yoon, J-H. 2021. Regional Fact Sheet for Africa - Interactive Atlas. In: V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N., ... & B. Zhou (eds) *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*. Available from http://interactive-atlas.ipcc.ch/

Gutowsky, L.F.G., Rider, M.J., Roemer, R.P., Gallagher, A.J., Heithaus, M.R., Cooke, S.J. & Hammerschlag, N. 2021. Large sharks exhibit varying behavioral responses to major hurricanes. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, **256**, 107373.

Haest, B., Hüppop, O. & Bairlein, F. 2020. Weather at the winter and stopover areas determines spring migration onset, progress, and advancements in Afro-Palearctic migrant birds. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **117**, 17056-17062.

Haest, B., Stepanian, P.M., Wainwright, C.E., Liechti, F. & Bauer, S. 2021. Climatic drivers of (changes in) bat migration phenology at Bracken Cave (USA). *Global Change Biology*, **27**, 768-780.

Hahn, S., Bauer, S. & Liechti, F. 2009. The natural link between Europe and Africa–2.1 billion birds on migration. *Oikos*, **118**, 624-626.

Hall, L.K., Lambert, C.T., Larsen, R.T., Knight, R.N. & McMillan, B.R. 2016. Will climate change leave some desert bat species thirstier than others? *Biological Conservation*, **201**, 284-292.

Hällfors, M.H., Heikkinen, R. K., Kuussaari, M., Lehikoinen, A., Luoto, M., Pöyry, J., ... & Kujala, H. 2023. Recent range shifts of moths, butterflies, and birds are driven by the breadth of their climatic niche. *Evolution Letters*, qrad004.

Hallmann, C.A., Sorg, M., Jongejans, E., Siepel, H., Hofland, N., Schwan, H., ... & De Kroon, H. 2017. More than 75 percent decline over 27 years in total flying insect biomass in protected areas. *PloS one*, **12**, e0185809.

Hamann, M., Limpus, C.J. & Read, M.A. 2007. *Vulnerability of marine reptiles in the Great Barrier Reef to climate change*. In: Climate change and the Great Barrier Reef: a vulnerability assessment, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority and the Australian Greenhouse Office.

Hammen, J.J., Hamel, M.J., Rugg, M.L., Peters, E.J. & Pegg, M.A. 2018. Population Characteristics of shovelnose sturgeon during low-and high-water conditions in the Lower Platte River, Nebraska. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, **38**, 308-315.

Hannan, K.D. & Rummer, J.L. 2018. Aquatic acidification: a mechanism underpinning maintained oxygen transport and performance in fish experiencing elevated carbon dioxide conditions. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, **221**, jeb154559.

Harris, M.P., Buckland, S.T., Russell, S.M. & Wanless, S. 1994. Year-and age-related variation in the survival of adult European shags over a 24-year period. *The Condor*, **96**, 600-605.

Hauser, D.D., Laidre, K.L., Stern, H.L., Suydam, R.S. & Richard, P.R. 2018. Indirect effects of sea ice loss on summerfall habitat and behaviour for sympatric populations of an Arctic marine predator. *Diversity and Distributions*, **24**, 791-799.

Havas, M. & Rosseland, B.O. 1995. Response of zooplankton, benthos, and fish to acidification: an overview. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, **85**, 51-62.

Hawkes, L.A., Broderick, A.C., Godfrey, M.H. & Godley, B.J. 2007. Investigating the potential impacts of climate change on a marine turtle population. *Global Change Biology*, **13**, 923-932.

Hawkes, L.A., Broderick, A.C., Godfrey, M.H. & Godley, B.J. 2009. Climate change and marine turtles. *Endangered Species Research*, **7**, 137-154.

Hayes, M.A. & Adams, R.A. 2017. Simulated bat populations erode when exposed to climate change projections for western North America. *PLoS One*, **12**, e0180693.

Hazen, E.L., Jorgensen, S., Rykaczewski, R.R., Bograd, S.J., Foley, D.G., Jonsen, I.D., ... & Block, B.A. 2013. Predicted habitat shifts of Pacific top predators in a changing climate. *Nature Climate Change*, **3**, 234-238.

He, F., Zarfl, C., Bremerich, V., David, J.N., Hogan, Z., Kalinkat, G., ... & Jähnig, S.C. 2019. The global decline of freshwater megafauna. *Global Change Biology*, **25**, 3883-3892.

Heath, M.R., Neat, F.C., Pinnegar, J.K., Reid, D.G., Sims, D.W. & Wright, P.J. 2012. Review of climate change impacts on marine fish and shellfish around the UK and Ireland. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, **22**, 337-367.

Hedd, A., Bertram, D.F., Ryder, J.L. & Jones, I.L. 2006. Effects of interdecadal climate variability on marine trophic interactions: rhinoceros auklets and their fish prey. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **309**, 263-278.

Heuer, R.M. & Grosell, M. 2014. Physiological impacts of elevated carbon dioxide and ocean acidification on fish. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, *Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, **307**, R1061-R1084.

Heupel, M.R., Papastamatiou, Y.P., Espinoza, M., Green, M.E. & Simpfendorfer, C.A. 2019. Reef shark science–key questions and future directions. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, **6**, 12.

Howard, C., Stephens, P.A., Pearce-Higgins, J.W., Gregory, R.D., Butchart, S.H. & Willis, S.G. 2020. Disentangling the relative roles of climate and land cover change in driving the long-term population trends of European migratory birds. *Diversity and Distributions*, **26**, 1442-1455.

Howard, C., Marjakangas, E. L., Morán-Ordóñez, A., Milanesi, P., Abuladze, A., Aghababyan, K., ... & Willis, S. G. 2023. Local colonisations and extinctions of European birds are poorly explained by changes in climate suitability. *Nature Communications*, **14**, 4304.

Hu, J., Hu, H. & Jiang, Z. 2010. The impacts of climate change on the wintering distribution of an endangered migratory bird. *Oecologia*, **164**, 555-565.

Huang, M., Ding, L., Wang, J., Ding, C. & Tao, J. 2021. The impacts of climate change on fish growth: A summary of conducted studies and current knowledge. *Ecological Indicators*, *121*, 106976.

Hunter, C.M., Caswell, H., Runge, M.C., Regehr, E.V., Amstrup, S.C. & Stirling, I. 2010. Climate change threatens polar bear populations: a stochastic demographic analysis. *Ecology*, **91**, 2883-2897.

Huntington, H.P., Quakenbush, L.T. & Nelson, M. 2017. Evaluating the effects of climate change on indigenous marine mammal hunting in northern and western Alaska using traditional knowledge. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, **4**, 319.

Hutterer, R., Ivanova, T., Meyer-Cords, C. & Rodrigues, L. 2005. *Bat migrations in Europe: a review of banding data and literature*. BfN-Schriftenvertrieb im Landwirtschaftsverlag.

Inchausti, P., Guinet, C., Koudil, M., Durbec, J.P., Barbraud, C., Weimerskirch, H., ... & Jouventin, P. 2003. Inter-annual variability in the breeding performance of seabirds in relation to oceanographic anomalies that affect the Crozet and the Kerguelen sectors of the Southern Ocean. *Journal of Avian Biology*, **34**, 170-176.

Ingman, K., Hines, E., Mazzini, P.L., Rockwood, R.C., Nur, N. & Jahncke, J. 2021. Modeling changes in baleen whale seasonal abundance, timing of migration, and environmental variables to explain the sudden rise in entanglements in California. *PLoS One*, **16**, e0248557.

IPCC. 2022. Summary for policymakers. In: H.O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, E.S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, M. Tignor., A. Alegría & A. Okem (eds). *Climate change 2022: Impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability: contribution of working group II to the sixth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change*. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, US.

Iwamura, T., Possingham, H.P., Chadès, I., Minton, C., Murray, N.J., Rogers, D.I., ... & Fuller, R.A. 2013. Migratory connectivity magnifies the consequences of habitat loss from sea-level rise for shorebird populations. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, B*, **280**, 20130325.

Iwamura, T., Fuller, R.A. & Possingham, H.P. 2014. Optimal management of a multispecies shorebird flyway under sealevel rise. *Conservation Biology*, **28**, 1710–1720.

Jaffré, M., Beaugrand, G., Goberville, É., Jiguet, F., Kjellén, N., Troost, G., ... & Luczak, C. 2013. Long-term phenological shifts in raptor migration and climate. *PLoS One*, **8**, e79112.

Jahn, A.E., Bejarano, V., Cueto, V.R., Di Giacomo, A.S. & Fontana, C.S. 2017. Movement ecology research to advance conservation of South America's grassland migratory birds. *Perspectives in Ecology and Conservation*, **15**, 209-215.

Jakubas, D., Wojczulanis-Jakubas, K., Iliszko, L.M., Kidawa, D., Boehnke, R., Blachowiak-Samolyk, K. & Stempniewicz, L. 2020. Flexibility of little auks foraging in various oceanographic features in a changing Arctic. *Scientific Reports*, **10**, 1-18.

Jay, K.J., Crossman, J.A. & Scribner, K.T. 2020. Temperature affects transition timing and phenotype between key developmental stages in white sturgeon *Acipenser transmontanus* yolk-sac larvae. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, **103**, 1149-1162.

Jenouvrier, S., Barbraud, C. & Weimerskirch, H. 2003. Effects of climate variability on the temporal population dynamics of southern fulmars. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **72**, 576-587.

Jenouvrier, S., Barbraud, C. & Weimerskirch, H. 2005. Long-term contrasted responses to climate of two Antarctic seabird species. *Ecology*, **86**, 2889-2903.

Jenouvrier, S., Barbraud, C. & Weimerskirch, H. 2006. Sea ice affects the population dynamics of Adélie penguins in Terre Adélie. *Polar Biology*, **29**, 413-423.

Jensen, M.P., Allen, C.D., Eguchi, T., Bell, I.P., LaCasella, E.L., Hilton, W.A., ... & Dutton, P.H. 2018. Environmental warming and feminization of one of the largest sea turtle populations in the world. *Current Biology*, **28**, 154-159.

Jenssen, B.M., Villanger, G.D., Gabrielsen, K.M., Bytingsvik, J., Bechshoft, T., Ciesielski, T.M., ... & Dietz, R. 2015. Anthropogenic flank attack on polar bears: interacting consequences of climate warming and pollutant exposure. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, **3**, 16.

Jeon, Y.S., Ko, M.H., Vasil'eva, E.D., Myung, R.Y. & Won, Y.J. 2020. Genetic patterns reveal northward range expansion and cryptic diversity in Nalbant's spined loach, *Cobitis nalbanti* sensu lato (Teleostei: Cypriniformes: Cobitidae). *Systematics and biodiversity*, **18**, 1-11.

Jha, R. & Jha, K.K. 2021. Habitat prediction modelling for vulture conservation in Gangetic-Thar-Deccan region of India. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, **193**, 532.

Johnson, B. & Colombelli-Négrel, D. 2021. Breeding success in Southern Australian Little Penguins is negatively correlated with high wind speeds and sea surface temperatures. *The Condor*, **123**, duaa062.

Johnston, A., Ausden, M., Dodd, A.M., Bradbury, R.B., Chamberlain, D.E., Jiguet, F., ... & Pearce-Higgins, J.W. 2013. Observed and predicted effects of climate change on species abundance in protected areas. *Nature Climate Change*, **3**, 1055-1061.

Johnston, N.M., Murphy, E.J., Atkinson, A., Constable, A.J., Cotté, C., Cox, M., ... & Yang, G. 2022. Status, change, and futures of zooplankton in the Southern Ocean. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, **9**, 1039.

Jorgensen, S.J., Micheli, F., White, T.D., Van Houtan, K.S., Alfaro-Shigueto, J., Andrzejaczek, S., ... & Ferretti, F. 2022. Emergent research and priorities for shark and ray conservation. *Endangered species research*, **47**, 171-203.

Junker, J., Blake, S., Boesch, C., Campbell, G., Toit, L.D., Duvall, C., ... & Kuehl, H.S. 2012. Recent decline in suitable environmental conditions for African great apes. *Diversity and Distributions*, **18**, 1077-1091.

Kaczensky, P., Ganbataar, O., Altansukh, N., Enkhsaikhan, N., Stauffer, C. & Walzer, C. 2011. The danger of having all your eggs in one basket—winter crash of the re-introduced Przewalski's horses in the Mongolian Gobi. *PLoS One*, **6**, e28057.

Kaky, E., Nolan, V., Khalil, M.I., Mohammed, A.M.A., Jaf, A.A.A., Mohammed-Amin, S.M., ... & Gilbert, F. 2023. Conservation of the Goitered gazelle (*Gazella subgutturosa*) under climate changes in Iraq. *Heliyon*, **9**, e12501.

Kanagaraj, R., Araujo, M.B., Barman, R., Davidar, P., De, R., Digal, D.K., ... & Goyal, S.P. 2019. Predicting range shifts of Asian elephants under global change. *Diversity and Distributions*, **25**, 822-838.

Kaschner, K., Tittensor, D.P., Ready, J., Gerrodette, T. & Worm, B. 2011. Current and future patterns of global marine mammal biodiversity. *PLoS One*, **6**, e19653.

Katselidis, K.A., Schofield, G., Stamou, G., Dimopoulos, P. & Pantis, J.D. 2014. Employing sea-level rise scenarios to strategically select sea turtle nesting habitat important for long-term management at a temperate breeding area. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **450**, 47-54.

Kauffman, M.J., Aikens, E.O., Esmaeili, S., Kaczensky, P., Middleton, A., Monteith, K.L., ... & Goheen, J.R. 2021. Causes, consequences, and conservation of ungulate migration. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, **52**, 453-478.

Keiper, C.A., Ainley, D.G., Allen, S.G. & Harvey, J.T. 2005. Marine mammal occurrence and ocean climate off central California, 1986 to 1994 and 1997 to 1999. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **289**, 285-306.

Keogan, K., Daunt, F., Wanless, S., Phillips, R.A., Walling, C.A., Agnew, P., ... & Lewis, S. 2018. Global phenological insensitivity to shifting ocean temperatures among seabirds. *Nature Climate Change*, **8**, 313-318.

Keogan, K., Daunt, F., Wanless, S., Phillips, R.A., Alvarez, D., Anker-Nilssen, T., ... & Phillimore, A.B. 2022. Variation and correlation in the timing of breeding of North Atlantic seabirds across multiple scales. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **91**, 1797-1812.

Khorozyan, I., Soofi, M., Ghoddousi, A., Hamidi, A.K. & Waltert, M. 2015. The relationship between climate, diseases of domestic animals and human-carnivore conflicts. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, **16**, 703-713.

Kigen, C., Okoth, P., Konje, M., Shivoga, W., Ochieno, D., Wanjala, S., ... & Makindi, S. 2013. Modeling the spatial impact of climate change on Grevy's Zebra (*Equus grevyi*) niche in Kenya. *Remote Sensing*, **62**, 17608-17611

Kindong, R., Sarr, O., Wang, J., Xia, M., Wu, F., Dai, L., ... & Dai, X. 2022. Size distribution patterns of silky shark *Carcharhinus falciformis* shaped by environmental factors in the Pacific Ocean. *Science of the Total Environment*, **850**, 157927.

King, D.T., Wang, G., Yang, Z. & Fischer, J.W. 2017. Advances and environmental conditions of spring migration phenology of American White Pelicans. *Scientific Reports*, **7**, 40339.

Kitaysky, A.S. & Golubova, E.G. 2000. Climate change causes contrasting trends in reproductive performance of planktivorous and piscivorous alcids. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **69**, 248-262.

Kitratporn, N. & Takeuchi, W. 2022. Human-elephant conflict risk assessment under coupled climatic and anthropogenic changes in Thailand. *Science of the Total Environment*, **834**, 155174.

Koenigstein, S., Mark, F.C., Gößling-Reisemann, S., Reuter, H. & Poertner, H.O. 2016. Modelling climate change impacts on marine fish populations: process-based integration of ocean warming, acidification and other environmental drivers. *Fish and Fisheries*, **17**, 972-1004.

Kotze, R., Marshal, J.P., Winterbach, C.W., Winterbach, H.E. & Keith, M. 2021. Demographic consequences of habitat loss and crowding in large carnivores: a natural experiment. *African Journal of Ecology*, **59**, 63-73.

Kowalczyk, N.D., Reina, R.D., Preston, T.J., and Chiaradia, A. 2015. Environmental variability drives shifts in the foraging behaviour and reproductive success of an inshore seabird. *Oecologia*, **178**, 967–979.

Krauel, J.J. & McCracken, G.F. 2013. Recent advances in bat migration research. In: Adams RA & Pedersen SC (Eds), *Bat evolution, ecology, and conservation*, pp 293-313.

Kravchenko, K.A., Vlaschenko, A.S., Lehnert, L.S., Courtiol, A. & Voigt, C.C. 2020. Generational shift in the migratory common noctule bat: first-year males lead the way to hibernacula at higher latitudes. *Biology Letters*, **16**, 20200351.

Krüger, O., Liversidge, R. & Lindström, J. 2002. Statistical modelling of the population dynamics of a raptor community in a semi-desert environment. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **71**, 603-613.

Kwon, E., Weiser, E.L., Lanctot, R.B., Brown, S.C., Gates, H.R., Gilchrist, G., ... & Sandercock, B.K. 2019. Geographic variation in the intensity of warming and phenological mismatch between Arctic shorebirds and invertebrates. *Ecological Monographs*, **89**, e01383.

Kynard, B., Bolden, S., Kieffer, M., Collins, M., Brundage, H., Hilton, E.J., ... & Peterson, D. 2016. Life history and status of Shortnose Sturgeon (*Acipenser brevirostrum*). *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, **32**, 208-248.

La Rue, M.A., Ainley, D.G., Swanson, M., Dugger, K.M., Lyver, P.O.B., Barton, K. & Ballard, G. 2013. Climate change winners: receding ice fields facilitate colony expansion and altered dynamics in an Adélie penguin metapopulation. *PLoS One*, **8**, e60568.

Laidre, K.L., Stirling, I., Lowry, L.F., Wiig, Ø., Heide-Jørgensen, M.P. & Ferguson, S.H. 2008. Quantifying the sensitivity of Arctic marine mammals to climate-induced habitat change. *Ecological Applications*, **18**, S97-S125.

Laloë, J.O., Esteban, N., Berkel, J. & Hays, G.C. 2016. Sand temperatures for nesting sea turtles in the Caribbean: Implications for hatchling sex ratios in the face of climate change. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **474**, 92-99.

Lameris, T.K., Tomkovich, P.S., Johnson, J.A., Morrison, R.G., Tulp, I., Lisovski, S., ... & van Gils, J.A. 2022. Mismatchinduced growth reductions in a clade of Arctic-breeding shorebirds are rarely mitigated by increasing temperatures. *Global Change Biology*, **28**, 829-847.

Lanyon, J.M. & Burgess, E.A. 2019. Reproductive science methods for wild, fully-marine mammals: current approaches and future applications. *Reproductive Sciences in Animal Conservation*, **1200**, 363-411.

Lascelles, B., Notarbartolo Di Sciara, G., Agardy, T., Cuttelod, A., Eckert, S., Glowka, L., ... & Tetley, M.J. 2014. Migratory marine species: their status, threats and conservation management needs. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, **24**, 111-127.

Lassalle, G., Crouzet, P., Gessner, J. & Rochard, E. 2010. Global warming impacts and conservation responses for the critically endangered European Atlantic sturgeon. *Biological conservation*, **143**, 2441-2452.

Lawson, J.M., Pollom, R.A., Gordon, C.A., Barker, J., Meyers, E.K., Zidowitz, H., ... & Dulvy, N.K. 2020. Extinction risk and conservation of critically endangered angel sharks in the Eastern Atlantic and Mediterranean Sea. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, **77**, 12-29.

Layton-Matthews, K., Hansen, B.B., Grøtan, V., Fuglei, E. & Loonen, M.J. 2020. Contrasting consequences of climate change for migratory geese: Predation, density dependence and carryover effects offset benefits of high-arctic warming. *Global Change Biology*, **26**, 642-657

Le Gouar, P.J., Schekkerman, H., van Der Jeugd, H.P., Boele, A., van Harxen, R., Fuchs, P., ... & van Noordwijk, A.J. 2011. Long-term trends in survival of a declining population: the case of the little owl (*Athene noctua*) in the Netherlands. *Oecologia*, **166**, 369-379.

Learmonth, J.A., MacLeod, C.D., Santos, M.B., Pierce, G.J., Crick, H.Q.P. & Robinson, R.A. 2006. Potential effects of climate change on marine mammals. *Oceanography and Marine Biology*, **44**, 431.

Lehikoinen, A., Jaatinen, K., Vähätalo, A.V., Clausen, P., Crowe, O., Deceuninck, B., ... & Fox, A.D. 2013. Rapid climate driven shifts in wintering distributions of three common waterbird species. *Global Change Biology*, **19**, 2071-2081.

Lehmann, J., Korstjens, A.H. & Dunbar, R.I. 2010. Apes in a changing world-the effects of global warming on the behaviour and distribution of African apes. *Journal of Biogeography*, **37**, 2217-2231.

Lelieveld, J., Hadjinicolaou, P., Kostopoulou, E., Chenoweth, J., El Maayar, M., Giannakopoulos, C., ... & Xoplaki, E. 2012. Climate change and impacts in the Eastern Mediterranean and the Middle East. *Climatic Change*, **114**, 667-687.

Lemoine, N.P. 2015. Climate change may alter breeding ground distributions of eastern migratory monarchs (*Danaus plexippus*) via range expansion of Asclepias host plants. *PLoS One*, **10**, e0118614.

Lescroël, A., Ballard, G., Grémillet, D., Authier, M. & Ainley, D.G. 2014. Antarctic climate change: extreme events disrupt plastic phenotypic response in Adélie penguins. *PLoS One*, **9**, e85291.

Levangie, P.E., Blanchfield, P.J. & Hutchings, J.A. 2022. The influence of ocean warming on the natural mortality of marine fishes. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, **105**, 1447-1461.

Li, M., Zhou, H., Bai, J., Zhang, T., Liu, Y. & Ran, J. 2022. Distribution of Breeding Population and Predicting Future Habitat under Climate Change of Black-Necked Crane (*Grus nigricollis* Przevalski, 1876) in Shaluli Mountains. *Animals*, **12**, 2594.

Li, W., Yu, Y., Liu, P., Tang, R., Dai, Y., Li, L. & Zhang, L. 2019. Identifying climate refugia and its potential impact on small population of Asian elephant (*Elephas maximus*) in China. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, **19**, e00664.

Liang, G., Liu, J., Niu, H. & Ding, S. 2022. Influence of land use changes on landscape connectivity for North China leopard (*Panthera pardus japonensis*). *Ecology and Evolution*, **12**, e9429.

Lima, M., Julliard, R., Stenseth, N.C. & Jaksic, F.M. 2001. Demographic dynamics of a neotropical small rodent (*Phyllotis darwini*): feedback structure, predation and climatic factors. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **70**, 761-775.

Limburg, K., Brown, R., Johnson, R., Pine, B., Rulifson, R., Secor, D., ... & Wilson, K. 2016. Round-the-Coast: snapshots of estuarine climate change effects. *Fisheries*, **41**, 392-394.

Limburg, K.E. & Waldman, J.R. 2009. Dramatic declines in North Atlantic diadromous fishes. *BioScience*, 59, 955-965.

Liu, L., Liao, J., Wu, Y. & Zhang, Y. 2020. Breeding range shift of the red-crowned crane (*Grus japonensis*) under climate change. *Plos One*, **15**, e0229984.

Livolsi, M.C., Williams, C.K., Coluccy, J.M. & Dibona, M.T. 2021. The effect of sea level rise on dabbling Duck energetic carrying capacity. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, **85**, 686-695.

López, B.D. & Methion, S. 2019. Habitat drivers of endangered rorqual whales in a highly impacted upwelling region. *Ecological Indicators*, **103**, 610-616.

Lourenço, S.I. & Palmeirim, J.M. 2004. Influence of temperature in roost selection by *Pipistrellus pygmaeus* (Chiroptera): relevance for the design of bat boxes. *Biological Conservation*, **119**, 237-243.

Louzao, M., Afán, I., Santos, M. & Brereton, T. 2015. The role of climate and food availability on driving decadal abundance patterns of highly migratory pelagic predators in the Bay of Biscay. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, **3**, 90.

Low, T. 2011. *Climate change and terrestrial biodiversity in Queensland*. Department of Environment and Resource Management, Queensland Government, Brisbane.

Lundy, M., Montgomery, I. & Russ, J.2010. Climate change-linked range expansion of Nathusius' pipistrelle bat, *Pipistrellus nathusii* (Keyserling & Blasius, 1839). *Journal of Biogeography*, **37**, 2232–2242.

Luo, J., Koselj, K., Zsebok, S., Siemers, B.M. & Goerlitz, H.R. 2014. Global warming alters sound transmission: differential impact on the prey detection ability of echolocating bats. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, **11**, 20130961.

Luo, Z., Jiang, Z. & Tang, S. 2015. Impacts of climate change on distributions and diversity of ungulates on the Tibetan Plateau. *Ecological Applications*, **25**, 24-38.

Lynch, H.J., Naveen, R., Trathan, P.N. & Fagan, W.F. 2012. Spatially integrated assessment reveals widespread changes in penguin populations on the Antarctic Peninsula. *Ecology*, **93**, 1367-1377.

Lyons, J. & Stewart, J.S. 2014. Predicted effects of future climate warming on thermal habitat suitability for Lake Sturgeon (*Acipenser fulvescens*, Rafinesque, 1817) in rivers in Wisconsin, USA. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, **30**, 1508-1513.

Ma, Z., Melville, D.S., Liu, J., Chen, Y., Yang, H., Ren, W., Zhang, Z., Piersma, T.and Li, B. 2014. Rethinking China's new great wall. Massive seawall construction in coastal wetlands threatens biodiversity. *Science*, **346**, 912–914.

Macías-Duarte, A., Montoya, A.B., Hunt, W.G., Lafón-Terrazas, A. & Tafanelli, R. 2004. Reproduction, prey, and habitat of the Aplomado Falcon (*Falco femoralis*) in desert grasslands of Chihuahua, Mexico. *The Auk*, **121**, 1081-1093.

Maclean, I.M., Austin, G.E., Rehfisch, M.M., Blew, J.A.N., Crowe, O., Delany, S., ... & Wahl, J. 2008. Climate change causes rapid changes in the distribution and site abundance of birds in winter. *Global Change Biology*, **14**, 2489-2500.

Madsen, J., Schreven, K.H.T., Jensen, G.H., Johnson, F.A., Nilsson, L., Nolet, B. A. & Pessa, J.2023. Rapid formation of new migration route and breeding area by Arctic geese. *Current Biology*, **33**, 1162-1170.e4.

Malcolm, S.B. 2018. Anthropogenic impacts on mortality and population viability of the monarch butterfly. *Annual Review of Entomology*, **63**, 277-302.

Mallory, M.L., Gaston, A.J., Forbes, M.R. & Gilchrist, H.G. 2009. Influence of weather on reproductive success of northern fulmars in the Canadian high Arctic. *Polar Biology*, **32**, 529-538.

Mann, H.A., Hamilton, D.J., Paquet, J.M., Gratto-Trevor, C.L. & Neima, S.G. 2017. Effects of extreme tidal events on Semipalmated Sandpiper (*Calidris pusilla*) migratory stopover in the Bay of Fundy, Canada. *Waterbirds*, **40**, 41-49.

Mariki, S.B., Svarstad, H. & Benjaminsen, T.A. 2015. Elephants over the cliff: explaining wildlife killings in Tanzania. *Land Use Policy*, *44*, 19-30.

Marini, M.A., Barbet-Massin, M.E., Lopes, L.E., & Jiguet, F. 2009. Predicted climate-driven bird distribution changes and forecasted conservation conflicts in a neotropical savanna. *Conservation Biology*, **23**, 1558-1567.

Marion, L., Barbier, L. & Morin, C. 2006. Status of Little Bittern *Ixobrychus minutus* in France between 1968 and 2004 and causes of population changes. *Alauda*, **7**, 155-170.

Martay, B., Brewer, M.J., Elston, D.A., Bell, J.R., Harrington, R., Brereton, T.M., ... & Pearce-Higgins, J.W. 2017. Impacts of climate change on national biodiversity population trends. *Ecography*, **40**, 1139-1151.

Martay, B., Leech, D.I., Shortall, C.R., Bell, J.R., Thackeray, S.J., Hemming, D.L. & Pearce-Higgins, J.W. 2023. Aerial insect biomass, but not phenological mismatch, is associated with chick survival of an insectivorous bird. *Ibis*, doi:10.1111/ibi.13190.

Martínez-Freiría, F., Tarroso, P., Rebelo, H. & Brito, J.C. 2016. Contemporary niche contraction affects climate change predictions for elephants and giraffes. *Diversity and distributions*, **22**, 432-444.

Martínez-Ruiz, M., Dykstra, C.R., Booms, T.L. & Henderson, M.T. 2023. Conservation Letter: Effects of Global Climate Change on Raptors. *Journal of Raptor Research*, **57**, 92-105.

Mas, M., Flaquer, C., Puig-Montserrat, X., Porres, X., Rebelo, H. & López-Baucells, A. 2022. Winter bat activity: The role of wetlands as food and drinking reservoirs under climate change. *Science of the Total Environment*, **828**, 154403.

Mattsson, B.J., Mateo-Tomás, P., Aebischer, A., Rösner, S., Kunz, F., Schöll, E.M., ... & Viñuela, J. 2022. Enhancing monitoring and transboundary collaboration for conserving migratory species under global change: The priority case of the red kite. *Journal of Environmental Management*, **317**, 115345.

Maurer, A.S., Seminoff, J.A., Layman, C.A., Stapleton, S.P., Godfrey, M.H. & Reiskind, M.O.B. 2021. Population viability of sea turtles in the context of global warming. *BioScience*, **71**, 790-804.

Maynard, L.D., Therrien, J.F., Lemaître, J., Booms, T., Miller, T.A., Katzner, T., ... & Lecomte, N. 2022. Interannual consistency of migration phenology is season-and breeding region-specific in North American Golden Eagles. *Ornithology*, **139**, ukac029.

Mazaris, A.D., Schofield, G., Gkazinou, C., Almpanidou, V. & Hays, G.C. 2017. Global sea turtle conservation successes. *Science Advances*, **3**, e1600730.

Mazerolle, D.F., Dufour, K.W., Hobson, K.A. & Haan, H.E.D. 2005. Effects of large-scale climatic fluctuations on survival and production of young in a Neotropical migrant songbird, the yellow warbler *Dendroica petechia*. *Journal of Avian Biology*, **36**, 155-163.

McClure, C.J., Westrip, J.R., Johnson, J.A., Schulwitz, S.E., Virani, M.Z., Davies, R., ... & Butchart, S.H. 2018. State of the world's raptors: distributions, threats, and conservation recommendations. *Biological Conservation*, **227**, 390-402.

McCracken, G.F., Bernard, R.F., Gamba-Rios, M., Wolfe, R., Krauel, J.J., Jones, D.N. & Brown, V.A. 2018. Rapid range expansion of the Brazilian free-tailed bat in the southeastern United States, 2008–2016. *Journal of Mammalogy*, **99**, 312–320.

McGowan, M.M., Perlut, N.G., & Strong, A.M. 2021. Agriculture is adapting to phenological shifts caused by climate change, but grassland songbirds are not. *Ecology and Evolution*, **11**, 6993-7002.

McKechnie, A.E., Hockey, P.A. & Wolf, B.O. 2012. Feeling the heat: Australian landbirds and climate change. *Emu-Austral Ornithology*, **112**, i-vii.

McNamara, A., Atkinson, J., Froy, H., Khela, S., Smith, R., Peet, J., ... & Baillie, J. 2010. *Climate change vulnerability of migratory species. Species Assessments*. ZSL, UNEP/CMS Secretariat. Bonn, Germany.

McNamara, K., Westoby, R. & Parnell, K. 2010. *Resilience in knowledge: unpacking adaptation strategies on Erub Island, Torres Strait.* Report. Reef and Rainforest Research Centre, Cairns, QLD, Australia.

McNutt, J.W., Groom, R. & Woodroffe, R. 2019. Ambient temperature provides an adaptive explanation for seasonal reproduction in a tropical mammal. *Journal of Zoology*, **309**, 153-160.

McPhaden, M.J., Santoso, A. & Cai, W. 2020. Introduction to El Niño Southern Oscillation in a changing climate. *American Geophysical Union, Fall Meeting*, **2020**, 1-19.

Meager, J.J. & Limpus, C. 2014. Mortality of inshore marine mammals in eastern Australia is predicted by freshwater discharge and air temperature. *PLoS One*, **9**, e94849.

Meltofte, H., Amstrup, O., Petersen, T.L., Rigét, F. & Tøttrup, A.P. 2018. Trends in breeding phenology across ten decades show varying adjustments to environmental changes in four wader species. *Bird Study*, **65**, 44-51.

Miller, E.N., Lunn, N.J., McGeachy, D. & Derocher, A.E. 2022. Autumn migration phenology of polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) in Hudson Bay, Canada. *Polar Biology*, **45**, 1023-1034.

Miller-Rushing, A. J., Lloyd-Evans, T. L., Primack, R. B., & Satzinger, P. (2008). Bird migration times, climate change, and changing population sizes. *Global Change Biology*, **14** (9), 1959-1972.

Millon, A., Danovaro, C., Printemps, T., Leroux, A.B., Schlaich, A.E., Villers, A., ... & Bretagnolle, V. 2019. Disentangling the effects of environmental conditions on wintering and breeding grounds on age-specific survival rates in a trans-Saharan migratory raptor. *Journal of Avian Biology*, **50**, 1-10.

Mitchell, N.J. & Janzen, F.J. 2010. Temperature-dependent sex determination and contemporary climate change. *Sexual Development*, **4**, 129-140.

Mo, M., Roache, M., Davies, J., Hopper, J., Pitty, H., Foster, N., ... & Welbergen, J.A. 2021. Estimating flying-fox mortality associated with abandonments of pups and extreme heat events during the austral summer of 2019–20. *Pacific Conservation Biology*, **28**, 124-139.

Møller, A.P. 1989. Population dynamics of a declining swallow *Hirundo rustica* population. *The Journal of Animal Ecology*, **58**, 1051-1063.

Møller, A.P., Rubolini, D. & Lehikoinen, E. 2008. Populations of migratory bird species that did not show a phenological response to climate change are declining. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **105**, 16195-16200.

Molnár, P.K., Derocher, A.E., Thiemann, G.W. & Lewis, M.A. 2010. Predicting survival, reproduction and abundance of polar bears under climate change. *Biological Conservation*, **143**, 1612-1622.

Molnár, P.K., Bitz, C.M., Holland, M.M., Kay, J.E., Penk, S.R. & Amstrup, S.C. 2020. Fasting season length sets temporal limits for global polar bear persistence. *Nature Climate Change*, **10**, 732-738.

Monticelli, D., Ramos, J.A. & Quartly, G.D. 2007. Effects of annual changes in primary productivity and ocean indices on breeding performance of tropical roseate terns in the western Indian Ocean. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **351**, 273-286.

Moon, J.A., Lehnen, S.E., Metzger, K.L., Squires, M.A., Brasher, M.G., Wilson, B.C., ... & Ballard, B.M. 2021. Projected impact of sea-level rise and urbanization on mottled duck (*Anas fulvigula*) habitat along the Gulf Coast of Louisiana and Texas through 2100. *Ecological Indicators*, **132**, 108276.

Moore, S.E. 2008. Marine mammals as ecosystem sentinels. Journal of Mammalogy, 89, 534-540.

Moore, S.E. & Huntington, H.P. 2008. Arctic marine mammals and climate change: impacts and resilience. *Ecological Applications*, **18**, S157-S165.

Morash, A.J., Mackellar, S.R., Tunnah, L., Barnett, D.A., Stehfest, K.M., Semmens, J.M. & Currie, S. 2016. Pass the salt: physiological consequences of ecologically relevant hyposmotic exposure in juvenile gummy sharks (*Mustelus antarcticus*) and school sharks (*Galeorhinus galeus*). *Conservation Physiology*, **4**, cow036.

Morecroft, M.D., Duffield, S., Harley, M., Pearce-Higgins, J.W., Stevens, N., Watts, O. & Whitaker, J. 2019. Measuring the success of climate change adaptation and mitigation in terrestrial ecosystems. *Science*, **366**, eaaw9256.

Mpakairi, K.S., Ndaimani, H., Tagwireyi, P., Zvidzai, M. & Madiri, T.H. 2020. Futuristic climate change scenario predicts a shrinking habitat for the African elephant (*Loxodonta africana*): evidence from Hwange National Park, Zimbabwe. *European Journal of Wildlife Research*, **66**, 1-10.

Mukeka, J.M., Ogutu, J.O., Kanga, E. & Røskaft, E. 2019. Human-wildlife conflicts and their correlates in Narok County, Kenya. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, **18**, e00620.

Mukherjee, T., Sharma, L.K., Kumar, V., Sharief, A., Dutta, R., Kumar, M., ... & Chandra, K. 2021. Adaptive spatial planning of protected area network for conserving the Himalayan brown bear. *Science of The Total Environment*, **754**, 142416.

Mukhopadhyay, S., Ogutu, J.O., Bartzke, G., Dublin, H.T. & Piepho, H.P. 2019. Modelling spatio-temporal variation in sparse rainfall data using a hierarchical Bayesian regression model. *Journal of Agricultural, Biological and Environmental Statistics*, **24**, 369-393.

Mumby, H.S., Courtiol, A., Mar, K.U. & Lummaa, V. 2013. Climatic variation and age-specific survival in Asian elephants from Myanmar. *Ecology*, **94**, 1131-1141.

Mundinger, C., Fleischer, T., Scheuerlein, A. & Kerth, G. 2022. Global warming leads to larger bats with a faster life history pace in the long-lived Bechstein's bat (*Myotis bechsteinii*). Communications Biology, **5**, 682.

Munson, L., Terio, K.A., Kock, R., Mlengeya, T., Roelke, M.E., Dubovi, E., ... & Packer, C. 2008. Climate extremes promote fatal co-infections during canine distemper epidemics in African lions. *PloS one*, **3**, e2545.

Musil, P., Musilová, Z., Fuchs, R. & Poláková, S. 2011. Long-term changes in numbers and distribution of wintering waterbirds in the Czech Republic, 1966–2008. *Bird Study*, **58**, 450-460.

Mustin, K., Sutherland, W.J. & Gill, J.A. 2007. The complexity of predicting climate induced ecological impacts. *Climate Research*, **35**, 165–175.

Nägeli, M., Scherler, P., Witczak, S., Catitti, B., Aebischer, A., van Bergen, V., ... & Grüebler, M.U. 2021. Weather and food availability additively affect reproductive output in an expanding raptor population. *Oecologia*, **198**, 125–138.

Nagelkerken, I., Russell, B.D., Gillanders, B.M. & Connell, S.D. 2016. Ocean acidification alters fish populations indirectly through habitat modification. *Nature Climate Change*, **6**, 89-93.

Nagy, S., Breiner, F., Anand, M., Butchart, S., Florke, M., Fluet-Choinard, E., ... & Voltzit, O. 2021. Climate change exposure of waterbird species in the African-Eurasian flyways. *Bird Conservation International*, **32**, 1-26.

Nater, C.R., Burgess, M.D., Coffey, P., Harris, B., Lander, F., Price, D., ... & Robinson, R.A. 2023. Spatial consistency in drivers of population dynamics of a declining migratory bird. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **92**, 97-111.

Nelms, S.E., Alfaro-Shigueto, J., Arnould, J.P., Avila, I.C., Nash, S.B., Campbell, E., ... & Godley, B.J. 2021. Marine mammal conservation: over the horizon. *Endangered Species Research*, **44**, 291-325.

Nevoux, M., Barbraud, J.C. & Barbraud, C. 2008. Nonlinear impact of climate on survival in a migratory white stork population. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **77**, 1143-1152.

Newell, M., Wanless, S., Harris, M.P. & Daunt, F. 2015. Effects of an extreme weather event on seabird breeding success at a North Sea colony. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **532**, 257-268.

Newson, S.E., Mendes, S., Crick, H.Q., Dulvy, N.K., Houghton, J.D., Hays, G.C., ... & Robinson, R.A. 2009. Indicators of the impact of climate change on migratory species. *Endangered Species Research*, **7**, 101-113.

Niklitschek, E.J. & Secor, D.H. 2005. Modeling spatial and temporal variation of suitable nursery habitats for Atlantic sturgeon in the Chesapeake Bay. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, **64**, 135-148.

O'Brien, S.M., Gallucci, V.F. & Hauser, L. 2013. Effects of species biology on the historical demography of sharks and their implications for likely consequences of contemporary climate change. *Conservation Genetics*, **14**, 125-144.

Obanda, V., Mutinda, N.M., Gakuya, F. & Iwaki, T. 2011. Gastrointestinal parasites and associated pathological lesions in starving free-ranging African elephants. *South African Journal of Wildlife Research*, **41**, 167-172.

Ockendon, N., Baker, D.J., Carr, J.A., White, E.C., Almond, R.E., Amano, T., ... & Pearce-Higgins, J.W. 2014. Mechanisms underpinning climatic impacts on natural populations: altered species interactions are more important than direct effects. *Global Change Biology*, **20**, 2221-2229

Ogutu, J.O., Piepho, H.P., Dublin, H.T., Bhola, N. & Reid, R.S. 2008. Rainfall influences on ungulate population abundance in the Mara-Serengeti ecosystem. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **77**, 814-829.

Orellana-Macías, J.M., Bautista, L.M., Merchán, D., Causapé, J. & Alonso López, J.C. 2020. Shifts in crane migration phenology associated with climate change in southwestern Europe. *Avian Conservation and Ecology*, **15**, 16.

Oro, D., Torres, R., Rodríguez, C. & Drummond, H. 2010. Climatic influence on demographic parameters of a tropical seabird varies with age and sex. *Ecology*, **91**, 1205-1214.

Osgood, G.J., White, E.R. & Baum, J.K. 2021. Effects of climate-change-driven gradual and acute temperature changes on shark and ray species. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **90**, 2547-2559.

Osland, M.J., Stevens, P.W., Lamont, M.M., Brusca, R.C., Hart, K.M., Waddle, J.H., ... & Seminoff, J.A. 2021. Tropicalization of temperate ecosystems in North America: The northward range expansion of tropical organisms in response to warming winter temperatures. *Global Change Biology*, **27**, 3009-3034.

Österblom, H., Casini, M., Olsson, O. & Bignert, A. 2006. Fish, seabirds and trophic cascades in the Baltic Sea. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **323**, 233-238.

Owen-Smith, N. 2014. Spatial ecology of large herbivore populations. Ecography, 37, 416-430.

Owen-Smith, N., Mason, D.R. & Ogutu, J.O. 2005. Correlates of survival rates for 10 African ungulate populations: density, rainfall and predation. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **74**, 774-788.

Özgencil, I.K. & Uslu, A. 2021. Update on the status of white-headed duck *Oxyura leucocephala* and its breeding phenology in Central Anatolia, Turkey. *Sandgrouse*, **43**, 112-122.

Pacoureau, N., Rigby, C.L., Kyne, P.M., Sherley, R.B., Winker, H., Carlson, J.K., ... & Dulvy, N.K. 2021. Half a century of global decline in oceanic sharks and rays. *Nature*, **589**, 567-571.

Pagano, A.M. & Williams, T.M. 2021. Physiological consequences of Arctic sea ice loss on large marine carnivores: unique responses by polar bears and narwhals. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, **224**, jeb228049.

Patrício, A.R., Hawkes, L.A., Monsinjon, J.R., Godley, B.J. & Fuentes, M.M. 2021. Climate change and marine turtles: Recent advances and future directions. *Endangered Species Research*, **44**, 363-395.

Patz, J.A., Graczyk, T.K., Gellera, N. & Vittor, A.Y. 2000. Effects of environmental change on emerging parasitic disease. *International Journal for Parasitology*, **30**, 1.

Pavon-Jordan, D., Azafzaf, H., Balaž, M., Bino, T., Borg, J.J., Božic, L., ... & Lehikoinen, A. 2020. Positive impacts of important bird and biodiversity areas on wintering waterbirds under changing temperatures throughout Europe and North Africa. *Biological Conservation*, **246**, 108549.

Peacock, E., Derocher, A.E., Thiemann, G.W. & Stirling, I. 2011. Conservation and management of Canada's polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) in a changing Arctic. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, **89**, 371-385.

Pearce-Higgins, J.W. 1996. Seedeaters in the Noel Kempff Mercado National Park, Bolivia. Cotinga, 5, 69-71.

Pearce-Higgins, J.W. 2010. Using diet to assess the sensitivity of northern and upland birds to climate change. *Climate Research*, **45**, 119-130

Pearce-Higgins, J.W. 2021. Climate Change and the UK's Birds. British Trust for Ornithology Report, Thetford, Norfolk.

Pearce-Higgins, J.W. & Green, R.E. 2014. *Birds and climate change: impacts and conservation responses*. Cambridge University Press.

Pearce-Higgins, J.W., Eglington, S.M., Martay, B. & Chamberlain, D.E. 2015a. Drivers of climate change impacts on bird communities. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **84**, 943-954.

Pearce-Higgins, J.W., Ockendon, N., Baker, D.J., Carr, J., White, E.C., Almond, R.E.A., ... & Tanner, E.V.J. 2015b. Geographical variation in species' population responses to changes in temperature and precipitation. *Proceedings Royal Society, B*, **282**, 20151561.

Pearce-Higgins, J.W., Brown, D.J., Douglas, D.J., Alves, J.A., Bellio, M., Bocher, P., ... & Verkuil, Y.I. 2017. A global threats overview for Numeniini populations: synthesising expert knowledge for a group of declining migratory birds. *Bird Conservation International*, **27**, 6-34.

Pearce-Higgins, J.W. & Crick, H.Q.P. 2019. One-third of English breeding bird species show evidence of population responses to climatic variables over 50 years. *Bird Study*, **66**, 159-172.

Pearce-Higgins, J.W. & Morris, R.K. 2022. Declines in invertebrates and birds-could they be linked by climate change? *Bird Study*, **69**, 59-71.

Penteriani, V., Zarzo-Arias, A., Novo-Fernández, A., Bombieri, G. & López-Sánchez, C.A. 2019. Responses of an endangered brown bear population to climate change based on predictable food resource and shelter alterations. *Global Change Biology*, **25**, 1133-1151.

Perez, E.A., Marco, A., Martins, S. & Hawkes, L.A. 2016. Is this what a climate change-resilient population of marine turtles looks like? *Biological Conservation*, **193**, 124-132.

Peterson, A.T., Radocy, T., Hall, E., Peterhans, J.C.K. & Celesia, G.G. 2014. The potential distribution of the Vulnerable African lion Panthera leo in the face of changing global climate. *Oryx*, **48**, 555-564.

Petherick, A.S., Reuther, J.D., Shirar, S.J., Anderson, S.L. & DeSantis, L.R. 2021. Dietary ecology of Alaskan polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) through time and in response to Arctic climate change. *Global Change Biology*, **27**, 3109-3119.

Pfeiffer, O., Nock, D. & Baker, E. 2021. Wind energy's bycatch: Offshore wind deployment impacts on hydropower operation and migratory fish. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **143**, 110885.

Piersma, T. & Lindström, Å. 2004. Migrating shorebirds as integrative sentinels of global environmental change. *Ibis*, **146**, 61-69.

Pilfold, N.W., Richardson, E.S., Ellis, J., Jenkins, E., Scandrett, W.B., Hernández-Ortiz, A., ... & Lunn, N.J. 2021. Long-term increases in pathogen seroprevalence in polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) influenced by climate change. *Global Change Biology*, **27**, 4481-4497.

Pistevos, J.C., Nagelkerken, I., Rossi, T., Olmos, M. & Connell, S.D. 2015. Ocean acidification and global warming impair shark hunting behaviour and growth. *Scientific Reports*, **5**, 1-10.

Poletto, J.B., Martin, B., Danner, E., Baird, S.E., Cocherell, D.E., Hamda, N., ... & Fangue, N.A. 2018. Assessment of multiple stressors on the growth of larval green sturgeon *Acipenser medirostris*: implications for recruitment of early life-history stages. *Journal of Fish Biology*, **93**, 952-960.

Poloczanska, E.S., Limpus, C.J. & Hays, G.C. 2009. Vulnerability of marine turtles to climate change. *Advances in Marine Biology*, **56**, 151-211.

Pontzer, H., Rimbach, R., Paltan, J., Ivory, E.L. & Kendall, C.J. 2020. Air temperature and diet influence body composition and water turnover in zoo-living African elephants (*Loxodonta africana*). *Royal Society Open Science*, *7*, 201155.

Popa-Lisseanu, A.G. & Voigt, C.C. 2009. Bats on the move. Journal of Mammalogy, 90, 1283-1289.

Popov, I. 2017. Habitats for the Atlantic sturgeons in Russia. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, **27**, 717-730.

Pörtner, H.O., Scholes, R.J., Agard, J., Archer, E., Arneth, A., Bai, X., ... & Ngo, H. 2021. Scientific outcome of the IPBES-IPCC co-sponsored workshop on biodiversity and climate change. *Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES)* 

Poulakis, G.R. & Grubbs, R.D. 2019. Biology and ecology of sawfishes: global status of research and future outlook. *Endangered Species Research*, **39**, 77-90.

Prado, J.H., Mattos, P.H., Silva, K.G. & Secchi, E.R. 2016. Long-term seasonal and interannual patterns of marine mammal strandings in subtropical western South Atlantic. *PLoS One*, **11**, e0146339.

Preston, T.J., Chiaradia, A., Caarels, S.A., & Reina, R.D. 2010. Fine scale biologging of an inshore marine animal. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **390**, 196–202.

Pretorius, M., Broders, H., Seamark, E. & Keith, M. 2020. Climatic correlates of migrant Natal long-fingered bat (*Miniopterus natalensis*) phenology in north-eastern South Africa. *Wildlife Research*, **47**, 404-414.

Prop, J., Aars, J., Bårdsen, B.J., Hanssen, S.A., Bech, C., Bourgeon, S., ... & Moe, B. 2015. Climate change and the increasing impact of polar bears on bird populations. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, **3**, 33.

Pütz, K., Harris, S., Ratcliffe, N., Rey, A.R., Poncet, S., & Lüthi, B. 2018. Plasticity in the foraging behavior of male Southern Rockhopper Penguins (*Eudyptes chrysocome*) during incubation in the Falkland/Malvinas Islands. *Polar Biology*, **41**, 1801-1814.

Qin, A., Jin, K., Batsaikhan, M.E., Nyamjav, J., Li, G., Li, J., ... & Xiao, W. 2020. Predicting the current and future suitable habitats of the main dietary plants of the Gobi Bear using MaxEnt modelling. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, **22**, e01032.

Rabaiotti, D. & Woodroffe, R. 2019. Coping with climate change: limited behavioral responses to hot weather in a tropical carnivore. *Oecologia*, **189**, 587-599.

Rabaiotti, D., Groom, R., McNutt, J.W., Watermeyer, J., O'Neill, H.M. & Woodroffe, R. 2021. High temperatures and human pressures interact to influence mortality in an African carnivore. *Ecology and Evolution*, **11**, 8495-8506.

Ramesh, T., Milda, D., Kalle, R., Gayathri, V., Thanikodi, M., Ashish, K. & Giordano, A.J. 2022. Drivers of humanmegaherbivore interactions in the Eastern and Western Ghats of southern India. *Journal of Environmental Management*, **316**, 115315.

Ramos, J.A., Maul, A.M., Bowler, J., Wood, L., Threadgold, R., Johnson, S., ... & Walker, S. 2006. Annual variation in laying date and breeding success of Brown Noddies on Aride Island, Seychelles. *Emu-Austral Ornithology*, **106**, 81-86.

Ramos, R., Granadeiro, J.P., Nevoux, M., Mougin, J.L., Dias, M.P. & Catry, P. 2012. Combined spatio-temporal impacts of climate and longline fisheries on the survival of a trans-equatorial marine migrant. *PLoS One*, **7**, e40822.

Ratnayake, H.U., Welbergen, J.A., Van der Ree, R. & Kearney, M.R. 2021. Variation in fur properties may explain differences in heat-related mortality among Australian flying-foxes. *Australian Journal of Zoology*, **68**, 285-295.

Razgour, O., Kasso, M., Santos, H. & Juste, J.2021. Up in the air: threats to Afromontane biodiversity from climate change and habitat loss revealed by genetic monitoring of the Ethiopian Highlands bat. *Evolutionary Applications*, **14**, 794-806.

Rebelo, H., Tarroso, P. & Jones, G. 2010. Predicted impact of climate change on European bats in relation to their biogeographic patterns. *Global Change Biology*, **16**, 561-576.

Reece, J.S., Passeri, D., Ehrhart, L., Hagen, S.C., Hays, A., Long, C., ... & Wolf, S. 2013. Sea level rise, land use, and climate change influence the distribution of loggerhead turtle nests at the largest USA rookery (Melbourne Beach). *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **493**, 259-274.

Rees, A.F., Margaritoulis, D., Newman, R., Riggall, T.E., Tsaros, P., Zbinden, J.A. & Godley, B.J. 2013. Ecology of loggerhead marine turtles Caretta caretta in a neritic foraging habitat: movements, sex ratios and growth rates. *Marine Biology*, **160**, 519-529.

Reusch, C., Gampe, J., Scheuerlein, A., Meier, F., Grosche, L. & Kerth, G. 2019. Differences in seasonal survival suggest species-specific reactions to climate change in two sympatric bat species. *Ecology and Evolution*, **9**, 7957-7965.

Reynolds, M.H., Courtot, K.N., Berkowitz, P., Storlazzi, C.D., Moore, J., & Flint, E. 2015. Will the effects of sea-level rise create ecological traps for Pacific island seabirds? *PLoS One*, **10**, e0136773.

Reynolds, S.D., Norman, B.M., Franklin, C.E., Bach, S.S., Comezzi, F.G., Diamant, S., ... & Dwyer, R.G. 2022. Regional variation in anthropogenic threats to Indian Ocean whale sharks. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, **33**, e01961.

Riquelme, C., Estay, S.A., Contreras, R. & Corti, P. 2020. Extinction risk assessment of a Patagonian ungulate using population dynamics models under climate change scenarios. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, **64**, 1847-1855.

Risch, D., Norris, T., Curnock, M. & Friedlaender, A. 2019. Common and Antarctic minke whales: conservation status and future research directions. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, **6**, 247.

Roberts, H.P., Willey, L.L., Jones, M.T., Akre, T.S., King, D.I., Kleopfer, J., ... & Zarate, B. 2023. Is the future female for turtles? Climate change and wetland configuration predict sex ratios of a freshwater species. *Global Change Biology*, **29**, 2643-2654.

Robertson, G.J. 2016. Temporal comparisons of encounters of herring gulls (*Larus argentatus*) banded as chicks in eastern Newfoundland, Canada. **Waterbirds**, **39**, 159-165.

Robinson, R.A., Learmonth, J.A., Hutson, A.M., Macleod, C.D., Sparks, T.H., Leech, D.I., ... & Crick, H.Q. 2005. *Climate change and migratory species*. The Nunnery, Thetford, Norfolk: British Trust for Ornithology.

Robinson, R.A., Crick, H.Q., Learmonth, J.A., Maclean, I.M., Thomas, C.D., Bairlein, F., ... & Visser, M.E. 2009. Travelling through a warming world: climate change and migratory species. *Endangered species research*, **7**, 87-99.

Robinson, R.A., Morrison, C.A. & Baillie, S.R. 2014. Integrating demographic data: towards a framework for monitoring wildlife populations at large spatial scales. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, **5**, 1361-1372.

Robinson, R.A., Meier, C.M., Witvliet, W., Kéry, M. & Schaub, M. 2020. Survival varies seasonally in a migratory bird: linkages between breeding and non-breeding periods. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **89**, 2111-2121.

Rode, K.D., Taras, B.D., Stricker, C.A., Atwood, T.C., Boucher, N.P., Durner, G.M., ... & Bromaghin, J.F. 2022. Diet energy density estimated from isotopes in predator hair associated with survival, habitat, and population dynamics. *Ecological Applications*, **33**, e2751.

Rodrigues, L. & Palmeirim, J.M. 2008. Migratory behaviour of the Schreiber's bat: when, where and why do cave bats migrate in a Mediterranean region? *Journal of Zoology*, **274**, 116-125.

Rodriguez-Burgos, A.M., Briceño-Zuluaga, F.J., Jiménez, J.L.Á., Hearn, A., Peñaherrera-Palma, C., Espinoza, E., ... & Joan, E. 2022. The impact of climate change on the distribution of Sphyrna lewini in the tropical eastern Pacific. *Marine Environmental Research*, **180**, 105696.

Rodríguez-Recio, M., Burgos, T., Krofel, M., Lozano, J., Moleón, M. & Virgós, E. 2022. Estimating global determinants of leopard home range size in a changing world. *Animal Conservation*, **6**, 748-458.

Ropert-Coudert, Y., Kato, A., & Chiaradia, A. 2009. Impact of small-scale environmental perturbations on local marine food resources: a case study of a predator, the little penguin. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, B*, **276**, 4105–4109.

Rosa, R., Rummer, J.L. & Munday, P.L. 2017. Biological responses of sharks to ocean acidification. *Biology Letters*, **13**, 20160796.

Rotenberry, J.T. & Wiens, J.A. 1991. Weather and reproductive variation in shrubsteppe sparrows: a hierarchical analysis. *Ecology*, **72**, 1325-1335.

Rothermel, E.R., Balazik, M.T., Best, J.E., Breece, M.W., Fox, D.A., Gahagan, B.I., ... & Secor, D.H. 2020. Comparative migration ecology of striped bass and Atlantic sturgeon in the US Southern mid-Atlantic Bight flyway. *PLoS One*, **15**, e0234442.

Ruban, G., Khodorevskaya, R. & Shatunovskii, M. 2019. Factors influencing the natural reproduction decline in the beluga (*Huso huso*, Linnaeus, 1758), Russian sturgeon (*Acipenser gueldenstaedtii*, Brandt & Ratzeburg, 1833), and stellate sturgeon (*A. stellatus*, Pallas, 1771) of the Volga–Caspian basin: A review. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, **35**, 387-395.

Sachanowicz, K., Wower, A. & Bashta, A.T. 2006. Further range extension of Pipistrellus kuhlii (Kuhl, 1817) in central and eastern Europe. *Acta Chiropterologica*, **8**, 543-548.

Sæther, B.E. & Bakke, Ø. 2000. Avian life history variation and contribution of demographic traits to the population growth rate. *Ecology*, **81**, 642-653.

Sæther, B.E., Grøtan, V., Tryjanowski, P., Barbraud, C., Engen, S. & Fulin, M. 2006. Climate and spatio-temporal variation in the population dynamics of a long distance migrant, the white stork. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **75**, 80-90.

Samplonius, J.M., Atkinson, A., Hassall, C., Keogan, K., Thackeray, S.J., Assmann, J.J., ... & Phillimore, A.B. 2021. Strengthening the evidence base for temperature-mediated phenological asynchrony and its impacts. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, **5**, 155-164.

Sánchez-Zapata, J. A., Carrete, M., Gravilov, A., Sklyarenko, S., Ceballos, O., Donazar, J. A. & Hiraldo, F. 2003. Land use changes and raptor conservation in steppe habitats of Eastern Kazakhstan. *Biological Conservation*, **111**, 71-77.

Sanderson, C.E. & Alexander, K.A. 2020. Unchartered waters: climate change likely to intensify infectious disease outbreaks causing mass mortality events in marine mammals. *Global Change Biology*, **26**, 4284-4301.

Sanderson, E.W., Fisher, K., Peters, R., Beckmann, J.P., Bird, B., Bradley, C.M., ... & Wilcox, S. 2022. A systematic review of potential habitat suitability for the jaguar Panthera onca in central Arizona and New Mexico, USA. *Oryx*, **56**, 116-127.

Sanei, A. & Zakaria, M. 2011. Distribution pattern of the Persian leopard (*Panthera pardus*) in Iran. *Asia Life Sciences Supplement*, **7**, 7-18.

Santidrián Tomillo, P. & Spotila, J.R. 2020. Temperature-dependent sex determination in sea turtles in the context of climate change: uncovering the adaptive significance. *BioEssays*, **42**, 2000146.

Santos, C.P., Sampaio, E., Pereira, B.P., Pegado, M.R., Borges, F.O., Wheeler, C.R., ... & Rosa, R. 2021. Elasmobranch responses to experimental warming, acidification, and oxygen loss—a meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, **8**, 735377.

Saraux, C., Chiaradia, A., Salton, M., Dann, P., & Viblanc, V.A. 2016. Negative effects of wind speed on individual foraging performance and breeding success in little penguins. *Ecological Monographs*, **86**, 61–77.

Sardella, B.A. & Kültz, D. 2014. The physiological responses of green sturgeon (*Acipenser medirostris*) to potential global climate change stressors. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, **87**, 456-463.

Satterfield, D.A., Sillett, T.S., Chapman, J.W., Altizer, S., & Marra, P.P. (2020). Seasonal insect migrations: massive, influential, and overlooked. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, **18**, 335-344.

Saunders, D.A., Mawson, P. & Dawson, R. 2011. The impact of two extreme weather events and other causes of death on Carnaby's black cockatoo: a promise of things to come for a threatened species? *Pacific Conservation Biology*, **17**, 141-148.

Saunders, S.P., Ries, L., Oberhauser, K.S. & Zipkin, E.F. 2016. Evaluating confidence in climate-based predictions of population change in a migratory species. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, **25**, 1000-1012.

Saunders, S.P., Ries, L., Oberhauser, K.S., Thogmartin, W.E. & Zipkin, E.F. 2018. Local and cross-seasonal associations of climate and land use with abundance of monarch butterflies *Danaus plexippus*. *Ecography*, **41**, 278-290.

Scarnecchia, D.L., Schooley, J.D., McAdam, S.O., Backes, K.M., Slominski, A, Youngtalk, L. & Fryda, D.D. 2019. Factors affecting recruitment of Paddlefish: hypotheses and comparisons with sturgeons. In *Paddlefish: ecological, aquacultural, and regulatory challenges of managing a global resource*. American Fisheries Society, Symposium (Vol. 88, pp. 103-126). Schaefer, T., Ledebur, G., Beier, J. & Leisler, B. 2006. Reproductive responses of two related coexisting songbird species to environmental changes: global warming, competition, and population sizes. *Journal of Ornithology*, **147**, 47-56.

Schaub, M., Kania, W. & Köppen, U. 2005. Variation of primary production during winter induces synchrony in survival rates in migratory white storks Ciconia ciconia. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **74**, 656-666.

Scheffers, B.R., De Meester, L., Bridge, T.C., Hoffmann, A.A., Pandolfi, J.M., Corlett, R.T., ... & Watson, J.E. 2016. The broad footprint of climate change from genes to biomes to people. *Science*, **354**, aaf7671.

Schlaff, A.M., Heupel, M.R. & Simpfendorfer, C.A. 2014. Influence of environmental factors on shark and ray movement, behaviour and habitat use: a review. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, **24**, 1089-1103.

Schofield, H.W. 2008. The lesser horseshoe bat: conservation handbook. Vincent Wildlife Trust.

Schummer, M.L., Kaminski, R.M., Raedeke, A.H. & Graber, D.A. 2010. Weather-related indices of autumn–winter dabbling duck abundance in middle North America. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, **74**, 94-101.

Scott, B.E., Sharples, J., Wanless, S., Ross, O.N., Frederiksen, M. & Daunt, F. 2006. The use of biologically meaningful oceanographic indices to separate the effects of climate and fisheries on seabird breeding success. *Conservation Biology Series*, **12**, 46.

Semenzato, P., Cagnacci, F., Ossi, F., Eccel, E., Morellet, N., Hewison, A.M., ... & Ramanzin, M. 2021. Behavioural heatstress compensation in a cold-adapted ungulate: forage-mediated responses to warming Alpine summers. *Ecology Letters*, **24**, 1556-1568.

Senapathi, D., Nicoll, M.A., Teplitsky, C., Jones, C.G. & Norris, K. 2011. Climate change and the risks associated with delayed breeding in a tropical wild bird population. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, B*, **278**, 3184-3190.

Seoane, J., Viñuela, J., Diaz-Delgado, R. & Bustamante, J. 2003. The effects of land use and climate on red kite distribution in the Iberian peninsula. *Biological Conservation*, **111**, 401-414.

Sequeira, A.M., Mellin, C., Meekan, M.G., Sims, D.W. & Bradshaw, C.J. 2013. Inferred global connectivity of whale shark *Rhincodon typus* populations. *Journal of Fish Biology*, **82**, 367-389.

Sesink Clee, P.R., Abwe, E.E., Ambahe, R.D., Anthony, N.M., Fotso, R., Locatelli, S., ... & Gonder, M.K. 2015. Chimpanzee population structure in Cameroon and Nigeria is associated with habitat variation that may be lost under climate change. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, **15**, 1-13.

Sguotti, C., Lynam, C.P., García-Carreras, B., Ellis, J.R. & Engelhard, G.H. 2016. Distribution of skates and sharks in the North Sea: 112 years of change. *Global Change Biology*, **22**, 2729-2743.

Silber, G.K., Lettrich, M.D., Thomas, P.O., Baker, J.D., Baumgartner, M., Becker, E.A., ... & Waples, R.S. 2017. Projecting marine mammal distribution in a changing climate. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, **4**, 413.

Sillett, T.S., Holmes, R.T. & Sherry, T.W. 2000. Impacts of a global climate cycle on population dynamics of a migratory songbird. *Science*, **288**, 2040-2042.

Simmonds, M.P. & Isaac, S.J. 2007. The impacts of climate change on marine mammals: early signs of significant problems. *Oryx*, **41**, 19-26.

Sims, D.W. 2008. Sieving a living: a review of the biology, ecology and conservation status of the plankton-feeding basking shark *Cetorhinus maximus*. *Advances in Marine Biology*, **54**, 171-220.

Sleeman, J.C., Meekan, M.G., Fitzpatrick, B.J., Steinberg, C.R., Ancel, R. & Bradshaw, C.J. 2010. Oceanographic and atmospheric phenomena influence the abundance of whale sharks at Ningaloo Reef, Western Australia. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **382**, 77-81.

Solovyeva, D., Barykina, D.A., Prokopenko, O.D., Balsby, T.J. & Fox, A.D. 2022. Annual variation in waterbird clutch initiation date in relation to spring thaw in Arctic Russia. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, **66**, 1005-1012.

Small-Lorenz, S.L., Culp, L.A., Ryder, T.B., Will, T.C. & Marra, P.P. 2013. A blind spot in climate change vulnerability assessments. *Nature Climate Change*, **3**, 91-93.

Steiner, N.S., Cheung, W.W., Cisneros-Montemayor, A.M., Drost, H., Hayashida, H., Hoover, C., ... & VanderZwaag, D.L. 2019. Impacts of the changing ocean-sea ice system on the key forage fish Arctic cod (*Boreogadus saida*) and subsistence fisheries in the western Canadian Arctic—Evaluating linked climate, ecosystem and economic models. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, **6**, 179.

Stepanian, P.M. & Wainwright, C.E. 2018. Ongoing changes in migration phenology and winter residency at Bracken Bat Cave. *Global Change Biology*, **24**, 3266-3275.

Stirling, I. & Parkinson, C.L. 2006. Possible effects of climate warming on selected populations of polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) in the Canadian Arctic. *Arctic*, **59**, 261-275.

Stirnemann, R.L., O'Halloran, J., Ridgeway, M. & Donnelly, A. 2012. Temperature-related increases in grass growth and greater competition for food drive earlier migrational departure of wintering Whooper Swans. *Ibis*, **154**, 542-553.

Stokke, B.G., Møller, A.P., Sæther, B.E., Rheinwald, G. & Gutscher, H. 2005. Weather in the breeding area and during migration affects the demography of a small long-distance passerine migrant. *The Auk*, **122**, 637-647.

Strøm, H., Descamps, S., Ekker, M., Fauchald, P. & Moe, B. 2021. Tracking the movements of North Atlantic seabirds: steps towards a better understanding of population dynamics and marine ecosystem conservation. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **676**, 97-116.

Studds, C.E. & Marra, P.P. 2005. Nonbreeding habitat occupancy and population processes: an upgrade experiment with a migratory bird. *Ecology*, **86**, 2380-2385.

Studds, C.E. & Marra, P.P. 2007. Linking fluctuations in rainfall to nonbreeding season performance in a long-distance migratory bird, *Setophaga ruticilla*. *Climate Research*, **35**, 115-122.

Su, J., Aryal, A., Hegab, I.M., Shrestha, U.B., Coogan, S.C., Sathyakumar, S., ... & Ji, W. 2018. Decreasing brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) habitat due to climate change in Central Asia and the Asian Highlands. *Ecology and Evolution*, **8**, 11887-11899.

Surman, C.A., Nicholson, L.W. & Santora, J.A. 2012. Effects of climate variability on breeding phenology and performance of tropical seabirds in the eastern Indian Ocean. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **454**, 147-157.

Svancara, L.K., Abatzoglou, J.T. & Waterbury, B. 2019. Modeling current and future potential distributions of milkweeds and the monarch butterfly in Idaho. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, **7**, 168.

Szesciorka, A.R., Ballance, L.T., Širovic, A., Rice, A., Ohman, M.D., Hildebrand, J.A. & Franks, P.J. 2020. Timing is everything: drivers of interannual variability in blue whale migration. *Scientific reports*, **10**, 7710.

Szostek, K.L., Bouwhuis, S. & Becker, P.H. 2015. Are arrival date and body mass after spring migration influenced by large-scale environmental factors in a migratory seabird? *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, **3**, 42.

Tanaka, K.R., Van Houtan, K.S., Mailander, E., Dias, B.S., Galginaitis, C., O'Sullivan, J., ... & Jorgensen, S.J. 2021. North Pacific warming shifts the juvenile range of a marine apex predator. *Scientific Reports*, **11**, 3373.

Tapper, S., Nocera, J.J. & Burness, G. 2020. Experimental evidence that hyperthermia limits offspring provisioning in a temperate-breeding bird. *Royal Society Open Science*, **7**, 201589.

Tavares, D.C., Moura, J.F., Merico, A. & Siciliano, S. 2020. Mortality of seabirds migrating across the tropical Atlantic in relation to oceanographic processes. *Animal Conservation*, **23**, 307-319

Teitelbaum, C.S., Converse, S.J., Fagan, W.F., Böhning-Gaese, K., O'Hara, R.B., Lacy, A.E. & Mueller, T. 2016. Experience drives innovation of new migration patterns of whooping cranes in response to global change. *Nature Communications*, **7**, 12793.

Teitelbaum, C.S., Bachner, N.C. & Hall, R.J. 2023. Post-migratory nonbreeding movements of birds: a review and case study. *Ecology and Evolution*, **13**, e9893.

Thaxter, C.B., Buchanan, G.M., Carr, J., Butchart, S.H., Newbold, T., Green, R.E., ... & Pearce-Higgins, J.W. 2017. Bird and bat species' global vulnerability to collision mortality at wind farms revealed through a trait-based assessment. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, B*, **284**, 20170829.

Titcomb, G., Mantas, J.N., Hulke, J., Rodriguez, I., Branch, D. & Young, H. 2021. Water sources aggregate parasites with increasing effects in more arid conditions. *Nature Communications*, **12**, 7066.

Tobolka, M., Zolnierowicz, K.M. & Reeve, N.F. 2015. The effect of extreme weather events on breeding parameters of the White Stork *Ciconia ciconia*. *Bird Study*, **62**, 377-385.

Traisnel, G. & Pichegru, L. 2018. Possible drivers of nest usurpation in African Penguins Spheniscus demersus. *Marine Ornithology*, **46**, 85-88.

Trathan, P.N., García-Borboroglu, P., Boersma, D., Bost, C.A., Crawford, R.J., Crossin, G.T., ... & Wienecke, B. 2015. Pollution, habitat loss, fishing, and climate change as critical threats to penguins. *Conservation Biology*, **29**, 31-41.

Trathan, P.N., Wienecke, B., Barbraud, C., Jenouvrier, S., Kooyman, G., Le Bohec, C., ... & Fretwell, P.T. 2020. The emperor penguin - vulnerable to projected rates of warming and sea ice loss. *Biological Conservation*, **241**, 108216.

Truchon, M.H., Measures, L., L'Hérault, V., Brethes, J.C., Galbraith, P.S., Harvey, M., ... & Lecomte, N. 2013. Marine mammal strandings and environmental changes: a 15-year study in the St. Lawrence ecosystem. *PLoS One*, **8**, e59311.

Tulloch, V.J., Plagányi, É.E., Brown, C., Richardson, A.J. & Matear, R. 2019. Future recovery of baleen whales is imperiled by climate change. *Global Change Biology*, **25**, 1263-1281.

Tynan, C.T. & DeMaster, D.P. 1997. Observations and predictions of Arctic climatic change: potential effects on marine mammals. *Arctic*, **50**, 308-322.

Vähätalo, A.V., Rainio, K., Lehikoinen, A. & Lehikoinen, E. 2004. Spring arrival of birds depends on the North Atlantic Oscillation. *Journal of Avian Biology*, **35**, 210-216.

Valenzuela, N. 2001. Constant, shift, and natural temperature effects on sex determination in Podocnemis expansa turtles. *Ecology*, **82**, 3010-3024.

van der Lee, A.S., Gardner, W.M., O'Connor, L.M., Pratt, T.C. & Koops, M.A. 2022. Lake Sturgeon (*Acipenser fulvescens*) in Goulais Bay, Lake Superior: Cohort strength determinants and population viability. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, **48**, 1278-1287.

VanDerWal, J., Murphy, H.T., Kutt, A.S., Perkins, G.C., Bateman, B.L., Perry, J.J. & Reside, A.E. 2013. Focus on poleward shifts in species' distribution underestimates the fingerprint of climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, **3**, 239–243.

Van de Ven, T.M., McKechnie, A.E., Er, S. & Cunningham, S.J. 2020. High temperatures are associated with substantial reductions in breeding success and offspring quality in an arid-zone bird. *Oecologia*, **193**, 225-235.

van Weelden, C., Towers, J.R. & Bosker, T. 2021. Impacts of climate change on cetacean distribution, habitat and migration. *Climate Change Ecology*, **1**, 100009.

Varela, M.R., Patrício, A.R., Anderson, K., Broderick, A.C., DeBell, L., Hawkes, L.A., ... & Godley, B.J. 2019. Assessing climate change associated sea-level rise impacts on sea turtle nesting beaches using drones, photogrammetry and a novel GPS system. *Global Change Biology*, **25**, 753-762.

Vaz, P.G., Kebreab, E., Hung, S.S., Fadel, J.G., Lee, S. & Fangue, N.A. 2015. Impact of nutrition and salinity changes on biological performances of green and white sturgeon. *PLoS One*, **10**, e0122029.

Vickery, J.A., Ewing, S.R., Smith, K.W., Pain, D.J., Bairlein, F., Škorpilová, J. & Gregory, R.D. 2014. The decline of Afro-Palaearctic migrants and an assessment of potential causes. *Ibis*, **156**, 1-22.

Vickery, J.A., Mallord, J.W., Adams, W.M., Beresford, A.E., Both, C., Cresswell, W., ... & Hewson, C.M. 2023. The conservation of Afro-Palaearctic migrants: what we are learning and what we need to know? *Ibis*, doi:10.1111/ibi.13171.

Vickery, P.D., Tubaro, P.L., Cardosa da Silva, J.M., Peterjohn, B.G., Herkert, J.R. & Cavalcanti, R.B. 1999. Conservation of grassland birds in the Western Hemisphere. *Studies in Avian Biology*, **19**, 2-26.

Vilmar, M. & Di Santo, V. 2022. Swimming performance of sharks and rays under climate change. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, **32**, 765-781.

Vogel, E.F., Biuw, M., Blanchet, M.A., Jonsen, I.D., Mul, E., Johnsen, E., ... & Rikardsen, A. 2021. Killer whale movements on the Norwegian shelf are associated with herring density. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **665**, 217-231.

Voigt, C.C., Currie, S.E., Fritze, M., Roeleke, M. & Lindecke, O. 2018. Conservation strategies for bats flying at high altitudes. *BioScience*, **68**, 427-435.

Walker, T.I., Day, R.W., Awruch, C.A., Bell, J.D., Braccini, J.M., Dapp, D.R., ... & Reina, R.D. 2021. Ecological vulnerability of the chondrichthyan fauna of southern Australia to the stressors of climate change, fishing and other anthropogenic hazards. *Fish and Fisheries*, **22**, 1105-1135.

Wang, H., Xu, C., Liu, Y., Jeppesen, E., Svenning, J.C., Wu, J., ... & Xie, P. 2021. From unusual suspect to serial killer: Cyanotoxins boosted by climate change may jeopardize megafauna. *The Innovation*, **2**, 100092.

Wanless, S., Wright, P.J., Harris, M.P. & Elston, D.A. 2004. Evidence for decrease in size of lesser sandeels *Ammodytes marinus* in a North Sea aggregation over a 30-yr period. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **279**, 237-246.

Ward, P. 1971. The migration patterns of Quelea quelea in Africa. Ibis, 113, 275-297.

Wassink, L., Bussy, U., Li, W. & Scribner, K. 2019. High-stress rearing temperature in *Acipenser fulvescens* affects physiology, behaviour and predation rates. *Animal Behaviour*, **157**, 153-165.

Weiser, E.L., Brown, S.C., Lanctot, R.B., Gates, H.R., Abraham, K.F., Bentzen, R.L., ... & Sandercock, B.K. 2018a. Effects of environmental conditions on reproductive effort and nest success of Arctic-breeding shorebirds. *Ibis*, **160**, 608-623

Weiser, E.L., Lanctot, R.B., Brown, S.C., Gates, H.R., Bentzen, R.L., Bêty, J., ... & Sandercock, B.K. 2018b. Environmental and ecological conditions at Arctic breeding sites have limited effects on true survival rates of adult shorebirds. *The Auk: Ornithological Advances*, **135**, 29-43.

Welbergen, J.A., Klose, S.M., Markus, N. & Eby, P. 2008. Climate change and the effects of temperature extremes on Australian flying-foxes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, B: Biological Sciences*, **275**, 419-425.

Wessling, E.G., Dieguez, P., Llana, M., Pacheco, L., Pruetz, J.D. & Kühl, H.S. 2020. Chimpanzee (*Pan troglodytes*) density and environmental gradients at their biogeographical range edge. *International Journal of Primatology*, **41**, 822-848.

Weston, K.A. & Fraser, I. 2020. Large-scale hail-induced mortality in white-fronted tern (*Sterna striata*) and black-billed gull (*Larus bulleri*) breeding colonies on the Rangitata River, New Zealand. *Notornis*, **67**, 481-484.

White, T.D., Carlisle, A.B., Kroodsma, D.A., Block, B.A., Casagrandi, R., De Leo, G.A., ... & McCauley, D.J. 2017. Assessing the effectiveness of a large marine protected area for reef shark conservation. *Biological Conservation*, **207**, 64-71.

Wikramanayake, E., Or, C., Costa, F., Wen, X., Cheung, F. & Shapiro, A. 2020. A climate adaptation strategy for Mai Po Inner Deep Bay Ramsar site: steppingstone to climate proofing the East Asian-Australasian Flyway. *Plos one*, **15**, e0239945.

Winkler, D.W., Jørgensen, C., Both, C., Houston, A.I., McNamara, J.M., Levey, D.J., ... & Piersma, T. 2014. Cues, strategies, and outcomes: how migrating vertebrates track environmental change. *Movement Ecology*, **2**, 1-15.

Winter, R.E. & Shields, W.M. 2021. Effects of weather on foraging success and hunting frequency in winter-irruptive snowy owls (*Bubo scandiacus*) in upstate New York. *Journal of Raptor Research*, **55**, 584-593.

Woodroffe, R., Groom, R. & McNutt, J.W. 2017. Hot dogs: High ambient temperatures impact reproductive success in a tropical carnivore. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **86**, 1329-1338.

Wright, L.I., Stokes, K.L., Fuller, W.J., Godley, B.J., McGowan, A., Snape, R., ... & Broderick, A.C. 2012. Turtle mating patterns buffer against disruptive effects of climate change. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, B*, **279**, 2122-2127.

Wynn, R.B., Josey, S.A., Martin, A.P., Johns, D.G. & Yésou, P. 2007. Climate-driven range expansion of a critically endangered top predator in northeast Atlantic waters. *Biology Letters*, **3**, 529-532.

Yalden, D.W. & Pearce-Higgins, J.W. 1997. Density-dependence and winter weather as factors affecting the size of a population of Golden Plovers *Pluvialis apricaria*. *Bird Study*, **44**, 227-234.

Yang, L.H., Swan, K., Bastin, E., Aguilar, J., Cenzer, M., Codd, A., ... & Zeng, Y. 2022a. Different factors limit early-and late-season windows of opportunity for monarch development. *Ecology and Evolution*, **12**, e9039.

Yang, W., Ma, Y., Jing, L., Wang, S., Sun, Z., Tang, Y. & Li, H. 2022b. Differential impacts of climatic and land use changes on habitat suitability and protected area adequacy across the Asian elephant's range. *Sustainability*, **14**, 4933.

Yang, S., Li, D., Feng, L., Zhang, C., Xi, D., Liu, H., ... & Du, X. 2023. Transcriptome analysis reveals the high temperature induced damage is a significant factor affecting the osmotic function of gill tissue in Siberian sturgeon (*Acipenser baerii*). *BMC Genomics*, **24**, 2.

Zacarias, D. & Loyola, R. 2018. Distribution modelling and multi-scale landscape connectivity highlight important areas for the conservation of savannah elephants. *Biological Conservation*, **224**, 1-8.

Zarri, L.J. & Palkovacs, E.P. 2019. Temperature, discharge and development shape the larval diets of threatened green sturgeon in a highly managed section of the Sacramento River. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, **28**, 257-265.

Zeng, J., Hu, J., Shi, Y., Li, Y., Guo, Z., Wang, S. & Song, S. 2022. Effects of Climate Change on the Habitat of the Leopard (*Panthera pardus*) in the Liupanshan National Nature Reserve of China. *Animals*, **12**, 1866.

Zhang, H., Kang, M., Wu, J., Wang, C., Li, J., Du, H., ... & Wei, Q. 2019. Increasing river temperature shifts impact the Yangtze ecosystem: evidence from the endangered Chinese sturgeon. *Animals*, **9**, 583.

Zhang, P., Qiao, Y., Grenouillet, G., Lek, S., Cai, L. & Chang, J. 2021. Responses of spawning thermal suitability to climate change and hydropower operation for typical fishes below the Three Gorges Dam. *Ecological Indicators*, **121**, 107186.

Zhang, Y., Loughery, J.R., Martyniuk, C.J. & Kieffer, J.D. 2017. Physiological and molecular responses of juvenile shortnose sturgeon (*Acipenser brevirostris*) to thermal stress. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, A*, **203**, 314-321.

Zhou, W., Wang, M., Gao, K., Gao, H., Wei, F. & Nie, Y. 2022. Behavioural thermoregulation by montane ungulates under climate warming. *Diversity and Distributions*, **28**, 2229-2238.

Zimmerling, J.R. & Francis, C.M. 2016. Bat mortality due to wind turbines in Canada. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, **80**, 1360-1369.

Zipkin, E.F., Ries, L., Reeves, R., Regetz, J. & Oberhauser, K.S. 2012. Tracking climate impacts on the migratory monarch butterfly. *Global Change Biology*, **18**, 3039-3049.

Zwarts, L., Bijlsma, R.G., Van der Kamp, J. & Wymenga, E. 2012. Living on the edge: wetlands and birds in a changing Sahel. *British Birds*, **10**, 196-199.

Zylstra, E.R., Neupane, N. & Zipkin, E.F. 2022. Multi-season climate projections forecast declines in migratory monarch butterflies. *Global Change Biology*, **28**, 6135-6151.

### 22.2 Case studies

#### **Red Knot Calidris canutus**

Anderson, C.M., Fahrig, L., Rausch, J., Martin, J.-L., Daufresne, T. & Smith, P.A. 2023. Climate-related range shifts in Arctic-breeding shorebirds. *Ecology & Evolution* **13**, e9797.

Andres, B.A., Smith, P.A., Morrison, R.I.G., Gratto-Trevor, C.L., Brown, S.C & Friis, C.A. 2012. Population estimates of North American shorebirds, 2012. *Wader Study Group Bulletin* **119**, 178-194.

Buehler, D.M., Baker, A.J. & Piersma T. 2006. Reconstructing palaeoflyways of the late Pleistocene and early Holocene Red Knot Calidris canutus. *Ardea* **94** (3), 485–498.

Clark, J.A. 2009. Selective mortality of waders during severe weather. Bird Study 56, 96–102.

Galbraith, H., Jones, R., Park, R., Clough, J., Julius, S., Harrington, B. & Page, G. 2009. Global climate change and sea level rise: potential losses of intertidal habitat for shorebirds. *Waterbirds* **25**, 173–183.

Kelly, J. 2001. Distribution and abundance of winter shorebirds on Tomales Bay, California: implications for conservation. *Western Birds* **32**, 145-166.

Lameris, T.K., Tomkovich, P.S., Johnson, J.A., Morrison, R.I.G., Tulp, I., Lisovski, S., ..., van Gils, J.A. 2022. Mismatchinduced growth reductions in a clade of Arctic-breeding shorebirds are rarely mitigated by increasing temperatures. *Global Change Biology* **28**, 829–847.

McGowan, C.P., Hines, J.E., Nichols, J.D., Lyons, J.E., Smith, D.R., Kalasz, K.S., ... & Kendall, W. 2011. Demographic consequences of migratory stopover: linking red knot survival to horseshoe crab spawning abundance. *Ecosphere*, **2**, 1-22.

Meltofte, H., Høye, T.T. & Schmidt, N.M. 2008. Effects of Food Availability, Snow and Predation on Breeding Performance of Waders at Zackenberg, in: Advances in Ecological Research, *High-Arctic Ecosystem Dynamics in a Changing Climate*. Academic Press, pp. 325–343.

Mu, T., Cai, S., Peng, H.B., Hassell, C.J., Boyle, A., Zhang, Z., ... & Wilcove, D.S. 2022. Evaluating staging habitat quality to advance the conservation of a declining migratory shorebird, Red Knot *Calidris canutus*. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **59**, 2084-2093.

Tulp, I. & Schekkerman, H. 2008. Has prey availability for Arctic birds advanced with climate change? Hindcasting the abundance of tundra arthropods using weather and seasonal variations. *Arctic*, **61**, 48–60.

van Gils, J. & Wiersma, P. 1996. Red Knot (Calidris canutus). In: del Hoyo, J., Elliott, A., Sargatal, J., Christie, D.A. & de Juana, E. (eds.) *Handbook of the Birds of the World,* Lynx Edicions, Barcelona.

van Gils, J.A., Lisovski, S., Lok, T., Meissner, W., Ozarowska, A., de Fouw, J., ... & Klaassen, M. 2016. Body shrinkage due to Arctic warming reduces red knot fitness in tropical wintering range. *Science* **352**, 819–821.

#### Impacts of climate change on the African savanna

Abrahms, B., Rafiq, K., Jordan, N.R. & McNutt, J.W. 2002. Long-term, climate-driven phenological shift in a tropical large carnivore. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **119**, e2121667119.

Beale, C.M., Baker, N.E., Brewer, M.J. & Lennon, J.J. 2013. Protected area networks and savannah bird biodiversity in the face of climate change and land degradation. *Ecology Letters*, **16**, 1061-1068.

Bladon, A.J., Donald, P.F., Jones, S.E., Collar, N.J., Deng, J., Dadacha, G., ... & Green, R.E. 2019. Behavioural thermoregulation and climatic range restriction in the globally threatened Ethiopian Bush-crow *Zavattariornis stresemanni*. *Ibis*, **161**, 546-558.

Bourne, A.R., Cunningham, S.J., Spottiswoode, C.N. & Ridley, A.R. 2020. High temperatures drive offspring mortality in a cooperatively breeding bird. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, **287**, 20201140.

Celesia, G.G., Townsend Peterson, A., Kerbis Peterhans, J.C. & Gnoske, T.P. 2010. Climate and landscape correlates of African lion (*Panthera leo*) demography. *African Journal of Ecology*, **48**, 58-71.

Conradi, T., Slingsby, J.A., Midgley, G.F., Nottebrock, H., Schweiger, A.H. & Higgins, S.I. 2020. An operational definition of the biome for global change research. *New Phytologist*, **227**, 1294-1306.

Cooper, D.M., Dugmore, A.J., Kitchener, A.C., Metzger, M.J. & Trabucco, A. 2021. A kingdom in decline: Holocene range contraction of the lion (*Panthera leo*) modelled with global environmental stratification. *PeerJ*, **9**, e10504.

Creel, S., Creel, N.M., Creel, A.M. & Creel, B.M. 2016. Hunting on a hot day: effects of temperature on interactions between African wild dogs and their prey. *Ecology*, **97**, 2910-2916.

Dejene, S.W., Mpakairi, K.S., Kanagaraj, R., Wato, Y.A. & Mengistu, S. 2021. Modelling continental range shift of the African elephant (*Loxodonta africana*) under a changing climate and land cover: implications for future conservation of the species. *African Zoology*, **56**, 25-34.

IPCC 2021. Climate change 2021: the physical science basis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

Li, W., Yu, Y., Liu, P., Tang, R., Dai, Y., Li, L., & Zhang, L. 2019. Identifying climate refugia and its potential impact on small population of Asian elephant (*Elephas maximus*) in China. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, **19**, e00664.

Liang, G., Liu, J., Niu, H., & Ding, S. 2022. Influence of land use changes on landscape connectivity for North China leopard (*Panthera pardus japonensis*). *Ecology and Evolution*, **12**, e9429.

Martínez-Freiría, F., Tarroso, P., Rebelo, H., & Brito, J.C. 2016. Contemporary niche contraction affects climate change predictions for elephants and giraffes. *Diversity & Distributions*, **22**, 432-444.

Mukeka, J.M., Ogutu, J.O., Kanga, E. & Røskaft, E. 2019. Human-wildlife conflicts and their correlates in Narok County, Kenya. *Global Ecology & Conservation*, **18**, e00620.

Mukhopadhyay, S., Ogutu, J.O., Bartzke, G., Dublin, H.T. & Piepho, H.P. 2019. Modelling spatio-temporal variation in sparse rainfall data using a hierarchical Bayesian regression model. *Journal of Agricultural, Biological & Environmental Statistics*, **24**, 369-393.

Munson, L., Terio, K.A., Kock, R., Mlengeya, T., Roelke, M.E., Dubovi, E., ... & Packer, C. 2008. Climate extremes promote fatal co-infections during canine distemper epidemics in African lions. *PLoS One*, **3**, e2545.

Phipps, W.L., Diekmann, M., MacTavish, L.M., Mendelsohn, J.M., Naidoo, V., Wolter, K. & Yarnell, R.W. 2017. Due South: a first assessment of the potential impacts of climate change on Cape vulture occurrence. *Biological Conservation*, **210**, 16-25.

Pontzer, H., Rimbach, R., Paltan, J., Ivory, E.L. & Kendall, C.J. 2020. Air temperature and diet influence body composition and water turnover in zoo-living African elephants (*Loxodonta africana*). *Royal Society Open Science*, **7**, 201155.

Rabaiotti, D. & Woodroffe, R. 2019. Coping with climate change: limited behavioral responses to hot weather in a tropical carnivore. *Oecologia*, **189**, 587-599.

Rushworth, I.A., Druce, D., Craigie, J., & Coverdale, B. 2018. Vulnerability of vulture populations to elephant impacts in KwaZulu-Natal. Bothalia-African *Biodiversity & Conservation*, **48**, 1-10.

Sanderson, C.E. & Alexander, K.A. 2020. Unchartered waters: climate change likely to intensify infectious disease outbreaks causing mass mortality events in marine mammals. *Global Change Biology*, **26**, 4284-4301.

Semenzato, P., Cagnacci, F., Ossi, F., Eccel, E., Morellet, N., Hewison, A.M., ... & Ramanzin, M. 2021. Behavioural heatstress compensation in a cold-adapted ungulate: Forage-mediated responses to warming Alpine summers. *Ecology Letters*, **24**, 1556-1568.

Sirami, C., Seymour, C., Midgley, G., & Barnard, P. 2009. The impact of shrub encroachment on savanna bird diversity from local to regional scale. *Diversity & Distributions*, **15**, 948-957.

Stevens, N., Erasmus, B.F.N., Archibald, S., & Bond, W.J. 2016. Woody encroachment over 70 years in South African savannahs: overgrazing, global change or extinction aftershock? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society, B*, *371*, 20150437.
Tews, J. & Jeltsch, F. 2004. Modelling the impact of climate change on woody plant population dynamics in South African savanna. *BMC Ecology*, **4**, 1-12.

Titcomb, G., Mantas, J.N., Hulke, J., Rodriguez, I., Branch, D. & Young, H. 2021. Water sources aggregate parasites with increasing effects in more arid conditions. *Nature Communications*, **12**, 7066.

Wang, H., Xu, C., Liu, Y., Jeppesen, E., Svenning, J.C., Wu, J., ... & Xie, P. 2021. From unusual suspect to serial killer: cyanotoxins boosted by climate change may jeopardize megafauna. *The Innovation*, **2**, 100092.

## Polar Bear Ursus maritimus

Atwood, T.C., Marcot, B.G., Douglas, D.C., Amstrup, S.C., Rode, K.D., Durner, G.M. & Bromaghin, J.F. 2015. *Evaluating and ranking threats to the long-term persistence of polar bears*. US Geological Survey, Washington DC.

Bromaghin, J.F., Douglas, D.C., Durner, G.M., Simac, K.S. & Atwood, T.C. 2021. Survival and abundance of Polar Bears in Alaska's Beaufort Sea, 2001–2016. *Ecology & Evolution*, **11**, 14250-14267.

Castro de la Guardia, L., Derocher, A.E., Myers, P.G., Terwisscha van Scheltinga, A.D. & Lunn, N.J. 2013. Future sea ice conditions in Western Hudson Bay and consequences for Polar Bears in the 21st century. *Global Change Biology*, **19**, 2675-2687.

Cherry, S.G., Derocher, A.E., Thiemann, G.W. & Lunn, N.J. 2013. Migration phenology and seasonal fidelity of an Arctic marine predator in relation to sea ice dynamics. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **82**, 912-921.

Derocher, A.E. 2010. The prospects for Polar Bears. Nature, 468, 905-906.

Derocher, A.E., Lunn, N.J. & Stirling, I. 2004. Polar Bears in a warming climate. *Integrative & Comparative Biology*, **44** (2), 163-176.

Dyck, M.G. & Kebreab, E. 2009. Estimating the energetic contribution of Polar Bear (Ursus maritimus) summer diets to the total energy budget. *Journal of Mammalogy*, **90**, 585-593.

Hunter, C.M., Caswell, H., Runge, M.C., Regehr, E.V., Amstrup, S.C. & Stirling, I. 2010. Climate change threatens polar bear populations: a stochastic demographic analysis. *Ecology*, **91**, 2883-2897.

IPCC 2021. Climate change 2021: the physical science basis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

Jenssen, B.M., Villanger, G.D., Gabrielsen, K.M., Bytingsvik, J., Bechshoft, T., Ciesielski, T. M., ... & Dietz, R. 2015. Anthropogenic flank attack on Polar Bears: interacting consequences of climate warming and pollutant exposure. *Frontiers in Ecology & Evolution*, **3**, 16.

Miller, E.N., Lunn, N.J., McGeachy, D. & Derocher, A.E. 2022. Autumn migration phenology of polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) in Hudson Bay, Canada. *Polar Biology*, **45**, 1023-1034.

Molnár, P.K., Bitz, C.M., Holland, M.M., Kay, J.E., Penk, S.R. & Amstrup, S.C. 2020. Fasting season length sets temporal limits for global Polar Bear persistence. *Nature Climate Change*, **10**, 732-738.

Molnár, P.K., Derocher, A.E., Thiemann, G.W. & Lewis, M.A. 2010. Predicting survival, reproduction and abundance of Polar Bears under climate change. *Biological Conservation*, **143**, 1612-1622.

NOAA Fisheries 2021. *Loggerhead Turtle*. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. https://www.fisheries. noaa.gov/species/loggerhead-turtle.

Nuijten, R.J.M., Hendriks, A.J., Jenssen, B.M. & Schipper, A.M. 2016. Circumpolar contaminant concentrations in Polar Bears (*Ursus maritimus*) and potential population-level effects. *Environmental Research*, **151**, 50-57.

Peacock, E., Derocher, A.E., Thiemann, G.W. & Stirling, I. 2011. Conservation and management of Canada's Polar Bears (*Ursus maritimus*) in a changing Arctic. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, **89**, 371-385.

Petherick, A.S., Reuther, J.D., Shirar, S.J., Anderson, S.L., & DeSantis, L.R. 2021. Dietary ecology of Alaskan Polar Bears (*Ursus maritimus*) through time and in response to Arctic climate change. *Global Change Biology*, **27**, 3109-3119.

Pilfold, N.W., McCall, A., Derocher, A.E., Lunn, N.J. & Richardson, E. 2017. Migratory response of Polar Bears to sea ice loss: to swim or not to swim. *Ecography*, **40**, 189-199.

Prop, J., Aars, J., Bårdsen, B.J., Hanssen, S.A., Bech, C., Bourgeon, S., ... & Moe, B. 2015. Climate change and the increasing impact of Polar Bears on bird populations. *Frontiers in Ecology & Evolution*, **3**, 33.

Rode, K.D., Taras, B.D., Stricker, C.A., Atwood, T.C., Boucher, N.P., Durner, G.M., ... & Bromaghin, J.F. 2022. Diet energy density estimated from isotopes in predator hair associated with survival, habitat, and population dynamics. *Ecological Applications*, **33**, e2751.

Stirling, I. & Parkinson, C.L. 2006. Possible effects of climate warming on selected populations of Polar Bears (Ursus maritimus) in the Canadian Arctic. *Arctic*, **59**, 261-275.

Tynan, C.T. & DeMaster, D.P. 1997. Observations and predictions of Arctic climatic change: potential effects on marine mammals. *Arctic*, **50**, 308-322.

## Loggerhead Turtle Caretta caretta

Dimitriadis, C., Karditsa, A., Almpanidou, V., Anastasatou, M., Petrakis, S., Poulos, S., ... & Mazaris, A.D. 2022. Sea level rise threatens critical nesting sites of charismatic marine turtles in the Mediterranean. *Regional Environmental Change*, **22**, 56.

Fuentes, M.M., Pike, D.A., Dimatteo, A. & Wallace, B.P. 2013. Resilience of marine turtle regional management units to climate change. *Global Change Biology*, **19**, 1399-1406.

Fuentes, M.M., Allstadt, A.J., Ceriani, S.A., Godfrey, M.H., Gredzens, C., Helmers, D., ... & Bateman, B.L. 2020. Potential adaptability of marine turtles to climate change may be hindered by coastal development in the USA. *Regional Environmental Change*, **20**, 1-14.

Girard, F., Catteau, S., Gambaiani, D., Gérigny, O., Sénégas, J. B., Moisson, P. & Claro, F. 2021. Shift in demographic structure and increased reproductive activity of Loggerhead Turtles in the French Mediterranean Sea revealed by long-term monitoring. *Scientific Reports*, **11**, 23164.

Hays, G.C., Mazaris, A.D. & Schofield, G. 2014. Different male vs. female breeding periodicity helps mitigate offspring sex ratio skews in sea turtles. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, **1**, 43.

Katselidis, K.A., Schofield, G., Stamou, G., Dimopoulos, P. & Pantis, J. D. 2014. Employing sea-level rise scenarios to strategically select sea turtle nesting habitat important for long-term management at a temperate breeding area. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology & Ecology*, **450**, 47-54.

Mazaris, A.D., Kallimanis, A.S., Sgardelis, S.P. & Pantis, J.D. 2008. Do long-term changes in sea surface temperature at the breeding areas affect the breeding dates and reproduction performance of Mediterranean Loggerhead Turtles? Implications for climate change. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **367**, 219-226.

NOAA Fisheries. 2021. *Loggerhead Turtle*. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. https://www.fisheries. noaa.gov/species/loggerhead-turtle

Patrício, A.R., Hawkes, L.A., Monsinjon, J.R., Godley, B.J. & Fuentes, M.M. 2021. Climate change and marine turtles: Recent advances and future directions. *Endangered Species Research*, **44**, 363-395.

Perez, E.A., Marco, A., Martins, S. & Hawkes, L. A. 2016. Is this what a climate change-resilient population of marine turtles looks like? *Biological Conservation*, **193**, 124-132.

Poloczanska, E.S., Limpus, C.J. & Hays, G. C. 2009. Vulnerability of marine turtles to climate change. *Advances in Marine Biology*, **56**, 151-211.

#### Impacts of climate change on Mediterranean wetlands

Béchet, A. & Johnson, A.R. 2008. Anthropogenic and environmental determinants of Greater Flamingo *Phoenicopterus roseus* breeding numbers and productivity in the Camargue (Rhone delta, southern France). *Ibis*, **150**, 69–79.

Béchet, A., Rendón-Martos, M., Rendón, M.Á., Amat, J.A., Johnson, A.R. & Gauthier-Clerc, M. 2012. Global economy interacts with climate change to jeopardize species conservation: the case of the greater flamingo in the Mediterranean and West Africa. *Environmental Conservation*, **39**, 1–3.

Beltrame, C., Chazée, L., Galewski, T. & Perennou C. 2012. *Mediterranean Wetlands: Outlook. First Mediterranean Wetlands Observatory report.* Tour du Valat, France.

Birdlife International. 2008. International Species Action Plan for the Aquatic Warbler *Acrocephalus paludicola*. Updated version 2010.

Borges, F.O., Santos, C.P., Sampaio, E., Figueiredo, C., Paula, J.R., Antunes, C., ... & Grilo, T.F. 2019. Ocean warming and acidification may challenge the riverward migration of glass eels. *Biology Letters*, **15**, 20180627.

CMS. 2005. Action plan for the recovery of the Mediterranean Monk seal (*Monachus monachus*) in the Eastern Atlantic.

Dissanayake, A., Nichols, K.E., Kleitou, P., Johnstone, G., Kletou, D., Warr, S., .... & Fa, D.A. 2021. *Key climate change effects on the coastal and marine environment around the Mediterranean UK Overseas Territories*. MCCIP Science Review 2021.

110

Geijzendorffer, I., Chazée, L., Gaget, E., Galewski, T., Guelmami, A. & Perennou, C. 2018. *Mediterranean Wetlands Outlook 2: Solutions for sustainable Mediterranean Wetlands, 2018.* Tour du Valat, France.

IPCC. 2021. Climate change 2021: the physical science basis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

McPhaden, M.J., Santoso, A. & Cai, W. 2020. Introduction to El Niño Southern Oscillation in a changing climate. In: M.J. McPhaden, A. Santoso & W. Kai (eds). *El Niño Southern Oscillation in a changing climate*. American Geophysical Union, pp. 1-19.

Murakami, H., Delworth, T.L., Cooke, W.F., Zhao, M., Xiang, B., & Hsu, P.C. 2020. Detected climatic change in global distribution of tropical cyclones. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **117**, 10706-10714.

Pastor F., Valiente J.A. & Khodayar S. 2020. A Warming Mediterranean: 38 Years of Increasing Sea Surface Temperature. *Remote Sensing*, **12** (17), 2687. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12172687

Plan Bleu. 2008. *Climate change and energy in the Mediterranean*. Regional Activity Center, Sophia Antipolis, Valbonne.

#### The impacts of storms and cyclones on migratory species

Brame, A.B., Wiley, T.R., Carlson, J.K., Fordham, S.V., Grubbs, R.D., Osborne, J., ... & Poulakis, G. R. 2019. Biology, ecology, and status of the smalltooth sawfish *Pristis pectinata* in the USA. *Endangered Species Research*, **39**, 9-23.

Camphuysen, C.J., Wright, P.J., Leopold, M., Hüppop, O., & Reid, J.B. 1999. A review of the causes, and consequences at the population level, of mass mortalities of seabirds. *ICES Cooperative Research Report*, **232**, 51-66.

Darby, J., Clairbaux, M., Bennison, A., Quinn, J.L., & Jessopp, M.J. 2022. Underwater visibility constrains the foraging behaviour of a diving pelagic seabird. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, **289**, 20220862.

Elliott, G. & Walker, K. 2022. *Estimating the number of white-chinned petrels breeding on Antipodes Island*. Report to the New Zealand Department of Conservation.

Fukuda, Y., McDonald, P.J. & Crase, B. 2022. Lost to the Sea: Predicted Climate Change Threats to Saltwater Crocodile Nesting Habitat. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, **10**, 171.

Grose, S.O., Pendleton, L., Leathers, A., Cornish, A. & Waitai, S. 2020. Climate change will re-draw the map for marine megafauna and the people who depend on them. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, **7**, 547.

Gutowsky, L.F.G., Rider, M.J., Roemer, R.P., Gallagher, A.J., Heithaus, M.R., Cooke, S.J. & Hammerschlag, N. 2021. Large sharks exhibit varying behavioral responses to major hurricanes. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, **256**, 107373.

Higgins, K.F., & Johnson, M.A. 1978. Avian mortality caused by a September wind and hail storm. *The Prairie Naturalist* **10**, 43-48

Ilarri, M., Souza, A.T., Dias, E. & Antunes, C. 2022. Influence of climate change and extreme weather events on an estuarine fish community. *Science of The Total Environment*, **827**, 154190.

Lanyon, J.M., & Burgess, E.A. 2019. Reproductive science methods for wild, fully-marine mammals: current approaches and future applications. *Reproductive Sciences in Animal Conservation* eds P. Comizzoli, J.L. Brown & W.V. Holt pp 363-411, Springer, Berlin.

Maxwell, S.L., Butt, N., Maron, M., McAlpine, C.A., Chapman, S., Ullmann, A., ... & Watson, J.E. 2019. Conservation implications of ecological responses to extreme weather and climate events. *Diversity & Distributions*, **25**, 613-625.

Meager, J.J., & Limpus, C. 2014. Mortality of inshore marine mammals in eastern Australia is predicted by freshwater discharge and air temperature. *PLoS One*, **9**, e94849.

Milner, A.M., Robertson, A.L., McDermott, M.J., Klaar, M.J., & Brown, L.E. 2013. Major flood disturbance alters river ecosystem evolution. *Nature Climate Change*, **3**, 137.

Morash, A.J., Mackellar, S.R., Tunnah, L., Barnett, D.A., Stehfest, K.M., Semmens, J.M. & Currie, S. 2016. Pass the salt: physiological consequences of ecologically relevant hyposmotic exposure in juvenile gummy sharks (*Mustelus antarcticus*) and school sharks (*Galeorhinus galeus*). *Conservation Physiology*, **4**, 036.

Murakami, H., Delworth, T.L., Cooke, W.F., Zhao, M., Xiang, B. & Hsu, P.C. 2020. Detected climatic change in global distribution of tropical cyclones. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **117**, 10706-10714.

Narwade, S., Gaikwad, M.C., Fartade, K., Pawar, S., Sawdekar, M. & Ingale, P. 2014. Mass mortality of wildlife due to hailstorms in Maharashtra, India. *Bird Populations*, **13**, 28-35.

Newell, M., Wanless, S., Harris, M.P. & Daunt, F. 2015. Effects of an extreme weather event on seabird breeding success at a North Sea colony. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **532**, 257-268.

Patrício, A.R., Hawkes, L.A., Monsinjon, J.R., Godley, B.J. & Fuentes, M.M. 2021. Climate change and marine turtles: recent advances and future directions. *Endangered Species Research*, **44**, 363-395.

Schlaff, A.M., Heupel, M.R. & Simpfendorfer, C.A. 2014. Influence of environmental factors on shark and ray movement, behaviour and habitat use: a review. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, **24**, 1089-1103.

Weston, K.A. & Fraser, I. 2020. Large-scale hail-induced mortality in white-fronted tern (*Sterna striata*) and black-billed gull (i) breeding colonies on the Rangitata River, New Zealand. *Notornis*, **67**, 481-484.

Yannic, G., Aebischer, A., Sabard, B. & Gilg, O. 2014. Complete breeding failures in ivory gull following unusual rainy storms in North Greenland. *Polar Research*, **33**, 22749.

# 23 Supplementary material: Species list

List of species considered in articles within the literature review. Where species are included in CMS Appendix I or II (or both), the CMS instruments for conservation are also provided. Note: key to abbrevations at end of the table.

Common name	Scientific name	CMS Appendix	Conservation instruments
Aves: Seabirds			
Adélie Penguin	Pygoscelis adeliae		
African Penguin	Spheniscus demersus	II	CMS, AEWA
Atlantic Puffin	Fratercula arctica		
Balearic Shearwater	Puffinus mauretanicus	I	CMS
Black-footed Albatross	Phoebastria nigripes		CMS, ACAP
Blue-footed Booby	Sula nebouxii		
Brünnich's Guillemot	Uria lomvia		
Bulwer's Petrel	Bulweria bulwerii		
Common Tern	Sterna hirundo	II	CMS, AEWA
Cory's Shearwater	Calonectris borealis		
Crested Auklet	Aethia cristatella		
Emperor Penguin	Aptenodytes forsteri		
Galápagos Penguin	Spheniscus mendiculus		
Gentoo Penguin	Pygoscelis papua		
Glaucous Gull	Larus hyperboreus		
Great Shearwater	Puffinus gravis		
Herring Gull	Larus argentatus		
Laysan Albatross	Phoebastria immutabilis		CMS, ACAP
Light-mantled Sooty Albatross	Phoebetria palpebrata	II	CMS, ACAP
Little Auk	Alle alle		AEWA
Little Penguin	Eudyptula minor		
Magellanic Penguin	Spheniscus magellanicus		
Manx Shearwater	Puffinus puffinus		
Pacific Loon	Gavia pacifica		

<b>C</b> ommon nomo	Colontific nome	CMS	Conservation
Common name	Scientific name	Appendix	instruments
Parakeet Auklet	Aethia psittacula		
Ringed-billed Gull	Larus delawarensis		
Roseate Tern	Sterna dougallii	II	CMS, AEWA
Shag	Gulosus aristotelis		
Snow Petrel	Pagodroma nivea		
Sooty Shearwater	Puffinus griseus		
Southern Fulmar	Fulmarus glacialoides		
Southern Rockhopper Penguin	Eudyptes chrysocome		
Yellow-nosed Albatross	Thalassarche chlororhynchos	II	CMS, ACAP
Aves: Waterbirds			
American White Pelican	Pelecanus erythrorhynchos		
Barnacle Goose	Branta leucopsis	II	CMS, AEWA
Black-faced Spoonbill	Platalea minor	I	
Black-necked Crane	Grus nigricollis	I	CMS
Black-tailed Godwit	Limosa limosa	II	CMS, AEWA
Dalmatian Pelican	Pelecanus crispus	1&11	CMS, AEWA
Great Bittern	Botaurus stellaris	II	CMS, AEWA
Great White Pelican	Pelecanus onocrotalus	1&11	CMS, AEWA
Greater Flamingo	Phoenicopterus roseus		
Lesser Snow Goose	Anser caerulescens caerulescens		
Northern Lapwing	Vanellus vanellus	II	CMS, AEWA
Pink-footed Goose	Anser brachyrhynchus	II	CMS, AEWA
Purple Heron	Ardea purpurea	II	CMS, AEWA
Red-crowned Crane	Grus japonensis	I	CMS
Red Knot	Calidris canutus	II	AEWA
Redshank	Tringa totanus	II	CMS, AEWA
Semipalmated Sandpiper	Calidris pusilla	I	CMS
Slavonian Grebes	Podiceps auritus	II	CMS, AEWA
Whimbrel	Numenius phaeopus	II	CMS, AEWA
White-headed Duck	Oxyura leucocephala	I	CMS, AEWA
White Stork	Ciconia ciconia	II	CMS, AEWA
Whooping Crane	Grus americana		

Common name	Scientific name	CMS	Conservation
Common name		Appendix	instruments
Aves: Raptors			
Aplomado Falcon	Falco femoralis		
Arctic Peregrine Falcon	Falco peregrinus tundrius		
Eurasian Scops Owl	Otus scops		Raptors
Golden Eagle	Aquila chrysaetos	II	CMS, Raptors
Little Owl	Athene noctua		
Montagu's Harrier	Circus pygargus	II	CMS, Raptors
Oriental Honey Buzzard	Pernis ptilorhynchus	II	CMS, Raptors
Red Kite	Milvus milvus	II	CMS, Raptors
Snowy Owl	Bubo scandiacus		Raptors
Wedge-tailed Eagle	Aquila audax		
Aves: Afro-Palearctic	passerines		
Alpine Swift	Tachymarptis melba		
American Redstart	Setophaga ruticilla		
Barn Swallow	Hirundo rustica		
Black-throated Blue Warbler	Setophaga caerulescens		
Great Reed Warbler	Acrocephalus arundinaceus		
Great Tit	Parus major		
Pied Flycatcher	Ficedula hypoleuca	II	
Reed Warbler	Acrocephalus scirpaceus		
Sand Martin	Riparia riparia		
Sedge Warbler	Acrocephalus schoenobaenus		
Tree Swallow	Tachycineta bicolor		
Aves: Grassland pass	erines		
Budgerigar	Melopsittacus undulatus		
Carnaby's Black Cockatoo	Zanda latirostris		
Little Bustard	Tetrax tetrax	1&11	CMS
Red-billed Quelea	Quelea quelea		
Zebra Finch	Taeniopygia castanotis		
Mammalia: Terrestrial mammals			
African Elephant	Loxodonta africana	II	CMS, West African Elephants

		CMS	Conservation		
Common name	Scientific name	Appendix	instruments		
Asian Elephant	Elephas maximus	I	CMS		
Bison	Bison				
Caribou (Reindeer)	Rangifer tarandus				
Chimpanzee	Pan troglodytes	1&11	CMS		
Giraffe	Giraffa camelopardalis	II	CMS		
Gobi Bear	Ursus arctos gobiensis/ isabellinus	I	CMS		
Goitered Gazelle	Gazella subgutturosa	II	CMS, Central Asian Mammals Initiative		
Eastern Gorilla	Gorilla beringei	I	CMS, Gorilla Agreement		
Western Gorilla	Gorilla gorilla	I	CMS, Gorilla Agreement		
Elk	Cervus elaphus				
Grevy's Zebra	Equus grevyi	I	CMS		
Jaguar	Panthera onca	1&11			
Leopard	Panthera pardus	II	CMS, African Carnivores Initiative, Central Asian Mammals Initiative		
Lion	Panthera leo	II	CMS, African Carnivores Initiative		
Przewalski's Horse	Equus ferus przewalskii	I	CMS, Central Asian Mammals Initiative		
Saiga Antelope	Saiga tatarica	II	Central Asian Mammals Initiative, Saiga Antelope		
South Andean Huemul	Hippocamelus bisulcus	I	CMS		
Wild Dog	Lycaon pictus	II	CMS, African Carnivores Initiative		
Mammalia: Marine mammals					
Antarctic Fur Seals	Arctocephalus gazella				
Atlantic White-sided Dolphin	Lagenorhynchus acutus	II	CMS, ASCOBANS		
Beluga	Delphinapterus leucas	II	CMS		
Blue Whale	Balaenoptera musculus	I	CMS, ACCOBAMS, Pacific Islands Cetaceans		
Bottlenose Dolphin	Tursiops truncatus	1&11	ASCOBANS, Western African Aquatic Mammals, CMS, ACCOBAMS		
Bowhead Whale	Balaena mysticetus	I	CMS		
Caspian Seal	Pusa caspica	1&11	CMS		

		CMS	Conservation
Common name	Scientific name	Appendix	instruments
Common Dolphin	Delphinus delphis	1811	CMS, ASCOBANS, ACCOBAMS, Western African Aquatic Mammals, Pacific Islands Cetaceans
Dall's Porpoise	Phocoenoides dalli	П	CMS
Dugong	Dugong dugon	II	CMS, Dugongs
Fin Whale	Balaenoptera physalus	1&11	CMS, ACCOBAMS, Pacific Islands Cetaceans
Ganges River Dolphin	Platanista gangetica	1&11	CMS
Grey Seal	Halichoerus grypus	II	CMS, Wadden Sea Seals
Grey Whale	Eschrichtius robustus		ACCOBAMS
Harbour Porpoise	Phocoena phocoena	II	CMS, ASCOBANS, ACCOBAMS, Western African Aquatic Mammals
Humpback Whale	Megaptera novaeangliae	I	CMS, ACCOBAMS, Pacific Islands Cetaceans
Killer Whale	Orcinus orca	II	CMS, ACCOBAMS, ASCOBANS, Western African Aquatic Mammals, Pacific Islands Cetaceans
Minke Whale	Balaenoptera acutorostrata		
Narwhal	Monodon monoceros	II	ASCOBANS
North Atlantic Right Whale	Eubalaena glacialis	I	CMS, ACCOBAMS
Northern Fur Seal	Callorhinus ursinus		
Polar Bear	Ursus maritimus	II	
Rorqual Whale	Balaenoptera		
South American Sea Lion	Otaria flavescens	II	CMS
Southern Right Whale	Eubalaena australis	I	CMS, Pacific Islands Cetaceans
Sperm Whale	Physeter macrocephalus	1&11	CMS, ACCOBAMS, Pacific Islands Cetaceans
Striped Dolphin	Stenella coeruleoalba	11	ACCOBAMS, ASCOBANS, Western African Aquatic Mammals, Pacific Islands Cetaceans
Subantarctic Fur Seal	Arctocephalus tropicalis		
White-beaked Dolphin	Lagenorhynchus albirostris	II	CMS, ASCOBANS

Common name	Scientific name	CMS	Conservation		
Mammalia, Data		Appendix	instruments		
Mammalia: Bats	Mustis hashatsisii	п			
Bechstein's Bat	Myotis bechsteinii	II	CMS, EUROBATS		
Brazilian Free-tailed Bat	Tadarida brasiliensis	I			
Daubenton's Bat	Myotis daubentonii	II	CMS, EUROBATS		
Greater Horseshoe Bat	Rhinolophus ferrumequinum	II	CMS, EUROBATS		
Greater Long-nosed Bat	Leptonycteris nivalis				
Fringed Myotis	Myotis thysanodes				
Indian Flying Fox	Pteropus giganteus				
Kuhl's Pipistrelle Bat	Pipistrellus kuhlii	П	CMS, EUROBATS		
Lesser Horseshoe Bat	Rhinolophus hipposideros	II	CMS, EUROBATS		
Natal Long-fingered Bat	Miniopterus natalensis	II	CMS		
Nathusius's Pipistrelle Bat	Pipistrellus nathusii	II	CMS, EUROBATS		
Natterer's Bat	Myotis nattereri	П	CMS, EUROBATS		
Soprano Pipistrelle	Pipistrellus pygmaeus	II	CMS, EUROBATS		
Savi's Pipistrelle Bat	Hypsugo savii	II	CMS, EUROBATS		
Mexican Free-Tailed Bat	Tadarida brasiliensis	I	CMS		
Noctule Bat	Nyctalus noctule	II	CMS, EUROBATS		
Reptiles					
Arrau Turtle	Podocnemis expansa	1&11	CMS		
Flatback Turtle	Natator depressus				
Green Turtle	Chelonia mydas	I	CMS, IOSEA Marine Turtles, Atlantic Turtles		
Loggerhead Turtle	Caretta caretta	I	CMS, IOSEA Marine Turtles, Atlantic Turtles		
Saltwater Crocodile	Crocodylus porosus	П	CMS		
Actinopterygii (Bony fish)					
Adriatic Sturgeon	Acipenser naccarii	II	CMS		
American Eel	Anguilla rostrata				
Beluga Sturgeon	Huso huso	II	CMS		
Chinese Paddlefish	Psephurus gladius	II			
Chinese Sturgeon	Acipenser sinensis	II	CMS		

Common name		CMS Conservation	Conservation
	Scientific name	Appendix	instruments
European Eel	Anguilla anguilla	II	
European Sturgeon	Acipenser sturio	1&11	CMS
Giant Catfish	Pangasianodon gigas	I	
Green Sturgeon	Acipenser medirostris	II	CMS
Lake Sturgeon	Acipenser fulvescens	II	CMS
Russian Sturgeon	Acipenser gueldenstaedtii	II	CMS
Siberian Sturgeon	Acipenser baerii	II	CMS
Chondrichthyes (Shar	ks and rays)		
Basking Shark	Cetorhinus maximus	1&11	CMS, Sharks
Blue Shark	Prionace glauca	II	CMS
Dusky Shark	Carcharhinus obscurus	II	CMS, Sharks
Manta Ray	Mobula/Manta birostris	1&11	CMS, Sharks
Mobula Ray	Mobula		
Scalloped Hammerhead Shark	Sphyrna lewini	II	CMS, Sharks
Silky Shark	Carcharhinus falciformis	II	CMS, Sharks
Smalltooth Sawfish	Pristis pectinata	1&11	CMS, Sharks
Tope Shark	Galeorhinus galeus	II	CMS
Undulate Ray	Raja undulata		
Whale Shark	Rhincodon typus	1&11	CMS, Sharks
White Shark	Carcharodon carcharias	1&11	CMS, Sharks
Insects			
Monarch Butterfly	Danaus plexippus	II	

Key to abbreviations: AEWA = Agreement on the Conservation of African-Eurasian Migratory Waterbirds; ACAP = Agreement on the Conservation of Albatrosses and Petrels; Raptors = Memorandum of Understanding on the Conservation of Migratory Birds of Prey in Africa and Eurasia; West African Elephants = Memorandum of Understanding concerning Conservation Measures for the West African Populations of the African Elephant (Loxodonta africana); Gorilla Agreement = Agreement on the Conservation of Gorillas and their Habitats; Saiga Antelopes = Memorandum of Understanding concerning Conservation, Restoration and Sustainable Use of the Saiga Antelope; ASCOBANS = Agreement on the Conservation of Small Cetaceans of the Baltic, North East Atlantic, Irish and North Seas; ACCOBAMS = Agreement on the Conservation of Cetaceans of the Black Sea, Mediterranean Sea and Contiguous Atlantic Area; Pacific Islands Cetaceans = Memorandum of Understanding for the Conservation of Cetaceans and their Habitats in the Pacific Islands Region; Western African Aquatic Mammals = Memorandum of Understanding concerning the Conservation of the Manatee and Small Cetaceans of Western Africa and Macaronesia; **Dugongs** = Memorandum of Understanding on the Conservation and Management of Dugongs (Dugong dugon) and their Habitats throughout their Range; Wadden Sea Seals = Agreement on the Conservation of Seals in the Wadden Sea; EUROBATS = Agreement on the Conservation of Populations of European Bats; IOSEA Marine Turtles = Memorandum of Understanding on the Conservation and Management of Marine Turtles and their Habitats of the Indian Ocean and South-East Asia; Atlantic Turtles = Memorandum of Understanding concerning Conservation Measures for Marine Turtles of the Atlantic Coast of Africa; Sharks = Memorandum of Understanding on the Conservation of Migratory Sharks.

# Photo credits

- Front and back covers. Polar Bears by Silvain Cordier
- Page 4. Delta habitat from Unsplash.com
- Page 14. African elephants in the savanna from Canva.com
- Page 17. Marine habitat from Canva.com
- Page 19. Black-browed albatross from Canva.com
- Page 24. Purple Heron from Canva.com
- Page 29. Red Kite by Andras Kovacs
- Page 32. Pied Bushchat from Canva.com
- Page 35. Dickcissel by BirdImages
- Page 37. Saiga Antelope by Rostilav Mashin
- Page 41. Grey-headed Flying Fox by Andrew Haysom
- Page 45. Humpback Whales by Vanessa Mignon
- Page 51. Green Turtle by Alessandro Cere
- Page 53. Beluga Sturgeon by Kocha\_K
- Page 58. Tiger Shark from Canva.com
- Page 62. Monarch Butterfly from Canva.com
- Page 64. Migratory birds over wetland habitat from Canva.com
- Page 73. Red Knots by Grid Arendal
- Page 74. African savanna from Canva.com
- Page 76. Polar Bears by Silvain Cordier
- Page 77. Loggerhead Turtle from Pixabay.com
- Page 78. Wetland habitat from Canva.com
- Page 79. Greater Flamingo by Adrian Lazare
- Page 80. Tropical storm from Canva.com
- Page 81. Hammerhead Shark by JFibu

- jncc.gov.uk
- twitter.com/JNCC\_UK
- in linkedin.com/company/jncc
- facebook.com/JNCCUK
- youtube.com/JNCC\_UKvideo

ISBN 978-0-86139-001-4





**INCC** 

Birds Science People

